Pertanika Journal of TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE

VOLUME 30 NO. 1 • FEBRUARY 2007

A scientific journal published by Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

About the Journal

Pertanika is an international peer-reviewed journal devoted to the publication of original papers, and it serves as a forum for practical approaches to improving quality in issues pertaining to tropical agriculture and its related fields. Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science which began publication in 1978 is a leading agricultural journal in Malaysia. After 29 years as a multidisciplinary journal, the revamped Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS) is now focusing on tropical agricultural research. Other Pertanika series include Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology (JST) and Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities (JSSH).

JTAS is published in English and it is open to authors around the world regardless of the nationality. It is currently published two times a year, i.e. in February and August.

Goal of Pertanika

Our goal is to bring the highest quality research to the widest possible audience.

Quality

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing.

Future vision

We are continuously improving access to our journal archives, content, and research services. We have the drive to realise exciting new horizons that will benefit not only the academic community, but society itself.

We also have views on the future of our journals. The emergence of the online medium as the predominant vehicle for the 'consumption' and distribution of much academic research will be the ultimate instrument in the dissemination of research news to our scientists and readers.

Aims and scope

Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science aims to provide a forum for high quality research related to tropical agricultural research. Areas relevant to the scope of the journal include: agricultural biotechnology, biochemistry, biology, ecology, fisheries, forestry, food sciences, genetics, microbiology, pathology and management, physiology, plant and animal sciences, production of plants and animals of economic importance, and veterinary medicine.

JTAS accepts submission of mainly four types: original articles, short communications, reviews, and proposals for special issues.

Editorial Statement

Pertanika is the official journal of Universiti Putra Malaysia. The abbreviation for Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science is Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci.

Editor-in-Chief

Tan Soon Guan (Professor Dr.) Molecular population genetics

Editorial Board

Abd Razak Alimon (Professor Dr.) Animal nutrition Dzolkhili Omar (Professor Dr.) Insect toxicology Ghizan Saleh (Professor Dr.) Plant breeding and genetics Yusof Ibrahim (Professor Dr.) Agricultural entomology Anuar Abd Rahim (AProfessor Dr.) Soil fertility and management Tan Wen Siang (AProfessor Dr.) Molecular biology, Virology, Protein chemistry Mohd Zamri Saad (Professor Dr.) Veterinary pathology Jamilah Bakar (Professor Dr.) Food Science, Preservation & post harvest Yaakob Che Man (Professor Dr.) Fats and Oils, Halal Food Nor Aini Ab, Shukor (Professor Dr.) Genetics and tree breeding Che Teh Fatimah Nachiar Iskandar (A/Professor Dr.) Ruminant medicine Jasni Sabri (A/Professor Dr.) = Veterinary pathology Mohd Hair Bejo (A/Professor Dr.) Veterinary pathology, Avian pathology

Executive Editor

Nayan Deep S. Kanwal (Dr.) Environmental issues- landscape plant modelling applications Research Management Centre (RMC)

International Advisory Board

Graham Matthews (Professor Erneritus Dr.) Imperial College London, U.K. Jane M. Hughes (Professor Dr.) Griffith University, Australia Pieter Baas (Professor Dr.) National Herbarium of The Netherlands, Leiden University Branch, The Netherlands Denis J. Wright (Professor Dr.) Imperial College London, U.K. Winai Dahlan (Associate Professor Dr.) Chulalongkom University, Thailand Tanweer N. Khan (Dr.) Denartment of Aericulture and Food.

Department of Agriculture and Food, South Perth, Western Australia David Woodruff (Professor Dr.) University of California, San Diego, USA Banpot Napompeth (Professor Dr.) Kasetsart University, Thailand Syed M. Ilyas (Professor Dr.) Indian Council of Agricultural Research, Hyderahad, India. Malcolm Walkinshaw (Professor) University of Edinburgh, Scotland Peter B. Mather (A/Professor Dr.) Queensland University of Technology, Australia Anis Rahman (Dr.) AgResearch, Raukara Research Centre, Hamilton, New Zealand

Editorial Office

Pertanika, Research Management Centre (RMC), 4th Floor, Administration Building Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia Tel: +603 8946 6185, 8946 6192 • Fax: +603 8947 2075 E-mail: ndeeps@admin.upm.edu.my www.rmc.upm.edu.my/pertanika

Publisher

The UPM Press Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia Tel: +603 8946 8855, 8946 8854 • Fax: +603 8941 6172 penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my URL: http://penerbit.upm.edu.my (Please Do Not Remove)

ARCHIVE COPY

PERTANIKA EDITORIAL OFFICE Research Management Centre (RMC) 1st Floor, IDEA Tower II UPM-MTDC, Technology Centre Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia Tel: +603 8947 1622, 8947 1619, 8947 1616

Pertanika Journal of TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE VOLUME 30 NO. 1 • FEBRUARY 2007

Contents

The Distribution of the Heavy Metals (Cu, Pb and Zn) in the Soft and Hard Tissues of the Green-Lipped Mussel <i>Perna viridis</i> (Linnaeus) Collected from Pasir Panjang, Peninsular Malaysia - Yap, C.K., Ismail, A., Tan, S.G. and Rahim Ismail, A.	1
Ectoparasites of Rattus sp from Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia - Hafidzi M.N., Zakry F.A.Z. and Saadiah A.	11
Multiple Satellite Detection of Hotspots in Peninsular Malaysia during February and March of 2002 - Mastura Mahmud	17
Preliminary Analysis of Quantitative Trait Loci Associated with Oil Quality in an Interspecific Cross of Oil Palm - Rajinder Singh, Tan Soon Guan, Jothi Panandam, Mukesh Sharma and Cheah Suan Choo	31
Influence of Wet and Dry Seasons on the Breeding of Barn Owl and Its Relation to Rat Damage - Hafidzi M.N., M. Na'im and Akbar, Z.	45
Leaf Area Index Model for Oil Palm FFB Yield Prediction - W.I. Wan Ishak and M.A. Awal	51
Trichoderma-induced Suppressive Soil for the Control of Fusarium Wilt of Tomato - Rozlianah, F.S., Sariah, M. and Sijam, K.	57
Flexural Properties of Laminated Veneer Lumber Manufactured from Oil Palm Veneers - H'ng Paik San, Paridah Md. Tahir and Gan Cheng Wen	65
A Population Genetics Study on the Malaysian Wild Stocks, M. rosenbergii Using Cross Amplified Microsatellite Primers - L.M. See, S. Bhassu, R. Hassan, S.S. Siraj, S.Y. Tan and S.G. Tan	71

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 1 - 10 (2007)

The Distribution of the Heavy Metals (Cu, Pb and Zn) in the Soft and Hard Tissues of the Green-Lipped Mussel Perna viridis (Linnaeus) Collected from Pasir Panjang, Peninsular Malaysia

YAP, C. K.*, ISMAIL, A., TAN, S. G. AND RAHIM ISMAIL, A. Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Perna viridis, heavy metal distributions, soft tissues, shell, Malaysia

ABSTRACT

The distributions of Cu, Pb, and Zn in the different soft Pasir Panjang, Peninsular tissues, shell sections and layers of the green-lipped mussel Perna viridis from an area with unpolluted water in Malaysia, were studied. The soft tissues analysed were the byssus, mantle and gills, posterior adductor muscle, retractor byssal muscle, foot, crystalline style, gonad and the remaining visceral mass. The level of Cu in the crystalline style was significantly (P< 0.05) elevated when compared to the other soft tissues while elevated levels of Cu. Pb and Zn were found in the byssus. The byssus is therefore a more sensitive material for Cu, Pb and Zn. The heavy metal concentrations in the different sections of the mussel's shell layers were also differed. The level of Pb was significantly (P< 0.05) higher in the inner shell layer than in the periostracum layer while Cu and Zn concentrations were significantly (P< 0.05) higher in the periostracum layer than in the inner shell layer. Copper, Pb and Zn were evenly distributed within the different sections of the inner shell layer with no significant (P> 0.05) difference in the concentrations of these metals in the different sections. The periostracum shell layer was found to be a more sensitive biomonitoring material for Cu and Zn than the inner shell layer.

INTRODUCTION

In a 'Mussel Watch' approach, the determination of accumulated concentrations of heavy metals by using the total soft tissues in the mussels as integrated measures of ambient metal bioavailabilities had been a common practice (Goldberg, 1975, 1980; Goldberg et al., 1978; Phillips, 1980, 1985, 1991; Phillips and Segar, 1986; Phillips and Rainbow, 1993; Rainbow and Phillips, 1993). However, the metal concentrations in the total soft tissues of the organism may not be accurately reflective for certain contaminant concentrations in individual target tissues of the organism. This argument was based on the fact that different tissues accumulate metals at different rates and that the biological half-lives of metals at each type of soft tissue also differ from one another (Lakshmanan and Nambisan, 1989). This is due to the different capacities of the cells in each type of tissue to eliminate the metals bound to the binding sites of the

* Corresponding Author E-mail: yapckong@hotmail.com metallothioneins (Viarengo et al., 1980, 1985). This useful detoxification mechanism is why certain bivalves could survive with elevated levels of heavy metals accumulated in their soft tissues. The metallothioneins and granules could prevent interference by heavy metals of the basal metabolic roles and damage to the cellular structures (Viarengo et al., 1985). This is because metals bound to metallothioneins represent a non-toxic form of the metal itself as shown by several researchers (Roesijadi and Robinson, 1994; Rainbow, 1997). Since each soft organ may play a different role either in its metabolic or physiological function, this may influence the distribution of metals in the different soft tissues of mussels. As a result, the metal regulation and detoxification processes could also be different. Knowledge on metal distributions in the soft tissues may help us to understand the processes involved in the uptake and excretion of metals in the different soft tissues of P. viridis.

The distribution of metals in the hard tissues (periostracum and inner shell layers) of P. viridis was also studied. The whole shell of P. viridis consists mainly of the inner shell layers (prismatic and nacreous) with very superficial layer of organic periostracum layer that covers the inner shell layers (Kennedy et al., 1969; Bubel. 1976). According to Phillips (1980), the adsorption of metals onto the shell surface caused difficulty in using mussel shell as a biomonitoring material for heavy metals. Several authors had investigated the suitability of mussel shell as a biomonitoring material for heavy metals (Pilkey and Goodel, 1963; Bertine and Goldberg, 1972; Goldberg, 1975, 1980; Imlay, 1982; Koide et al., 1982; Szefer and Szefer, 1985; Dermott and Lum, 1986; Bourgoin, 1987). Foster and Chacko (1995) suggested that shells could accumulate a wide range of metals to varying extents. The accumulation of heavy metals in the shells had prompted some investigators (Carriker et al., 1980, 1982; Koide et al., 1982; Al-Dabbas et al., 1984) to develop mollusks shells as a biomonitoring material for heavy metals. They believed that the chemical composition of the shells might be a good reflection of the environmental levels of heavy metals. Several researchers (Sturesson, 1976, 1978; Carell et al., 1987) also suggested the possible use of shell material as a permanent record of environmental changes in heavy metal contamination.

This study aimed to determine the distribution of Cu, Zn and Pb in the different soft tissues of the green-lipped mussel *P. vinidis* from an unpolluted area of Malaysian coastal waters and to identify the potential biomonitoring organ for further studies. Besides that, the levels of heavy metals in the different layers and sections of the hard tissues (shell) of the mussel *P. viridis* were also studied.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Samples of *P. viridis* were collected from an area of unpolluted water off the west coast of Peninsular Malaysia (Pasir Panjang). All samples were stored in polyethylene bags at -10°C until analysis. Before dissection, the samples were thawed at room temperature on a clean tissue paper with the posterior margins downward to drain away excess water. About 30 individuals of a similar size group (shell length 7-8 cm) were selected for metal analysis. The total soft tissues of *P. viridis* were carefully removed by deshelling the mussels with a stainless steel knife. The soft tissues were then dissected into 8 parts namely byssal threads, mantle and gills, posterior adductor muscle, retractor byssal muscle, foot, crystalline style, gonad and remaining visceral mass. The latter fraction contained about half of the total weight of the mussel. Three parts (mantle and gills, gonad and remaining visceral mass) were analysed by sex. The sex of *P. viridis* was distinguished based on the colour of the gonads (Yap *et al.*, 1979). The different soft tissues were pooled in order to get enough samples for metal analysis. Excess water was pressed on a filter paper. The fresh tissue was then ready for further analysis.

The shells were cleaned under a jet of tap water to remove the algae, barnacles, mud and bryozoa encrusted on them. All samples were rinsed with double distilled water (ddw) and 0.5% HNO,, and dried for 72 hours at 105°C to a constant weight (Mo and Neilson, 1994). In order to separate the outermost layers (periostracum layers) of the shells, the shells were cooled at room temperature after heating at 105°C. While the shells were cooling, most of the periostracum on the lip part of the shell cracked and fell off (Puente et al., 1996). The different sections of the inner nacreous layer, as shown in Fig. 1, were analysed. These shell sections included the umbo, green-lipped part, ligament, ventral and dorsal shell parts. Pestle and agate were used to crush the hard inner nacreous shell layers into smaller pieces. All samples were weighed with an accuracy of 0.1 mg before acid digestion.

All samples were digested in concentrated HNO, (AnalaR grade, BDH 69%). They were placed in a hot-block digester first at low temperature for one hour and then they were fully digested at high temperature (140°C) for at least 3 hours. The digested samples were then diluted to a certain volume with ddw. After filtration, the prepared samples were determined for heavy metals by using an air-acetylene flame atomic absorption spectrophotometer (AAS) Perkin-Elmer Model 4100. The data are presented in either mg/g wet or dry weight basis. To avoid possible contamination, all glassware and equipment used were acid-washed and the accuracy of the analysis was checked against the procedural blanks and standard addition testing procedure. The percentages of recoveries for the heavy metal analyses were

THE DISTRIBUTION OF CU, PB AND ZN IN THE SOFT AND HARD TISSUES OF P. VIRIDIS



Fig. 1: Different sections of the shell of the mussel P. viridis used in analysis (A: the tip and the anterior shell or umbo; B: near dorsal shell part; C: green-lipped part posterior of the shell; D: near ventral shell part; E:ligament). Note: Periostracum is not shown in this drawing because this outer shell layer can only be shown in green color on the outer layer of the shell

96% for Cu, 92.5% for Pb and 92% for Zn. Oneway ANOVA Student-Newman-Keuls test (Day and Quinn, 1989) was used to elucidate where differences occurred. All the comparisons were made at the 95% (P < 0.05) level of significance.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Different Soft Tissues

The heavy metal concentrations in each soft tissue analysed were shown in Table 1. The distributions of Cu, Pb and Zn were determined from mussel samples collected from the field. 'Why did the metals distribute unevenly in the different soft tissues?' is an interesting question. Some tissues accumulated significantly higher (p< 0.05) levels of Cu, Pb and Zn than the other soft tissues. This could be due to each organ playing a different role in metabolism and physiological functions. The results indicated that the regulation and detoxification of metals were also different in each soft tissue.

The crystalline style accumulated significantly (p< 0.05) higher levels of Cu when compared to the other soft tissues (Table 1). High levels of Cu in the crystalline style may be due to a metabolic function in the digestive system of P. viridis. The crystalline style is the main organ of the digestive alimentary canals (Morton, 1992). It functions in the detoxification of metals and has other enzymatic activities (Phillips and Rainbow, 1993). Selvarani et al. (1989) revealed that the crystalline style in P. viridis exhibited strong amylase activity which was double that of the digestive diverticula. Since Cu is an essential element, most of the Cu was bound to metallothionein and therefore the Cu level in the crystalline style was high.

Generally, the byssus of P. viridis accumulated high levels of Cu, Pb and Zn when compared to the other soft tissues. This indicated that the materials available for the production of the byssal threads contained a lot of metal wastes. Cheung and Wong (1992) also recorded high metal concentrations in the byssus, particularly for Cu and Cd. This result indicated that the byssus could have been used for metal excretion (Pentreath, 1973; Goldberg et al., 1978). The formation of the byssal threads requires the expenditure of a substantial amount of energy and material (Coomb and Keller, 1982). The byssus is excreted from the byssal glands at the foot and is composed of hard tanned protein (Ikuta, 1986). The byssus of Mytilus spp. was found to be a good biomonitoring material for Cu (Szefer et al., 1997) and Hg (Szefer et al., 1999).

The metal levels in the foot were lower than in the byssus and other soft tissues (Table 1). The low levels of metals in the foot are expected since this material is probably acting as a channel to transport all the waste materials to the byssal threads (Morton, 1992). Thus, the foot would hardly accumulate any metal. In addition, the foot has a lower volume of surface contact when compared to the gills.

The gonad accumulated considerable metal levels when compared to the other tissues (Table 1). The gonadal tissue is usually related to the condition of the mussel in that the physiological condition of the mussel is reflected through the amount of gonads merged with the mantle (Peddicord, 1977). In this study, the female gonad accumulated higher Pb and Zn concentrations than the other soft tissues.

Organs	Crystalline Style	Byssus	Gonad (Male)	Gonad (Female)	Remaining Visceral Mass (Female)	Remaining Visceral Mass (Male)	Mantle + Gill (Male)	Foot	Mantle + Gill (Female)	Byssal Retractor Muscle	Posterior Adductor Muscle
Means ± SE Cu	6.36 ± 1.13	4.57 ± 0.54	2.64 ± 0.08	2.63 ± 0.19	2.46 ± 0.07	2.36 ± 0.14	2.13 ± 0.34	1.76 ± 0.05	1.50 ± 0.07	1.13 ± 0.06	1.01 ± 0.05
Organs	Byssus	Remaining Visceral Mass	Gonad (Female) (Female)	Remaining Visceral Mass	Foot (Male)	Posterior Adductor	Crystalline Style Muscle	Mantle + Gill(Male)	Mantle + Gill (Female)	Byssal Retractor	Gonad (Male) Muscle
Means ± SE Pb	2.70 ± 0.13	1.38 ± 0.10	1.10 ± 0.07	1.07 ± 0.10	0.93 ± 0.13	0.85 ± 0.24	0.79 ± 0.09	0.71 ± 0.04	0.69 ± 0.11	0.67 ± 0.09	0.59 ± 0.14
Organs	Remaining Visceral mass (Female)	Gonad (Female)	Byssus	Remaining Visceral Mass (Male)	Posterior Adductor Muscle	Gonad (Male)	Byssal Retractor Muscle	Foot	Mantle + Gill (Female)	Mantle + Gill (Male)	Crystalline Style
Means ± SE Zn	23.98 ± 1.17	21.79 ± 0.83	19.56 ± 2.11	17.25 ± 0.75	16.59 ± 0.60	16.01 ± 1.28	15.87 ± 0.32	14.39 ± 0.76	14.19 ± 0.46	12.87 ± 1.01	3.92 ± 0.32

 TABLE 1

 Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) comparisons of Cu, Pb and Zn concentrations (means mg/g wet weight ± standard error) in different tissues of the mussel P. viridis

Note: Means not differing significantly at P < 0.05 are indicated by a line under the corresponding values.

YAP, C. K., ISMAIL, A., TAN, S. G. AND RAHIM ISMAIL, A.

THE DISTRIBUTION OF CU, PB AND ZN IN THE SOFT AND HARD TISSUES OF P. VIRIDIS

According to Wright et al. (1985), high levels of heavy metals in bivalves' gonads could cause the variability of metal concentrations in the total soft tissues of the bivalves. The variability in the metal accumulation could be due to the development of gonads in terms of storage or depletion of energy reserves which varied from time to time (Wright et al., 1985). Such variability in levels of metal could cause inaccuracy in ecotoxicological results. The metal levels in the gonad of P. viridis appeared to be relatively higher than in the rest of the soft tissues analysed which corroborates the findings of Yang and Thompson's (1996). Yang and Thompson (1996) demonstrated that the distribution of Cu in the different organs of the mussel P. viridis was in the order gill > gonad > visceral mass > mantle > muscle whereas for Zn it was visceral mass > gonad > gill > muscle > mantle. The higher metal levels in the female's gonads compared to the male's gonads especially for Zn was perhaps due to gamete production in the female gonads that contained stored reserves with more metals (Bavne et al., 1982). The metal levels in the other soft tissues were relatively similar and were not significantly (P> 0.05) different from one another.

Table 1 also shows that the metal concentrations in the remaining visceral mass were relatively higher than those in the other soft tissues. The relatively higher concentrations of Zn and Pb found in the remaining visceral mass may be due to the high rate of uptake and the subsequent loss of these metals in the fecal materials. This remaining visceral tissue also included the hepatopancreas and the kidneys which could contribute to the high metal concentrations. This part also contained a lot of plankton and algae which were kept in this part before further digestion. Therefore, it reflected the main food of mussels obtained through feeder-filtering activities which directly contributed to the metal uptake of the mussels.

Mantle and gills showed relatively low levels of metal concentrations when compared to other soft tissues (Table 1). This may indicate that the mussels from this population had relatively little gonads that merged with the mantle since the gonads accumulated considerable amount of metals. Since mantle and gill are in contact with large volumes of water necessary for feeding and respiration, the metals detected in these organs probably resulted from the interaction of dissolved metals with both sediment and mussel (Tessier and Campell, 1987). Some studies (Yang and Thompson, 1996; Lares and Orians, 1997) revealed high metal levels in the gills which were attributed to the biology and metabolism of metals. Since gills were analysed together with the mantle (which made up most of the soft body weight), the gills therefore were less reflective of the direct biological uptake of metals from the environmental seawater. As a result, metals found in the combination of mantle and gills were mainly due to the mantle since it made up the bulk the weight.

The distribution of metals in different soft tissues of P. viridis could also be due to the different biological half-lives of Cu, Pb and Zn. These were related to the differing capacities of the cells to eliminate the metals bound to metallothioneins (Viarengo et al., 1980, 1985). The fact that the three metals, had been sequestered in different concentrations in different soft tissues, was probably due to the fact that these metals and the metallothioneins associated with them followed different biochemical pathways. Therefore, the determination of metals in the different soft tissues can be used as a method to monitor the detoxified forms of metals which had previously been accumulated in these tissues under field conditions.

Shell

For the shell of P. viridis, varying distributions of Cu, Pb and Zn were also found in different sections of the inner shell layer but the differences were not significant (P> 0.05) (Table 2). The SNK tests for the comparisons are shown in Table 2. Concentrations of Cd, Pb and Zn in the periostracum layer were significantly different (P < 0.05) from the concentrations in the other sections of the inner layer. Cu and Zn concentrations in the periostracum layer were significantly higher (P< 0.05) than in the other inner sections while Pb was the least accumulated metal in the periostracum layer being present there in a significantly lower concentration than in the inner shell layer. It is believed that there was incorporation of Cu and Zn through the surface of the periostracum. Moreover, the periostracum layer is more vulnerable and susceptible to the metal levels in the surrounding waters since it is the outermost laver of the shell. Apart from the direct adsorption pathway, the

and and the second seco

and or and a suband or and a subchild or and a subchild or an and a child or an and a child or an and a sub-child or a subchild or an a subchild or a sub

YAP, C. K., ISMAIL, A., TAN, S. G. AND RAHIM ISMAIL, A

 TABLE 2

 Student-Newman-Keuls (SNK) comparisons of Cu, Pb and Zn concentrations (means mg/g dry weight ± standard error) in different sections in the shell of mussel P. viridis

Different sections Mean ± SE Cu	Periostracum 12.02 ± 0.31	Green-lipped 6.36 ± 0.18	Ligament 6.20 ± 0.20	Umbo 5.73 ± 0.23	Ventral part 5.57 ± 0.11	Dorsal part 5.55 ± 0.19
Different sections Mean ± SE Pb	Ligament 29.49 ± 0.87	Green-lipped 28.65 ± 1.44	Umbo 27.43 ± 1.01	Ventral part 26.04 ± 0.62	Dorsal part 25.96 ± 0.83	Periostracum 10.87 ± 0.75
Different sections Mean ± SE Zn	Periostracum 13.78 ± 1.80	Ligament 4.94 ± 0.51	Green-lipped 3.76 ± 0.30	Umbo 3.69 ± 0.24	Dorsal part 2.90 ± 0.44	Ventral part 2.68 ± 0.10

Note: Means not differing significantly at P< 0.05 are indicated by a line under the corresponding values.

FANILY 1 7

high concentrations of Cu and Zn in the periostracum layer could also be attributed to the biomineralization mechanism from the mantle of *P. viridis.* The periostracum layer's higher Cu and Zn levels might be due to the newly secreted extrapallial fluid which contained the components for biomineralization (Puente *et al.*, 1996). This biomineralization composition might also contain heavy metals since the concentrations of Cu and Zn were higher in the soft tissue of *P. viridis.*

The inner shell layer exhibited insignificant differences (p> 0.05) in Cu, Pb and Zn concentrations amongst all sections in this shell layer although the metal distributions were not similar. The different distributions of chemical elements within the microstructure groups and mineralogical layers of the shell could be understood by looking at the chemical properties of trace elements in the shells (Carriker et al., 1991). These chemical properties can provide a series of natural probes for the calcification system as well as fundamental information on the processes involved (Simkiss, 1983). Earlier, many researchers (Phillips, 1980; Wilbur and Saleuddin, 1983; Carriker et al., 1991) had indicated that the heterogeneous distribution of metals in bivalve shell is a normal phenomenon. The complex polylayer of the shell structure in mussels further increased the potential for mineralogical and chemical variations.

Several authors (Wilbur and Saleuddin, 1983; Puente et al., 1996) had suggested the use of molluscs shells as biomonitoring materials. This is due to the fact that any trace metal which is actively incorporated into the shell matrix during shell growth must have been assimilated by the mussels (Wilbur and Saleuddin, 1983). According to Watson et al. (1995), some trace metals are incorporated into the shells of molluscs and barnacles through substitution of the calcium ion in the crystalline phase of the shell or they are associated with the organic matrix. The mineralogy and chemistry of the shell material secreted by organisms can vary with the environment of growth (Dodd, 1963). Al-Dabbas et al. (1984) suggested that shell composition is sufficiently sensitive to environmental variation that the environments can be distinguished within a limited water system.

CONCLUSION

The results showed tissue distribution of Cu, Pb and Zn in both the soft and hard (shell) tissues of P. viridis. The metal distribution in the different soft tissues could be due to different mechanisms of regulation, detoxification and physiological functions in each soft tissue. For example, specific organs such as the crystalline style, gill and byssus were identified to be potential biomonitoring organs for Cu, Pb and Zn. More ecotoxicological studies for the crystalline style, gill and byssus of P. viridis should be done. For the shell of P. viridis, the differential metal distributions found in the periostracum and in the inner layers (prismatic and nacreous) were mainly due to differences in the mineralogy and chemistry of the different shell layers. Our results indicated that the periostracum layer especially the green-lipped part of the mussel shell is a potential biomonitoring material for current metal levels in the environmental seawater. This is especially so for Cu and Zn since these metals could also adsorb onto the shell surface from the seawater. Experimental studies should be conducted for both the soft and hard tissues to confirm our hypothesis that they are suitable for use in the biomonitoring.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors wish to thank Research University Grant Scheme (RUGS), [Pusat Kos: 91229], provided by Universiti Putra Malaysia and Sciencefund [Pusat Kos: 5450338], provided by Ministry of Science, Technology and Innovation.

REFERENCES

- AL-DABBAS, M. A. M., HUBBARD, F. H. and McMANUS, J. (1984). The shell of Mytilus as an indicator of zonal variations of water quality within an estuary. Estuarine and Coastal Shelf Science, 18, 263-270.
- BAYNE, B. L., GABBOTT, D. A., LIVINGSTONE, D. R., LOWE, D. M. and MOORE, M. N. (1982). Glycogen utilisation and gametogenesis in Mytilus edulis (L.). Marine Biology Letters, 3, 89-105.
- BERTINE, K. K. and GOLDBERG, E. D. (1972). Trace elements in clams, mussel and shrimp. *Limnology and Oceanography*, 17, 877-884.

- BOURGOIN, B. P. and RISK, M. J. (1987). Historical changes in lead in the Eastern Canadian Arctic, determined from fossil and modern Mya truncata shells. The Science of the Total Environment, 67, 2-10.
- BUBEL, A. (1976). An electron microscope study of the formation of the periostracum in the freshwater bivalves, Anodonta cygnea. Journal of Zoology (London), 180, 211-232.
- CARELL, B., FORBERG, S., GRUNDELIUS, E., HENRIKSON, L., JOHNELS, A., LINDH, U., MUTVEI, H., OLSSON, M., SVARDSTROM, K. and WESTERMARK, T. (1987). Can mussel shells reveal environmental history? *Ambio*, 16, 2-10.
- CARRIKER, M. R., PALMER, R. E., SICK, L. V. and JOHNSON, C. C. (1980). Interaction of mineral elements in sea water and shells of oyster (*Crassostrea virginica*) [Gmelin] cultured in control and natural system. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology, 46, 279-296.
- CARRIKER, M. R., SWANN, C. P. and EWART, J. W. (1982). An explanatory study with the proton microprobe of the ontogenic distribution of 16 elements in the shell of living oysters (*Crassostrea virginica*). *Marine Biology*, 69, 235-246.
- CARRIKER, M. R., SWANN, C. P., PREZANT, R. S. and COUNTS, C. L. (1991). Chemical elements in the aragonitic and calcitic microstructural groups of shell of the oyster *Crassostrea* virginica: a proton probe study. Marine Biology, 109, 287-297.
- CHEUNG, Y. H. and WONG, M. H. (1992). Comparison of trace metal contents of sediments and mussels collected within and outside Tolo Harbour, Hong Kong. Environmental Management, 16, 743-751.
- COOMBS, T. L. and KELLER, P. J. (1982). Mytilus byssal threads as an environmental marker for metals. Aquatic Toxicology, 1, 291-300.
- DAY, R. W. and QUINN, G. P. (1989). Comparisons of treatments after an analysis of variance in ecology. *Ecological Monograph*, 59, 433-463.
- DERMOTT, R. M. and LUM, K. R. (1986). Metal concentrations in the annual shell layers of the bivalve *Elliptio complanata*. *Environmental Pollution Series B*, 12, 131-143.

- DODD, J. R. (1963). Palaeoecology implications of shell mineralogy in two pelecypod species. *Journal of Geology*, 71, 1-11.
- FOSTER, P. and CHACKO, J. (1995). Minor and trace elements in shell of *Patella vulgata* (L.). *Marine Environmental Research*, 40, 55-76.
- GOLDBERG, E. D. (1975). The Mussel Watch a first step in global marine monitoring. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 6, 111.
- GOLDBERG, E. D. (1980). The surveillence of coastal marine waters with bivalves. In J. Albaiges (Ed.), *The Mussel Watch- analytical techniques in environmental chemistry* (p. 373-386). Oxford: Pergamon Press.
- GOLDBERG, E. D., BOWEN, V. T., FARRINGTON, J. W., HARVEY, G., MARTIN, J. H., PARKER, P. L., RISEBROUGH, R. W., ROBERTSON, W., SCHNEIDER, W. and GAMBLE, E. (1978). The Mussel Watch. Environmental Conservation, 5, 101-125.
- IKUTA, K. (1986). Metal concentrations in byssuses and soft bodies of bivalves. Bulletin of Agriculture, Miyazaki University, 33, 255-264.
- IMLAY, M. J. (1982). Use of shells of freshwater mussels in monitoring heavy metals and environmental stress: a review. *Malacology Review*, 15, 1-14.
- KENNEDY, W. J., TAYLOR, J. D. and HALL, A. (1969). Environmental and biological controls on bivalve shell mineralogy. *Biological Review of* the Cambridge Philosophical Society, 44, 499-530.
- KOIDE, M., LEE, D. S. and GOLDBERG, E. D. (1982). Metal and transuranic records in mussel, shell, byssal threads and tissues. *Estuarine* and Coastal Shelf Science, 15, 679-695.
- LAKSHMANAN, P. T. and NAMBISAN, P. N. K. (1989). Bioaccumulation and depuration of some trace metals in the mussel *Perna viridis* (Linnaeus). Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 43, 131-138.
- LARES, M. L. and ORIANS, K. J. (1997). Natural Cd and Pb variations in *Mytilus californianus* during the upwelling season. *The Science of the Total Environment*, 197, 177-195.
- Mo, C. and NEILSON, B. (1994). Standardization of oyster soft dry weight measurements. Water Research, 1, 243-246.

THE DISTRIBUTION OF CU, PB AND ZN IN THE SOFT AND HARD TISSUES OF P. VIRIDIS

- MORTON, B. (1992). The evolution and success of the heteromyarian form in the Mytiloida. In E. Gosling (Ed.), *The Mussel Mytilus: Ecology*, *physiology, genetics and culture* (p. 21-52). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Publishers B. V.
- PEDDICORD, R. K. (1977). Salinity and substratum effects on condition index of the bivalve Rangia cuneata. Marine Biology, 39, 351-360.
- PENTREATH, R. J. (1973). The accumulation from water of ⁶⁵Zn, ⁵⁴Mn, ⁵⁸Co and ⁵⁹Fe by the mussel Mytilus edulis. Journal of Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom, 53, 127-143.
- PHILLIPS, D. J. H. and RAINBOW, P. S. (1993). Biomonitoring of Trace Aquatic Contaminants. London: Elsevier Science Publishers Limited.
- PHILLIPS, D. J. H. and SEGAR, D. A. (1986). Use of bioindicator organism to monitoring contaminants: programme design imperatives. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 17, 10-17.
- PHILLIPS, D. J. H. (1980). Quantitative Aquatic Biological Indicators: Their Use to Monitor Trace Metal and Organochlorine Pollution. London: Applied Science Publishers.
- PHILLIPS, D. J. H. (1985). Organochlorines and trace metals in green-lipped mussels *Perna* viridis from Hong Kong waters: a test of indicator ability. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 21, 251-258.
- PHILLIPS, D.J.H. (1991). Selected trace elements and the use of biomonitors in subtropical and tropical marine ecosystems. *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 120, 105-129.
- PILKEY, O.H. and GOODEL, H.G. (1963). Trace elements in recent mollusk shells. *Limnology* and Oceanography, 8, 137-148.
- PUENTE, X., VILLARES, R., CARRAL, E. and CARBALLEIRA, A. (1996). Nacreous shell of Mytilus galloprovincialis as a biomonitor of heavy metal pollution in Galiza (NW Spain). The Science of the Total Environmen, 183, 205-211.
- RAINBOW, P. S. and PHILLIPS, D. J. H. (1993). Cosmopolitan biomonitors of trace metals. *Marine Pollution Bulletin*, 26, 593-601.

- RAINBOW, P. S. (1997). Trace metal accumulation in marine invertebrates: marine biology or marine chemistry? *Journal of Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom*, 77, 195-210.
- ROESIJADI, G. and ROBINSON, W. E. (1994). Metal regulation in aquatic animals: mechanisms of uptake, accumulation and release. In D. C. Malins and G. K. Ostrander (Eds.), Aquatic toxicology: molecular biochemical and cellular perspectives (p. 387-420). Boca Raton: Lewis Publishers.
- SELVARANI, C., BHARATHI, M. S. and RAMALINGAM, K. (1989). Digestive enzymes of marine bivalves, Donax cuneatus and Perna viridis. Indian Journal of Marine Sciences, 18, 217-218.
- SIMKISS, K. (1983). Trace elements as probes of biomineralization. In P. Westbroek and E. W. de Jong (Eds.), Biomineralization and biological metal accumulation: biological and geological perspectives (p. 363-371). Boston: D. Reidel Publishing Co.
- STURESSON, U. (1976). Lead enrichment in shells of Mytilus edulis. Ambio, 5, 253-256.
- STURESSON, U. (1978). Cadmium enrichment in shells of *Mytilus. Ambio*, 7, 122-125.
- SZEFER, P. and SZEFER, K. (1985). Occurrence of ten metals in Mytilus edulis (L.) and Cardium glaucum (L.) from the Gdausk Bay. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 16, 446-450.
- SZEFER, P., IKUTA, K., FRELEK, K., ZDROJEWSKA, I. and NABRZYSKI, M. (1999). Mercury and other trace metals (Ag, Cr, Co and Ni) in soft tissue and byssus of *Mytilus edulis* from the east coast of Kyushu Island, Japan. *The Science* of the Total Environment, 229, 227-234.
- SZEFER, P., IKUTA, K., KUSHIYAMA, S., SZEFER, K., FRELEK, K. and GELDON, J. (1997). Distribution and association of trace metals in soft tissues and byssus of *Mytilus edulis* from the east coast of Kyushu Island, Japan. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 32, 184-190.
- TESSIER, A. and CAMPELL, P. G. C. (1987). Partitioning of trace metals in sediments: relationship with bioavailability. *Hidrobiologia*, 149, 43-52.

YAP, C. K., ISMAIL, A., TAN, S. G. AND RAHIM ISMAIL, A.

- VIARENGO, A., PALMERO, S., ZANIOCHI, G., CAPELLI, R., VAISSIERE, R. and ORUNESU, M. (1985). Role of metallothioneins in Cu and Cd accumulation and elimination in the gill and digestive gland cells of Mytilus galloprovincialis (Lam.). Marine Environmental Research, 16, 23-36.
- VIARENGO, A., PERTICA, M., MANCINELLI, G., CAPELLI, R. and ORUNESU, M. (1980). Effects of copper on the uptake of amino acids, on protein synthesis and on ATP content in different tissues of *Mytilus galloprovincialis* (Lam.). *Marine Environmental Research*, 4, 145-152.
- WATSON, D., FOSTER, P. AND WALKER, G. (1995). Barnacle shells as biomonitoring material. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 31, 111-115.
- WILBUR, K. M. and SALEUDDIN, A. S. M. (1983). Shell formation. In K. M. Wilburg (Ed.), *The mollusca* (Vol. 4, p. 235-287). New York: Academic Press.

- WRIGHT, D. A., MIHURSKY, J. A. and PHELPS, H. L. (1985). Trace metals in Chesapeake Bay oyster: intra-sample variability and its implications for biomonitoring. *Marine Environmental Research*, 16, 181-197.
- YANG, M. S. and THOMPSON, J. A. J. (1996). Binding of endogenous copper and zinc to cadmiuminduced proteins in various tissues of *Perna* viridis. Archives of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology, 30, 267-273.
- YAP, W. G., YOUNG, A. L., ORANO, C. E. F. and DE CASTRO, M. T. (1979). Manual on mussel farming. Aquaculture Extension Manual No. 6. Southeast Asian Development Center, Aquaculture Department, Iloilo, Phillippines. 17p.

the set of the set of

and the second which i second

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 11 - 16 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Ectoparasites of Rattus sp from Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

HAFIDZI M.N.¹, ZAKRY F.A.Z.¹ AND SAADIAH A.²

¹Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture 43400 UPM Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ²Department of Environmental Development, Petaling Jaya Municipal Council, Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Ectoparasite, zoonoses, Rattus sp

ABSTRACT

Seven species of ectoparasites (Three Mites, two Sucking Lice, one Chewing Lice and one Dipteran) were recovered from the Brown Råt Rattus norvegicus (n = 10) and the Roof Rat Rattus rattus (n = 15 at the wet marketof Jalan Othman, Section 3, Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia. The species collected in Brown Rat included Echinolaelaps echidninus, Myobia sp. and Hoplopleura acanthopus while those recovered from parasitized House Rat were Echinolaelaps echidninus, Dermanyssus gallinae, Myobia sp., Hoplopleura acanthopus, Goniocotes gallinae and one unidentified Anopluran and Dipteran species. Result of the investigation indicated that there was variation in the infestation and distribution of ectoparasite in both species. Echinolaelaps echidninus was the dominant ectoparasite species found on all rats captured (100% infested). The presence of Dermanyssus gallinae and Goniocotes gallinae was peculiar as these were normally found on avian species. As trapping was conducted near a markaet area, infestation by such ectoparasites could have originated from chickens as the original hosts. The potential of each ectoparasite in the transmission of zoonoses diseases was discussed.

INTRODUCTION

Most small mammal ectoparasite surveys within the state of Selangor, Malaysia, particularly in Bukit Lanjan and Air Hitam Forest Reserve were done in the late 80's (Shabrina et al., 1989). Domestic rats, particularly those living in close association with man, play a major role in human health, welfare and economy. Their arthropod ectoparasites are important vectors of pathogenic organisms. Inherently, they are causative agents of many allergic disorders (Bakr et al., 1996). No doubt, the increase in domestic rats population is followed by an increase in many zoonotic diseases, such as, scrub typhus (Lim et al., 1980; Tanskul and Linthicum, 1999) and dermatitis (Rosen et al., 2002). Due to the role of domestic rat ectoparasites such as chiggers, ticks and fleas as vectors of zoonotic pathogens, it is important to document host-parasite associations and infestation parameters for parasitic arthropods infesting domestic rats. The objective of the study was to examine the ectoparasite load and diversity of two common rat species, the roof rat

Rattus rattus and the brown rat Rattus norvegicus in urban areas in Malaysia.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Site

The study was conducted at the wet market in Jalan Othman, Petaling Jaya, Selangor (latitude $3^0 05$ North and longitude $101^0 38$ East), Malaysia i.e. 10 km from Kuala Lumpur. It is a residential and commercial area. The map of the study site is shown in *Fig. 1*.

Rat Trapping

Rats were captured in standard commercial live traps baited with fresh prawns. Traps were placed on the floor at places where rats were noticeably active. Two to three traps were placed at each trap point. The trap layout is shown in *Fig. 2*. The traps were set at 2200 hours and inspected at 2400 hours. Trapping sessions were carried out for three consecutive nights i.e. from 21 March to 23 March 2002.

HAFIDZI M. N., ZAKRY F. A. Z. AND SAADIAH A.



Fig. 1: Location of rat trapping site (X)



Fig. 2: Trap layout at the wet market of Jalan Othman, Petaling Jaya district of Selangor. Each number represents a trap point

Ectoparasite Removal and Collection

The captured rats were retained in the trap and brought to the laboratory, and killed by transfering into a cotton bag containing a piece of cotton soaked in chloroform. Once killed, the rats were removed from the cotton bag and brushed from tail to head, using a camel brush to remove any ectoparasites, which were collected on a white pan. The cotton bag was also examined for the presence of ectoparasites that might have fallen from the animal when the latter were killed with chloroform. The ectoparasites were stored in vials containing 70% ethanol for preservation and subsequent microscopic examination (Durden *et al.*, 2000). The contents of each vial were then observed under the light microscope and individual ectoparasites were carefully picked using a small forceps, to avoid damaging the ectoparasites. The ectoparasites removed were transferred to fresh vials containing 70% alcohol for preservation and later identification (Durden, 1995; Durden *et al.*, 2000).

Ectoparasite Identification

Individual ectoparasites were mounted on slides in Hoyer's medium (50 ml distilled water, 30 g Arabic gum, 200 g chloral hydrate and 20 ml glycerine). Care was taken to avoid damaging the internal organs of the ectoparasites. Each mounted ectoparasite was cleaned by heating or immersing in lactophenol for at least 24 hours to remove the sclerotin that darkens the exoskeleton and prevent penetration of light, thus aiding in the identification. Mounted specimes were dried in the oven with temperatures between 40 °C to 50 °C for three days (Varma, 1993). Identification of ectoparasites was based on standard taxonomic keys and identification references (Kocan and Niec, 1975; Evans, 1992; Wall and Shearer, 2001). All ectoparasite specimens were sent to Acarology Division, Institute for Medical Research, Kuala Lumpur for further identification and confirmation of the ectoparasite species. (Dr. Ho Tzi Min, Inst. of Medical Research, Malaysia, Personal Communication.)

Rat Identification

Each of the rats captured was identified, labeled as male or female and measured. Identification of Rattus rattus and Rattus norvegicus was based on external features and measurements. The head and body length of R. rattus measures between 180 and 220 mm, tail length is between 185 and 240 mm, hind foot is less than 40 mm, and weighs between 80 to 300g (Tweedy, 1978; Medway, 1978). The head and body of R. norvegicus measures between 160 and 260 mm, tail length is between 170 to 230 mm, hind foot is more than 40 mm, and weighs between 200 and 485 g (Walker et al., 1964; Tweedie, 1978; Medway, 1978). Rat species identification was used to compare the two species in terms of infestation levels, prevalence and relative densities of the ectoparasites collected.

Data Analysis

The following parameters as suggested by Durden (1995) were calculated for data analysis.

1. The percentage of rat infested with ectoparasites;

Infestation (%) = No of rats infested X 100

No. rats collected

2. The mean intensity of infestation;

Mean Intensity = No. of ectoparasites collected

No. of rats infested

3. The relative density i.e. mean no. of ectoparasites per rat host;

Relative density = Infestation (%) X mean intensity

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Twenty five domestic rats belonging to 2 species, Brown rat (Rattus norvegicus) and Roof rat (Rattus *rattus*) were trapped alive with a trap success rate of 31.2%. Table 1 lists the % infestation (percentage of hosts infested), mean intensity (mean per infested hosts) and relative density (mean per hosts) for each ectoparasite identified, actual number of ectoparasites and % composition (percentage of each ectoparasite from the total number of ectoparasites from each rat species). Seven species of ectoparasites (3 mites, 2 sucking lice, 1 chewing lice and 1 dipteran) were recovered from R. norvegicus and R. rattus and a total of 521 individual ectoparasites were collected from both rats. Seven species of ectoparasites (288 specimens) were collected from R. rattus compared to three species (233 specimens) collected from R. norvegicus. Telford et al. (1980) documented similar findings in terms of ectoparasite diversity between the two rat hosts.

Echinolaelaps echidninus was common to both R. norvegicus and R. rattus bearing the highest infestation rate i.e. 100% and 93.3%, respectively. E. echidninus is a well documented ectoparasite of rats (Botelho and Linardi, 1996; El Deeb et al., 1999). Table 1 also shows that % composition of E. echidninus was higher in R. norvegicus (92%) than R. rattus (51%). Telford et al. (1980) found that E. echidninus accounted for 75% of the ectoparasites recovered from R. rattus. According to Schmidt and Roberts (2000) and Marquardt et al. (2000), E. echidninus has the potential to spread the protozoan Hepatozoon

HAFIDZI M. N., ZAKRY F. A. Z. AND SAADIAH A.

TABLE 1

Ectoparasites recovered from 25 domestic rats at the wet market of Jalan Othman, Section 3, Petaling Jaya, Selangor, 2002

Host Species	Ectoparasites*	I (%)	MI	RD	'n	C(%)*
Brown rat,	Mites					
Rattus norvegicus	Echinolaelaps echidninus	100	21.4	21.4	214	92
n = 10 (2 males, 8 females)	Myobia sp.	30	3.7	1.1	11	5
	Sucking Lice (Order: Anoplura)		197			
	Hoplopleura acanthopus	50	1.6	0.8	8	3
Roof rat.	Mites					10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1
Rattus rattus	Echinolaelaps echidninus	93	10.4	9.7	146	51
n = 15 (8 males, 7 females)	Dermanyssus gallinae	40	14.7	5.9	2	0.6
	Myobia sp.	13	1.0	0.1	30	10
	Sucking Lice (Order: Anoplura)					
	Hoplopleura acanthopus	60	3.3	2.0	88	31
MERCENTRA	Antarctopthirus sp.	33	3.4	1.1	17	6
	Chewing Lice (Order: Mallopha	za)				
	Goniocotes gallinae	13	2.0	0.3	4	1
peter minister of 17 sittle water is	Flies					
stand of the second stands	Diptera (unidentified)	7	1.0	0.1	1	0.3

* For each ectoparasite species, infestation parameters listed are % infested, I; mean intensity (mean per infested host), MI; relative density (mean per host), RD; actual no. of ectoparasites, n; and % composition, C. ** T-test indicates that the ectoparasite composition was not significantly different between the two rat species, t = 0.002, ns.

muris in rat populations, but thus far, there is no evidence that it infects humans (Schmidt dan Roberts, 2000).

Myobia sp. and Hoplopleura acanthopus were also recovered from both rat hosts. The presence of prostigmatid mites, Myobia sp. is a matter of interest. According to Hirst (1922), a number of mites from the subfamily Cheyletinae were not dependent on their host and are predators of other mites such as Tyroglyphid mites or other small arthropods, but are sometimes, also parasitic.

Ninety six specimens or 18.4 % of all ectoparasites recorded were the sucking lice, *Hoplopleura acanthopus* (Order: Anoplura) (Table 1). *H. acanthopus* was found on both host species but with higher infestation and percentage composition on *R. rattus* compared to *R. norvegicus*. Hopkins (1949) stated that the genus *Rattus* is often infested with *Hoplopleura* sp. and *Polyplax* sp. King *et al.* (1980) reported that 25 % of *Rattus norvegicus* and 20% of *R. rattus* examined were infested with *Polyplax* sp. and *Hoplopluera* sp. These lice may play a supplementary role in the infection of murine thyphus in rat populations (King et al., 1980).

The occurrence of Dermanyssus gallinae and Goniocotes gallinae were peculiar, which are normally found on avian species. Close proximity between rat populations and chickens is a plausible explanation. This phenomenon was also reported by Bakr et. al. (1995) wherein D. gallinae found on rodents were in close association with domestic animals. D. gallinae has been known to infest domestic chickens and turkey and wild birds such as pigeons, sparrows and starlings. (Varma, 1993). D. gallinae has been suggested as a vector for the St Louis encephalitis arbovirus (Varma, 1993). This was substantiated by Mehlhorn (2001), who associated D. gallinae with the spread of St. Louis encephalitis virus and anemia on chickens. Regan et al. (1987) claimed that D. gallinae is a potential vector for the eastern and western equine encephalomyelitis virus. According to Kirkwood (1967), D. gallinae can cause anemia, leading to lower egg production in domestic chickens and birds and may cause death of the host species. *D. gallinae* also poses a potential health hazard to workers in poultry pens and chicken farms (Hoffman, 1987). According to Bowman *et al.* (2002), *D. gallinae* is the only chicken mite that can cause dermatitis to humans, particularly when there is an absence of avian hosts, nearby poultry pens and chicken processing units.

Goniocotes gallinae commonly known as chicken lice was only found on *R. rattus. R. rattus* is not a usual host for *G. gallinae* which may become infected with the latter when the normal host dies. Since the study site is a wet market where chickens were slaughtered, it is most likely the ectoparasite looks for an alternative host i.e. *Rattus rattus* that are in close proximity to the chicken host.

The presence of *G. gallinae* and *D. gallinae* on rat host in this study is a new documentation on host-parasite interaction. A similar hostparasite interaction involving domestic cats and *D. gallinae* has been reported by Muller *et al.* (1983) and Grant (1985; 1989). Most of the cases of *D. gallinae* infestation of domestic cats can be related to the close association between the former and chicken farms (Bowman *et al.*, 2002). This supports the present study which indicates a close association between domestic chicken *Gallus gallus* and the roof rat, *Rattus rattus*, in terms of host parasite interaction.

Xenopsylla cheopis, a vector of the dreadful bubonic plague was absent from the sampled rat hosts. Any epidermic zoonoses, if present, may be restricted within the rat population as indicated by the high infestation of *E. echidninus* in the study area.

In terms of ectoparasitic composition, the two rat species were not different (T-test; t = 0.002, ns), although *R. rattus* carries double the number of ectoparasite species, i.e. six compared to three in *R. norvegicus*. In terms of ectoparasite composition, *R. norvegicus* recorded 92% *Echinolaelaps echidninus* compared to 51% in *R. rattus*. The latter also recorded 30% Hoplopleura acanthopus. This may reflect the different ecology and foraging habits of the two commensal rats.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank MPPJ (Majlis Perbandaran Petaling Jaya) for supporting the work with a research grant (Vot 331-291123). We would also like to extend our appreciation to Dr Hjh Saadiah Abdullah and MPPJ staff from the Department of Environmental Development for every moral and material support towards the completion of the study. Special thanks are also extended to Dr Ho Tze Min of Institute of Medical Research, Kuala Lumpur for the assistance rendered in confirming the species of the ectoparasites collected. Finally we would like to acknowledge Dr. Wong Sai Hou, State Assembly Member of Kawasan Kampung Tunku for the support and interest shown towards the study.

REFERENCES

- BAKR M.E., MORSY, T. A., NASSEF, N. E. and EL MELIGI, M. A. (1995). Mites infesting commensal rodents in Shebin El Kom, Menoufia G., Egypt. J. Egypt Soc. Parasitol., 25 (3), 853-859.
- BAKR M.E., MORSY, T. A., NASSEF, N. E. and EL MELIGI, M. A. (1996). Flea ectoparasites of commensal rodents in Shebin El Kom, Menoufia Governorate, Egypt. J. Egypt Soc. Parasitol., 26 (1), 39-52.
- BOTELHO J.R. and LINARDI, P. M. (1996). Interrelationships between ectoparasites and rodents in wild and urban environments at Belo Horizonte, Minas Gerais, Brazil. *Revista Brasileira de Entomologia*, 40, 425-430.
- BOWMAN, D.D., HENDRIX, C.M., LINDSAY, D.S. and BARR, S.C. (2002). *Feline Clinical Parasitology*. Iowa State University Press.
- DURDEN, L.A. (1995). Fleas (Siphonaptera) of cotton mice on a Georgia barrier island. A depauperate fauna. J. Parasitol., 81 (4), 526-529.
- DURDEN, L. A., OLIVER JR., J. H. and CILEK, J. E. (2000). Rodent ectoparasites from two locations in Northwestern Florida. J. Vector Ecology, 25(2), 222-228.
- EL DEEB H.I., ZIDAN, Z. H., EL HAWASHY, N. and MOURAD, A. A. (1999). Rodent ectoparasites relationships at new reclaimed areas of Egypt. *Annals of Agri. Sc. Cairo*, 44, 799-810.
- EVANS, G. O. (1992). Principles of Acarology. Wallingford, Oxon: C.A.B. International.
- GRANT, D.I. (1985). Notes on parasitic skin disease in the dog and cat. Br. Vet. J., 141, 447 – 462.

- GRANT, D.I. (1989). Parasitic diseases in cats. J. Sm. Anim. Prac., 30, 250 – 254.
- HIRST, S. (1922). Mites injurious to domestic animals. Brit. Mus. (Nat. Hist.) Econ. Ser., 13, 107 pp.
- HOFFMAN, G.V. (1987). Vogelmilben als lastlinge, kranken-heitsserzeuger und vektoren bei mensch und nutztier, dtsch.tierarztl. Wschr., 95, 7 - 10.
- HOPKINS, G.H.E. (1949). The host-association of the lice of mammals. *Proc. Roy. Zool. Sc. Lond.*, 199, 387p.
- KING, R.E., WALTON, D.W. and MAUNG TUN, M. (1980). The haplopleurid lice (Anoplura: Haplopleuridae) of commensal small mammals in Rangoon, Burma. Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Pub. Hlth., 11 (2), 240 – 244.
- KIRKWOOD, A. C. (1967). Anaemia in poultry infested with the red mite *Dermanyssus* gallinae. Vet. Rec., 80, 514-516.
- KOCAN, A. A. and NIEC, A. P. (1975). Major Groups of Ectoparasites (Slides). Oklahoma State Univ.
- LIM B.L., HADI, T. R. and SUSTRIAYU, N. (1980). Rodent and scrub typhus in a ricefield at Kramat Tunngak area, Tanjung Priok, Jakarta, Indonesia. Southeast Asian J. Trop. Med. Pub Health., 11 (2), 232-239.
- MARQUARDT, W.C., DEMAREE, R. S. and GRIEVE, R. B. (2000). Parasitology and Vector Biology (2nd ed., p. 519 – 681). USA: Academic Press.
- MEDWAY, L. (1978). The Wild Mammals of Malaya (Peninsular Malaysia) and Singapore (2nd ed., p. 73-76). Oxford Univ. Press.
- MEHLHORN, H. (2001). Encyclopedic Reference of Parasitology: Biology, Structure, Function (2nd ed., 667 p.). Springer.
- MULLER, G.H., KIRK, R. W. and SCOTT, D.W. (1983). Small Mammal Dermatology (3rd ed., p. 387-397). Philadelphia: WB Saunders.

- REGAN, A.M., METERSKY, M. L. and CRAVEN, D. E. (1987). Nosocomial dermatitis and pruritus caused by pigeon mite infestation. Arch. Intern. Med., 147, 2185 – 2187.
- ROSEN S., YERUHAM, I. and BRAVERMAN, Y. (2002). Dermatitis in humans associated with the mites Pyemotes tritici, Dermanyssus gallinae, Ornithonyssus bacoti and Androlaelaps casalis in Israel. Med. Vet. Entomol., 16 (4), 442-444.
- SCHMIDT, G.D. and ROBERTS, L. S. (2000). Foundation of Parasitology (6th ed., p. 539 – 627). International Edition. McGraw-Hill International Editions. Biology Series.
- SHABRINA M.S., ANAN, S. and HAMID, R. (1989). Ectoparasites of small mammals from Bukit Lanjan and Air Hitam Forest Reserve, Selangor. J. Wildlife and Parks, 8, 31-35.
- TANSKUL P. and LINTHICUM, K.J. (1999). Redescription of Leptotrombidium (Leptotrombidium) imphalum (Acari: Trombiculidae), with observation on bionomics and medical importance in northern Thailand. J. Med. Entomol., 36 (1), 88-91.
- TELFORD, S.R. JR., TUN, M. M. and WALTON, D. W. (1980). Mesostigmatid mites with three *Rattus* species collected in Rangoon, Burma. *Southeast Asia J. Trop. Med. and Publ. Health.*, 11 (2), 227-231.
- TWEEDIE, M. W. F. (1978). Mammals of Malaysia. Malaysia: Longman.
- VARMA, M. R. G. (1993). Ticks and mites (Acari). In R. P. Lane and R. W. Crosskey (Eds.), Medical insects and arachnids (p. 597-658). Chapman and Hall.
- WALKER, E. P., WARNICK, F., LANGE, K. I., UIBLE, H. E., HAMLET, S. E., DAVIS, M. A. and WRIGHT, P. F. (1964). *Mammals of the World* (Vol. 2, p. 903-904). Baltimore: The Johns Hopkins Press.
- WALL, R. and SHEARER, D. (2001). Veterinary Ectoparasites: Biology, Pathology and Control (2nd ed., p. 262). Blackwell Science.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 17 - 29 (2007)

Multiple Satellite Detection of Hotspots in Peninsular Malaysia during February and March of 2002

MASTURA MAHMUD

Geography Progam, Faculty of Social Sciences and Humanities Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 UKM, Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Hotspots, multiple satellites, inter-comparison, cloud coverage, spatial patterns

ABSTRACT

A comparison of the spatial distribution of hotspots detected in Peninsular Malaysia during the short spell of dry conditions that occurred in February and March of 2002 from three different types of satellite programmes such as National Oceanic Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the Terra Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) and Defense Meteorological Satellite Programme (DMSP) satellites was investigated. This period was considered unusual compared to other years, due to the high level of burning activities and the early occurrence of haze compared to the usual burning period from July to September. The spatial patterns of the locations of hotspots detected from these multiple sources were analyzed, although they differed in the overpass times, algorithms, resolutions and cloud coverage that rendered dissimilarities in the hotspots detected. Visual interpretation on the patterns of hotspots.

INTRODUCTION

The notable 1997 regional transboundary haze crisis that hit the Southeast Asian region including countries such as Singapore, Brunei, Malaysia and Indonesia resulted from the destruction of approximately 10 million hectares of natural forest in Indonesia and incurred an economic loss of over US\$10 billion (Boyd, 2002). The problem has not abated, since the recurrence of transboundary haze due to vegetation burning on a large scale has continued since 1997. For the early burning season of February to March 2002, approximately 10,906 hectares of plantations and protected forest reserves were destroyed, which include hundreds of hectares of peat land in Bengkalis, Riau on the island of Sumatra (The Jakarta Post, 2002). Most of the fires were left unattended due to the lack of personnel in the local forest department in Sumatra and the inaccessibility of the remote areas. Only surface fires were tackled, while undergrowth fires were left smoldering, as they were difficult to extinguish. The haze in Riau affected the local air quality where visibility was reduced to 20 m in Mantau, Bengkalis (The Jakarta Post, 2002).

Although the forest reserves in Malaysia are not as plentiful as in Indonesia, the burning activities that occur can still affect the local environment (Abdullah et al., 2002; Maarof, 2002; Musa and Parlan, 2002; Gawan, 2001; Sangaran, 2001). A total of 543 hectares of land was burnt in Sepang in the state of Selangor in Peninsular Malaysia during February and March of 2002 (Berita Harian, 2000a). Approximately 400 hectares of agriculture land and the fringe of forests were burnt by smallholder farmers near Sepang and Kuala Selangor on 15th February and over one hundred hectares of peat land burnt that was strenuous to douse took place during the dry conditions in February (Utusan Malaysia, 2002a). In total, 8000 hectares of forest area throughout Peninsular Malaysia was burnt, mostly in the states of Selangor and Pahang (Utusan Malaysia, 2002b). Amongst the areas involved were also oil palm plantations of over 3115 hectares near Pekan, Pahang (Utusan Malaysia, 2002c).

With the advance of technology, remotely sensed satellites can disclose the active fire counts and spatial areas of burning on a daily basis. It can provide information on the monitoring of different aspects of fires, such as the areas at risk to fires, fire capabilities, burned area, and active fires, smoke plumes or trace gases (WWW1). Data from multiple satellites can be compared to identify the locations of ground truth burning. Remote sensing offers a cost-effective approach to attain an inclusive observation of fire activities in near-real time, particularly over remote, unpopulated areas (WWW2).

Large-scale fire events have been detected by a variety of satellite images that comprise various resolutions and multi-temporal intervals such as SPOT (Liew et al., 1998), National Ocean Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Advanced Very High Resolution Radiometer (AVHRR) (Wooster et al., 1998), Along Track Scanning Radiometer (ATSR) hotspot data (Siegert et al., 2000), Landsat TM (Lim et al., 2004) or the European Radar Satellite-2 Synthetic Aperture Radar (ERS-2 SAR) (Buongiorno et al., 1997). Algorithms were also constructed to detect burn scar mapping using moderate spatial resolution satellites (Roy et al., 2002a). Burnt scars using the output of active-fire algorithms have also been investigated for global application from NOAA images (Roy et al., 1999).

The objective of this study was a preliminary comparison of the hotspots detected by various satellites such as NOAA AVHRR, Terra Moderate Resolution Imaging Spectroradiometer (MODIS) and Defence Meteorological Satellite Programme (DMSP) Optical Line Scan (OLS).

The results of this study can help the Malaysian authorities and managers of fires such as the Fire Department, Police and the Department of Environment in evaluating the trends of the burning and to adopt policies that may control or manage future fires.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Spatial distribution analysis was utilized to establish the distribution patterns of the active fires throughout the day. The area of interest is the Southeast Asian region, with emphasis on Peninsular Malaysia. The period investigated was for the short dry episode in February and March of 2002. The NOAA AVHRR hotspot data was obtained from the Forest Fire Prevention Monitoring Project II (FFPMPII) project that is based in Indonesia. The project is supported by Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA) and is a collaborative effort with the Department of Forestry, Indonesia. The daily hotspot data is hosted at their website for easy access to the public. The MODIS hotspot data was obtained from the rapid-fire dataset, while the DMSP data was obtained from the Asia-Pacific Network for Disaster Monitoring using Earth Observation Satellite (ANDES) project supported by the Japan Science and Technology Corporation. ANDES is developed as a near-real time operational information system that monitors and mitigate agriculture and forest fires disasters (Sawada, 2002). The data is archived for public use and transferred to East and Southeast Asian countries.

Terra MODIS acquires data in 36 spectral bands that covers the visible, near infrared, short wave infrared, medium wave infrared and thermal infrared (Kaufman et al., 1998). MODIS comprise of 16 thermal bands with high saturation levels suitable for detecting hotspots (Chen et al., 2001). The resolution of the thermal anomalies product is 1 km. The overpass time of Terra is at approximately 1000 am local time. Active fires are detected from the 4 and 11 µm bands, with high saturation temperatures of approximately 450K and 400K, respectively (WWW2). The active fires are detected through the fixedthreshold and a contextual algorithm (Giglio et al., 2003), with different criteria for daytime and nighttime imageries. Each pixel of the MODIS swath is assigned the classes of missing data, cloud, water, non-fire, fire or unknown (WWW3). The performance of the MODIS product is continually examined through quality assessment and validation activities (Roy et al., 2002b).

Fire detection from the AVHRR channel is exploited at the middle thermal infrared channel at approximately 3.7 μ m that is sensitive to objects emitting thermal energy at high temperatures of more than 200°C (WWW2). An existence of fire or hotspot lies within the spatial area of 1.1 km², without any information on the size, numbers or intensities of fires or burnt area (WWW4). Its moderate calibration and low saturation temperature render the hotspots detected by NOAA AVHRR to inherit many false alarms and a tendency of an underestimation of fire areas or over estimation of the number of fires (Chen *et al.*, 2001).

The OLS is an oscillating scan radiometer designed for cloud imaging with the visible near infrared and thermal infrared bands initially utilized to detect clouds using moonlight, gas flares, lightning, city lights and fires (WWW4). The night time passes occur between 2030 and

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

2130 local time (Elvidge *et al.*, 2001). The processing algorithms and extractions of fires are described in detail by Elvidge *et al.* (1997). Its spatial resolution of 2.7 km and applications of light emission from night time fires makes this a relatively coarser image than either the NOAA or MODIS images.

Spatial analysis was performed on the active fires detected by the three satellites. Simple centrographic statistics such as the central locations and standard distances or the standard distance deviation were initially calculated. The standard distance deviation (SDD) provides information on the dispersion of the active fire counts around the mean centre. The first-order properties of spatial distribution was carried out where parameters such as the autocorrelation Moran and Geary's C indices can resolve if the hotspots detected by the three satellites exhibit strong correlation tendencies with their neighbours. The neighbourhood patterns and clusters within the overall distribution were then subjected to a second-order spatial analysis, which is a measure of the mean nearest neighbour distance. The nearest neighbour index was calculated to determine if the spread of hotspots were clustered, dispersed or randomly distributed.

Further filtering was performed to identify different groups of clusters of hotspots within the Peninsular Malaysia. The technique employed was the nearest neighbour hierarchical spatial clustering routine that identifies groups of objects that are spatially closer than it would be expected on the basis of chance (Levine, 2002). This technique utilizes a nearest neighbour method that specifies a threshold distance and compares that to the distances of all pairs of points. A minimum of five points per cluster was selected as the cluster threshold for all the group of clusters. Clustering was performed on several levels, where only the clusters that fit the five points limit passes on to the next level.

RESULTS

Weather Conditions

The dry conditions of the El Nino phenomenon during the 1997 haze in Southeast Asia was one of the reasons that aggravated the haze conditions from the large scale biomass burning in Indonesia. The NOAA Climate Prediction Center (NOAA Magazine, 2002) that monitored the Pacific Ocean surface temperatures found an increase of 2°C in February 2002, indicating a progression of an El Nino condition, forecasted as a moderate event that continued until early 2003. This was obtained from evidence of NOAA's global climate monitoring system that consist of data from satellites and moored buoys over the equatorial Pacific Ocean with the purpose of providing real-time atmospheric and oceanic data. Fig. 1 shows the South Oscillation Index (SOI) over the equatorial Pacific Ocean and the Indonesia sea level pressure anomaly (SLPA) from 1997 to early 2003. The SOI and Indonesian SLPA were in opposite phases during the El Nino periods. The 1997 El Nino was exhibited by negative SOIs compared to the positive magnitudes of the Indonesian SLPA. The starting point of the moderate El Nino began in March 2002, exhibited by weak SOI magnitudes of approximately -2, in contrast to the strongly negative SOI that peaked to -6 in 1997. Thus, the sea surface temperature increase over the Pacific Ocean, a precursor to the El Nino presence was found in February and revealed by the SOI in March.

On a local scale, Peninsular Malaysia was affected by the dry conditions in February and March 2002. It is not clear whether the occurrence of dry condition over Peninsular Malaysia was a precursor to the moderate El Nino event of 2002. The El Nino and the La Nina episodes are extreme deviations of the Tropical Biennial Oscillation theory postulated by Meehl (1997) that encompass the coupled land-ocean-atmosphere climate system. In this climate system, the transition to a relatively strong or weak Asian or Australian monsoon is caused by a variety of large and regional-scale conditions in the seasons preceding the monsoon established by the coupled air-sea interactions of the year before (Meehl and Arblaster, 2002a). Transitions from March to May and from June to September are found to establish the coupled atmosphere-land-ocean interactions for the following year, with an opposite transition in the subsequent year (Meehl and Arblaster, 2002b).

Table 1 shows the list of 18 stations in P. Malaysia that exhibit negative deviations of rainfall from the normal, with an average monthly negative deviation of 67% and a monthly total mean of 40 mm in February. Stations such as Chuping, Pulau Langkawi, Alor Star and Bayan Lepas represent the northwestern region of Penisular Malaysia, while stations Kota Bharu

MASTURA MAHMUD



Fig. 1: The Southern Oscillation Index and the Indonesian sea level pressure anomaly from 1997 to early 2003

through to Mersing represent the eastern region. Conditions are slightly wetter in March, where most of the southern stations exhibit negative anomalies of magnitudes below 30%, compared to the northern part of the peninsula in the states of Perlis, Kedah and Kelantan that exhibit negative deviations of more than 60% from the normal, representing very dry conditions. The trend in rainfall patterns was similar to that in February, where the northern and northwestern states received far less rainfall than either the western coast or southern region of Peninsular Malaysia. The average rainfall for the peninsula of 124 mm in March was approximately 24 % below normal.

The temperature deviations from climatological normal showed in Table 1 also illustrate that most of the stations over the Malaysian peninsula exhibit a warming tendency of approximately 20% above normal. The maximum temperatures recorded reached as high as 36.4°C in February and 36.6°C in March at the urban location of Petaling Java in Selangor (Utusan Malaysia, 2002b). The mean deviations for most of the stations in P. Malaysia were positive, at values of 0.53 and 0.84 in February and March, respectively. Weather parameters such as temperature, evaporation and solar radiation all illustrate above normal conditions, whilst rainfall exhibited negative anomalies, indicating that the Malaysian peninsula was drier and warmer than normal, in which these conditions were conducive to burning where dry vegetation materials were prone to fires and

produced smoke easily. Therefore, the burning activities over Peninsular Malaysia were exacerbated by the drier conditions.

Biomass Burning Activities Detected from Multiple Satellite Sources

The hotspots detected by the NOAA and MODIS satellites over Sumatra and Peninsular Malaysia from February and March 2002 indicate that the land clearing activities in Sumatra was dynamic (Fig. 2). The highest number of hotspots occurred in early February when the daily number peaked at 1,230 and 1,184 hotspots on the 11th and 12th March, respectively. Most of the hotspots on 11th March were identified in Sumatra, with a total of 875 hotspots in Riau, 45 in North Sumatra and 188 in Peninsular Malaysia. A total of 597 hotspots were detected in Riau, in contrast to 198 hotspots over Peninsular Malaysia on the following day, indicating vigorous burning activity over the two areas during these two days. The number of NOAA AVHRR hotspots detected by the Meteorological Services of Singapore (MSS) was more conservative than the FFPMPII, with the highest hotspots of 550 on 10th March. The number of hotspots registered on the 11th and 12th March was 360 and 310, respectively. Although both centres used the same AVHRR data, their algorithms utilized were different. The mid-morning fires detected by MODIS were the most conservative, with the maximum hotspots occurring on 8th March, totaling 159 hotspots for both Peninsular Malaysia and Sumatra.

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

	% Anomaly Rainfall (mm)		Temperature (°C)		Deviant from Normal Solar Radiation (MJ/m ²)		Evaporation (mm/day)	
	Months							- 18
Stations	Feb	Mar	Feb	Mar	Feb	Mar	Feb	Mar
Chuping	-97	-27	0	1	12	9	17	18
P. Langkawi	-83	-79	1	1	7	6	17	9
Alor Star	-63	-49	1	1	4	4	19	21
Bayan Lepas	-59	-45	1	2	10	7	4	8
Ipoh	-38	-31	1	1	5	3	10	8
Cameron	-94	-62	0	0	10	9	12	-20
Highlands								
Sitiawan	-23	-1	1	1	6	9	17	11
Subang	-13	-41	2	2	2	-2	11	4
Kluang	-76	-4	0	1	4	8	8	18
Senai	-66	-4	0	0	-5	3	11	24
Kota Bharu	-65	-27	0 =	0	0	0	9	9
Kuala Krai	-80	-16	0	1	9	12	5	7
Kuala	-91	-29	0	0	-5	-3	-4	6
Trengganu								
Kuantan	-94	-10	1	1	13	11	18	21
Batu Embun	-81	35	0	1	11	14	6	16
Temerloh	-94	-71	0	1	4	-4	8	9
Muadzam Shah	-57	-49	0	1	5	11	-3	10
Mersing	-26	-46	1	1	10	10	4	-5
Average	-67	-31	0	1	6	6	9	10

TABLE 1 The anomalies of rainfall, solar radiation and evaporation in Peninsular Malaysia from February to March 2002

Source: Malaysian Meteorological Services (2002)





The activity of burning in Sumatra was of a larger scale than in Peninsular Malaysia due to her large-scale development programme of converting vegetated areas into oil palm plantations. This is reflected by the total of only 498 hotspots in February detected by NOAA satellite (Fig. 3). Two consecutive days with the highest activity of burning were on the 14th February, with 111 hotspots, followed by the next day that recorded a total of 130 hotspots. In contrast, the DMSP satellite detected a total of 1,044 hotspots during February. Another similar pattern of consecutive days of high hotspots was detected, on the 24th, with a total of 145 hotspots, followed by 198 hotspots on the next day. No hotspots were detected for a total of eight days during this month, which were the 6th, 15th, 16th, 17th, 19th, 20th, and 26th to 29th. The highest single day total hotspots of 85 detected by MODIS were on the 18th February, followed by 81 hotspots detected on the 9th February and 69 hotspots on the 11th. There were six days in March where no hotspots were reported by the FFPMPII project on the 2nd, 3rd, 10th, 15th, 16th and 17th. The latter missing observations were due to the break in record when their office was relocated from Bogor to their present location in Jakarta. Regrettably, vital information was lost when the transboundary haze was at its peak from the 15th to 17th of March.

The state of Pahang exhibited the highest number of hotspots detected at 601, followed by Johore at 365 and Kedah at 235. Terengganu, Negeri Sembilan and Selangor also displayed a substantial number of hotspots. The fires in Selangor received much media coverage due to its close proximity to the capital, Kuala Lumpur, but there was prominent burning of the agricultural waste in February particularly over the northern states such as in Kedah. The burning of the peatland in Pahang emerged as near continuous throughout the two months, with prominence in March 2002.

The trend of burning shown in the two months emerged as if the burning activities only occurred on specific days. One of the factors that hinder continuous detection is the presence of clouds, which consists of thick cumulonimbus clouds characteristic of equatorial regions. Only the nighttime hotspots detected by DMSP showed the near continuous activity of burning over the Malaysian peninsula, although this too was influenced by the presence of clouds. The clearing of agriculture land through burning by the local farmers who prefer to burn during the afternoon and evening is a clear disadvantage for the monitoring or detection of hotspots by the Terra MODIS satellite that has a morning overpass time.

There exists a weak relationship between the hotspots from the three satellites. The correlation coefficient between the hotspots detected by NOAA and DMSP was moderate with a coefficient of 0.4, compared to the lower coefficient of 0.28 between NOAA and MODIS as shown in Table 2. The correlation between MODIS and DMSP was much lower with a coefficient of 0.17. ANOVA analysis confirmed that the hotspots detected by three satellites were not related and do not come from the



Fig. 3: Hotspots in Peninsular Malaysia as detected by three different satellites such as the AVHRR NOAA, DMSP and MODIS from 1 February to 30 March 2002

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

same population. This is to be expected as the over pass time of each satellite is different. Terra MODIS detects the morning observation, while NOAA detects the late afternoon burning and DMSP the nighttime fire activity.

TABLE 2 Correlation coefficients between hotspots of the three satellites

Correlation	NOAA	DMSP	MODIS
NOAA	1.000	0.399	0.282
DMSP	0.399	1.000	0.171
MODIS	0.282	0.171	1.000
N cases	59	59	59

Spatial Analysis of Hotspots

Visual interpretation of the spatial distributions of hotspots detected by the three satellites was limited, as comparison when all the satellites were present on the same day could not be performed for the whole month. Only four days experienced this occurrence which were on the 6^{th} , 8^{th} , 11^{th} and 13^{th} March 2002.

Fig. 4 shows the superimposed hotspots from the three satellites. Each of the four days illustrated different patterns of fire distributions that were variable spatially and temporally. The total number of hotspots from the three satellites were moderate on the 6th March, compared to the higher burning activities on the 8th and the 11th March. On both these days, the numbers of DMSP hotspots were higher than the ones detected by either NOAA or MODIS. The different standard distance deviations (SDD), represented by the colored circles radiating from the mean centre were calculated for the NOAA, DMSP and MODIS distributions of hotspots, with their corresponding circles whose standard distances originate from the mean centre. All the four panels showed that the central average locations were different for the selected days.

Much of the burning activities on the 6th March took place along the northwestern coast of the peninsula in the morning and evening time. This was indicated by the central location of the NOAA hotspots over the northwestern part of the Malaysian peninsula at the border of Kelantan-Perak (Table 3). The SDD of 177 km contain most of the hotspots detected over the northern and northwestern states, including approximately 68% of the total NOAA hotspots. Nighttime burning was also concentrated over the northwestern region of the peninsula, with another cluster of high burning over the central state of Pahang. However, the SDD for the hotspots from the DMSP satellite was large at 206 km due to the low number of hotspots totalling 35 compared to the higher density of NOAA hotspots that totaled 125. The SDD for the MODIS hotspots also coincided with the SDD for the NOAA satellite and covered a part of the DMSP circle of dispersed distribution. This reveals that the distribution of hotspots detected from the three satellites all concentrate over the northern to northwestern part of the peninsula.

The DMSP satellite detected high burning in the central and southern states of Pahang, Negeri Sembilan and Johor on the 8th at nighttime in contrast to the occurences over the eastern part of the peninsula. This differed from the clustered distribution of the NOAA hotspots in the southern states of Johor, and eastern and central states of Terengganu and Pahang. Hotspots detected by MODIS were also detected in Pahang, overlying the area detected by NOAA and DMSP particularly over the central eastern coast of the peninsula. This is the location of peat forest that burned for several days as reported in the local media (Utusan Malaysia, 2002b; 2002c). The SDDs of burning activities as detected by NOAA, MODIS and DMSP were superimposed over the same area, covering the central to southern parts of the peninsula. The overlapped area of hotspots activity was concentrated over the southeastern state of Pahang. Due to the high density of hotspots, the standard distances found on this day were shorter, at 71, 143 and 162 km, for the MODIS, NOAA and DMSP, respectively.

The activity on the 11th March still showed high burning activity during morning and nighttime over the northwestern coast of the peninsula. Late afternoon or evening burning as identified by NOAA was concentrated over the southwestern region of the peninsula. The SDDs for the NOAA and DMSP derived hotspots for this day also overlapped each other, mainly covering a large area in the central region of the peninsula. The standard distances displayed by the distribution of hotspots from the two satellites were larger than on the 8th March, due to the dispersion of hotspots that were clustered over the northwestern and southwestern region of

MASTURA MAHMUD



Fig. 4: The distribution of hotspots on four selected days in March 2002. The × symbol represents the NOAA data, △ represents the MODIS hotspots and ■ represents the DMSP data. The respective central locations
 (■) and standard distances are plotted on four selected days in March 2002

the peninsula. MODIS only detected two hotspots over Perlis, located in the northwestern peninsula. The moderate burning activity in the morning of 13th March was located along the northern part of the western coast and over the central part of the peninsula. Evening burning, detected by NOAA was mainly found over the central region of the peninsula. This is reflected by the overlapped areas of SDDs for each of the satellites, which was located mainly in the central state of Pahang

Table 3 shows that for the selected four days, all the Moran and Geary C indices were positive but less than one, indicating the hotspots were mostly clustered rather than dispersed. The NOAA hotspots consistently exhibited higher values of Moran I, with magnitudes of more than 0.61 for all the four selected days. This suggests that the active daytime hotspots were more spatially correlated or clustered compared to either the morning or nighttime burning activities. This trend was also displayed by the MODIS hotspots, which exhibited moderately high positive Moran indices. This is in contrast to the DMSP hotspots that exhibit lower magnitudes of indices compared to either the MODIS or NOAA satellites, implying that there was less spatial correlation or less clustering

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

compared to either the morning or evening time burning. The second-order spatial analysis that defines the local properties of distribution was investigated, to identify the neighbourhood patterns and clusters within the overall distribution (Table 4). The mean nearest neighbour distance (MNND) varied for different days. The MNND was large on the 6th for the NOAA hotspots compared to the hotspots from other satellites. Only the distribution of hotspots detected by MODIS exhibited a MNND index of more than 1, indicating random dispersion on the 13th March 2002 and a dispersed distribution on the 6th March. This was due to the small number of hotspots detected that are widely dispersed from one another. The nearest neighbour heirarchical (NNH) cluster analysis highlights the difference between the daytime and nighttime spatial variability for the four selected days. The spatial patterns do not indicate that the first-order clusters of daytime hotspots were followed by the first-order clusters of nighttime burning activities as depicted by the NNH1 notation in Fig. 5. The placements of the clusters of daytime and nighttime burning were different on all the selected four days. Only two of the second-order clusters were exhibited by the hotspots from the NOAA satellite, as shown on 6 and 13 March. They were grouped from the eight individual first-order clusters on 6

March and from 4 individual first-order clusters on 13 March (*Fig. 5*). No second-order clusters were found from the nine first-order clusters or the sixteen first-order clusters for the DMSP derived hotspots on 11 March. This was due to the hotspots that were dispersed over large distances throughout the peninsula.

However, they highlight the information on the different concentrations of burning activities that may be useful to fire managers such as the local Fire Department as a contingency plan to strategically tackle the concentrated clusters of fires if resources are limited. In this study, five hotspots per cluster were chosen as the threshold criteria. However, the threshold counts could be increased to limit or reduce the groups of clusters within a selected region.

An index of dissimilarity that functions as an indicator of relative change of concentration was presented to study the difference between the paired percentages from the hotspot distributions detected by the satellites. The dissimilarity indices between NOAA and DMSP for the four days investigated were moderate over the states in Peninsular Malaysia, indicating the patterns of distributions were approximately 30% to 70% different over the various states as shown in Table 5. The highest dissimilarity of 69% occurred on the 6th March. The spatial distribution shown in *Fig. 4a* demonstrate that

Carl Sum 1	Mean	Centre		Standard	Moran I	Geary C
Satellite	Longitude °E	Latitude °N	State	distance (km)		August, Pars
- Limit		der train	a) 06 M	ar 2002	- ALLAS	22.
NOAA	101.09	5.01	Perak	113.26	0.61	0.33
DMSP	102.31	4.07	Pahang	203.58	0.65	0.27
MODIS	101.42	5.15	Perak	167.70	0.15	0.89
			b) 08 M	ar 2002		
NOAA	103.57	2.41	Johor	117.73	0.73	0.17
DMSP	102.45	3.24	Pahang	130.23	0.34	0.50
MODIS	102.99	3.45	Pahang	64.96	0.55	0.10
			c) 11 M	ar 2002		
NOAA	102.70	3.02	Pahang	134.23	0.63	0.22
DMSP	102.13	3.53	Pahang	214.11	0.41	0.52
MODIS	100.38	6.51	Kedah	7.66	NA	NA
			d) 13 M	ar 2002		
NOAA	102.87	3.45	Pahang	77.22	0.63	0.19
DMSP	101.74	4.52	Pahang	203.26	0.51	0.44
MODIS	102.50	3.69	Pahang	136.15	0.85	0.17

TABLE 3 The centrographic statistics for the NOAA, DMSP and MODIS satellites

NA indicates data is not available.

Date	Satellites	Mean Nearest Neighbour Distance	Expected Neigbour Distance	Nearest Neighbour Index	Distribution
06 Mar 02	NOAA	5.73 km	20.10 km	0.28	cluster
06 Mar 02	DMSP	3.64 km	30.23 km	0.12	cluster
06 Mar 02	MODIS	101.53km	6.17 km	1.65	disperse
08 Mar 02	NOAA	2.25 km	10.35 km	0.22	cluster
08 Mar 02	DMSP	3.01 km	10.05 km	0.30	cluster
08 Mar 02	MODIS	17.74 km	46.84 km	0.38	cluster
11 Mar 02	NOAA	5.03 km	13.26 km	0.38	cluster
11 Mar 02	DMSP	3.57 km	10.88 km	0.33	cluster
11 Mar 02	MODIS	NA	NA	NA	cluster
13 Mar 02	NOAA	4.78 km	18.51 km	0.26	cluster
13 Mar 02	DMSP	4.50 km	23.04 km	0.20	cluster
13 Mar 02	MODIS	46.00 km	45.35 km	1.01	random

_	1.00	-	-		
	A	ъ	x	- E C	
	~	n		. P	- ma-
		_	-		

The second-order local properties of neighbourhood hotspot patterns of the three satellites

NA indicates data is not available.



Fig. 5: The nearest neighbour hierarchical (NNH) cluster for selected days in March 2002 for the hotspots detected by the NOAA, DMSP and MODIS satellites. NNH1 represents the first-order cluster and NNH2 represents the second-order cluster

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

				T	ABLE	5				
The	dissimilarity	indices	on	selected	days	between	NOAA	and	DMSP	satellites

Dates	Dissimilari	ty index between NOAA and DMSP and the various states
06 Mar 02	68.84	Johør, Kedah, Pahang, Terengganu
08 Mar 02	49.69	Kedah, Negeri Sembilan, Perak, Selangor, Perlis
11 Mar 02	32.05	Johor, Kedah, Melaka, Perak, Terengganu
13 Mar 02	47.75	Johor, Kedah, Melaka, Perak, Penang

most of the DMSP hotspots were clustered over the northwest and the southwestern coast of the peninsula, as specified by the mean centre location situated over the central region of the peninsula, with its larger standard distance, indicating the dispersion of its hotspots. In contrast, the NOAA hotspots were located over the northwestern states such as Kedah, Penang and Perak and substantiated by its mean centre and standard distance. Dissimilarity was found mainly in the states of Johor, Kedah, Pahang and Terengganu.

The distribution of hotpots on the 8th March with a high burning activity was illustrated by the concentration of hotspots over the northwestern, central and eastern coast in the states of Kedah, Kelantan and Pahang, but none over the southern or southwestern part of the peninsula. This shows that there exist a 50% difference in the patterns of hotspots between NOAA and DMSP particularly in the states of Kedah, Negeri Sembilan, Perak, Selangor and Perlis. Moderate dissimilarity indices indicating pattern change of hotspots between NOAA and DMSP on the 11th and 13th March mainly occurred over the states of Johor, Kedah, Melaka, and Perak.

One of the factors that hampered continuous monitoring over our equatorial region was the presence of clouds. The NOAA satellite only obtained partial coverage of the peninsula for only ten days within February and March. One of the disadvantages of the Terra MODIS satellite is that the overpass morning time is not coincident with the period of burning activities by the local farmers. MODIS does not always have a fixed area of daily coverage and its detection system requires a far higher saturation brightness compared to NOAA, which causes it to present a more conservative number of hotspots.

CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

The comparison of the hotspots over the Malaysian peninsula detected by the NOAA AVHRR, Terra MODIS and the DMSP OLS satellites showed that throughout February and March 2002, much biomass burning activities occurred during the drier and warmer than normal conditions over the peninsula. The different satellites with dissimilar overpass times, algorithms and resolutions showed different numbers of hotspots monitored throughout the day. The highest hotspots detected were by DMSP in February, followed by NOAA and the least by MODIS. Statistical relationships analysis for the hotspots from the three satellites was weak, with the strongest correlation between NOAA and DMSP.

There is a tendency of clustering in the burning patterns, particularly over the states of Perlis, Kedah and Pahang during early February in contrast to March. The day to day burning patterns on several case studies highlight a moderate index of dissimilarity, ranging from 30 % to 50% for most of the cases. Conspicuous vegetation fires were found over the paddy fields in the northwestern states of the peninsula in February compared to the logged over forests and peat land in Pahang during March.

In this study, the validation of hotspots with ground truth or sources of errors, resolution limitations or thresholds sensitivities of the hotspot detection from each satellite was not investigated, but raw data from the dataset of each satellite were utilized with the caveats and limitations. Although there may be a mismatch in accuracies, the study has successfully compared the spatial patterns of the hotspots derived from different satellites. The commotion of the active fires occurring throughout the day is revealed by the three satellites of differing overpass times. Burning activity that took place in the morning was found to be small, compared to the evening deeds. Nighttime burning as detected by the DMSP satellite may also include the remnants from the evening activity, hence a higher correlation found between the locations of the hotspots detected by the DMSP and NOAA satellites.

In view of the above findings, conceivably an effort to synchronize data from all the satellites currently available and also future ones could be fostered so that a near-continuous 24 hour monitoring of the burning activities can be achieved where resources could be pooled and minimized for the benefit of end users within the Southeast Asian region. This is one of the goals of the Global Observation of Forest Cover - Global Observation of Land Dynamics (GOFC-GOLD) under the Fire Implementation that may foster cooperation between the satellite producers and users (WWW5). Verification of the hotspots with ground truth data is therefore imperative to ascertain the accuracy of the hotspots, with improved algorithms.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author acknowledges the invaluable information made available from the research programmes currently ongoing in the Southeast Asian region. This paper would not have been possible without which information and is dedicated to the FFPMPII project, the MODIS project under Professor Chris Justice from the University of Maryland, USA, and Dr. Haruo Sawada from Japan, associated with the ANDES project. The author is also thankful to Winni Jonib.

REFERENCES

- ABDULLAH, M.J., IBRAHIM, M.R. and ABDUL RAHIM, A.R. (2002). The incidence of forest fire in Peninsular Malaysia: History, root causes, prevention and control. In Workshop on Prevention and Control of Fire in Peatlands, 19-21 March. Kuala Lumpur.
- BERITA HARIAN. (2002a, 14 February). 169 peneroka dekat KLIA diarah henti pembakaran.
- BERITA HARIAN. (2002b, 21 February). Dua kawasan catat kualiti udara tidak sihat.
- BOYD, A. (2002, 30 August). ASEAN pact nothing but smoke. Asia Times Online. http:// www.asiatimes.com/.

- BUONGIORNO, A., ARINO, O., ZEHNER, P C., COLAGRANDE AND GORLY, P. (1997). ERS-2 monitors exceptional fire event in Southeast Asia. Earth Observation Quarterly, 56-57, 1-6.
- CHEN, P., CHIA, A.S., GUPTA, A., HENG, W.C.A., HUANG, X., HUI, A., KWOH, L.K., LI, M., LIEW, S.C., LIM, K.H., LIM, O.K., LIN, I., MEISHEIMER, C., SHEN, C., STUSSI, N., XIONG, Z., CHEW, B.H., KUAN, S.H. and YAN, L.W. (2001). Space views of Asia. Tutorial, applications and Asia tour. In S.C. Liew (Ed.), *Centre for remote imaging, sensing and processing* (CD-ROM). National University of Singapore.
- ELVIDGE, C.D., BAUGH, K.E., KILN, E.A., KROEHL, H.W. and DAVIS, E.R. (1997). Mapping of city lights using DMSP operational line-scan system data. *Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing*, 63(6), 727-734.
- ELVIDGE, C.D., IMHOFF, M.L., BAUGH, K.E., HOBSON, V.R., NELSON, I., SAFRAN, J., DIETZ, J. B. and TUTTLE, B. T. (2001). Night-time lights of the world: 1994-1995. *ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry & Remote Sensing*, 56, 81-99.
- Gawan, S. (2001). Analisis risiko kebakaran hutan di Semenanjung Malaysia dan Sumatera pada bulan Julai hingga September 2002. (Undergraduate dissertation, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia, 2001).
- GIGLIO, L., DESCLOITRES, JUSTICE, C.O. and KAUFMAN, Y. (2003). An enhanced contextual fire detection algorithm for MODIS (Submitted).
- KAUFMAN, Y.J., JUSTICE, C.O., FLYNN, L.P., KENDALL, D., PRINS, E.M., WARD, D.E., MENZEL, W.P. and SETZER, W.P. (1998). Potential global fire monitoring for EOS-MODIS. Journal of Geophysical Research, 103, 32215-32238.
- LEVINE, N. (2002, May). CrimeStat II: A spatial statistics program for the analysis of crime incident locations. Ned Levine & Associates, Houston, Texas, and the National Institute of Justice, Washington, DC.
- LIEW, S.C., LIM, O.K., KWOH, L.K. and LIM, H. (1998). A study of the 1977 forest fires in Southeast Asia using SPOT Quicklook mosaics. In *International Geoscience and Remote* Sensing Symposium, 6-10 July. Seattle, USA.
- LIM, A., LIEW, S.C., ELVIDGE, C. and KWOH, L.K. (2004). Validating MODIS fire products

MULTIPLE SATELLITE DETECTION OF HOTSPOTS IN PENINSULAR MALAYSIA

using nighttime Landsat imagery. In International Symposium on Remote Sensing of Environment, 10-14 November, 2003, Honolulu, Hawaii.

- MAAROF, A.H. (2002). Fire prevention and protection in peat swamp forests: Pahang experience. In Workshop on Prevention and Control of Fire in Peatlands, 19-21 March,
 Kuala Lumpur.
- MEEHL, G.A. (1997). The south Asian monsoon and the tropospheric biennial oscillation. *Journal of Climate*, 10, 1921-1943.
- MEEHL, G.A. and ARBLASTER, J.M. (2002a). Indian monsoon GCM sensitivity experiments testing tropospheric biennial oscillation transition conditions. *Journal of Climate*, 15, 923-944.
- MEEHL, G.A. and ARBLASTER, J.M. (2002b). The tropospheric biennial oscillation and the Asian-Australian rainfall. *Journal of Climate*, 15, 7222-7444.
- MUSA, S. and PARLAN, I. (2002). The 1997/98 forest fire experience in Peninsular Malaysia. In Workshop on Prevention and Control of Fire in Peatlands, 19-21 March, Kuala Lumpur.
- NOAA MAGAZINE. (2002). NOAA predicts sea surface temperature will rise in eastern tropical Pacific. http://www.noaanew.noaa.gov/ stories/s860.htm
- ROY, D.P., BORAK, J.S., DEVADIGA, S., WOLFE, R.E., MIN ZHENG and DESCLOITRES, J. (2002a). The MODIS Land product quality assessment approach. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 83, 62-76.
- Roy, D.P., LEWIS, P.E. and JUSTICE, C.O. (2002b). Burned area mapping using multi-temporal moderate spatial resolution data. A bidirectional reflectance model-based expectation approach. *Remote Sensing of Environment*, 83, 263-286.
- ROY, D.P., GIGLIO, L., KENDALL, J.D. and JUSTICE, C.O. (1999). Multi-temporal active-fire based burn scar detection algorithm. *International Journal of Remote Sensing*, 20, 1031-1038.

- SANGARAN, J. (2001). Pengesahan titik-titik panas antara cerapan lapangan dan pelbagai satelit di Malaysia untuk tahun 2001. (Undergraduate dissertation, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, Malaysia, 2001).
- SAWADA, H. (2002). Outline of the study. Asia Pacific network for disaster mitigation using earth observation satellite (ANDES).
- SIEGERT, F. and HOFFMANN, A.A. (2000). The 1998 forest fires in east Kalimantan (Indonesia): A quantitative evaluation using high resolution, multitemporal ESR-2 SAR images and NOAA-AVHRR hotspot data. *Remote Sensing Environment*, 72, 64-77.
- THE JAKARTA POST. (2002, 27 February). Fires destroy plantations, forests in Riau.
- UTUSAN MALAYSIA. (2002a, 22 March). Kebakaran hutan juga berlaku di Malaysia.
- UTUSAN MALAYSIA. (2002b, 17 February). Cuaca panas cetuskan kebakaran.
- UTUSAN MALAYSIA (2002c, 15 February). Cuaca panas hingga Mac ini.
- WOOSTER, M.J., CECCATO, P. and FLASSE, S.P. (1998). Indonesian fires observed using AVHRR. International Journal Remote Sensing, 19, 383-386.
- WWW1. MODIS fire and thermal anomalies web site. http://modis-fire.gsfc.nasa.gov/rationale.asp.
- WWW2. Canadian Forest Service Research Web site. http://www.nrcan.gc.ca/cfs-scf/science/ resrch/forestfire_e.html.
- WWW3. NOAA-AVHRR fire detection within the IFFM project. http://www.iffm.org.id/ NOAA.html/.
- WWW4. Preliminary comparison of GLOBSCAR fire product to MODIS and DMSP-OLS products. http://www.geog.ucsb.edu~matzke/ globscar/globscar_modis_dmsp_compare.html.
- WWW5. GOFC-GOLD fire monitoring and mapping implementation team website. http:/ /www.gofc-fire.umd.edu/.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 31 - 44 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Preliminary Analysis of Quantitative Trait Loci Associated with Oil Quality in an Interspecific Cross of Oil Palm

RAJINDER SINGH¹, TAN SOON GUAN², JOTHI PANANDAM³, MUKESH SHARMA⁴ AND CHEAH SUAN CHOO¹⁺

¹Advanced Biotechnology and Breeding Centre, Biological Research Division, Malaysian Palm Oil Board (MPOB)

²Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

³Department of Animal Sciences, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia ⁴Research Department, United Plantations Berhad, Jenderata Estate, 36009 Teluk Intan, Perak ⁺Present Address: Asiatic Development Berhad, P.O Box 11224, 50740 Kuala Lumpur E-mail: rajinder@mpob.gov.my

Keywords: AFLP, RFLP, oil palm, genetic map, QTL analysis, oil quality

ABSTRACT

Amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) and restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) analysis are rapid and efficient techniques for detecting large numbers of DNA markers in oil palm. Both AFLP and RFLP markers were used to generate a genetic linkage map for oil palm. A map was constructed from AFLP and RFLP analysis of the progeny derived from an interspecific cross involving a Colombian Elaeis oleifera (UP1026) and a Nigerian Elaeis guineensis (T128). This interspecific cross was analysed to map genes associated with oil quality. For this cross, over 4,000 loci were detected using 53 AFLP primer pairs, and 60 informative cDNA probes as RFLP markers. Of these, 435 loci were informative and segregating in a 1:1 ratio, corresponding to DNA polymorphism heterozygous in one parent and null in the other. The results also showed that the male parent (Palm T128, a Nigerian E. guineensis) was more heterozygous than the female parent (Palm UP1026, Colombian E. oleifera) in the interspecific cross analysed. A framework map was generated for the male parent, T128, using JoinMapTM ver. 2.0. In the paternal E. guineensis map, 297 markers were ordered in 20 linkage groups (866 cM). The E. guineensis map was also used in scanning for quantitative trait loci (QTLs) controlling oil quality (measured in terms of carotene content and iodine value). QTLs associated with carotene content and iodine value (IV) were detected.

INTRODUCTION

The oil palm is a perennial crop which belongs to the genus *Elaeis* and the family Palmae. The crop was originally domesticated in Africa and is now extensively cultivated in Asia and Latin America as well. Within the genus *Elaeis*, two species are distinguished, which are, the economically important oil palm, *Elaeis guineensis*, native to Africa and a South American relative, *Elaeis oleifera*. Fortunately, the *E. guineensis* and *E. oleifera* hybridize readily, producing fertile offspring in spite of their difference in origin.

Oil palm is one of the most important oil bearing crops, being by far the highest oil yielder per unit of planting area. The past 30 years have seen a rapid increase in the production of palm oil in the world, a greater than 7-fold increase from about 3 million tonnes in 1970 to over 23 million tonnes in 2001. Despite the progress, additional gains in agricultural productivity are needed at an ever faster pace due to competition from other vegetable oils and fats. Although traditional breeding continues to play an important role in yield enhancement, it is, however, impeded by the long selection cycle (10-12 years) (Oboh and Fakorede, 1989) and the enormous resources (land, labour and field management) required for oil palm breeding programmes. The ability to select early (at the nursery stage, perhaps) will thus have a great impact in reducing the time and resources required for varietal improvement in oil palm. This makes marker-assisted selection (MAS) a very attractive proposition as it has the potential to reduce the time to develop new improved varieties.

The burgeoning field of molecular marker technology has provided tools for rapid gathering of genetic information about higher organisms, including agricultural species. In recent years, molecular markers have played a pivotal role in plant research, such as in studying evolutionary relationships among related species (Bennetzen and Freeling, 1993), the cloning of genes (Kazan *et al.*, 1993) and as diagnostic tools.

Perhaps the most widespread application of DNA markers has been in the construction of genetic maps, which can be used to determine the chromosomal locations of genes affecting either simple or complex traits (Paterson et al., 1988). Genetic maps are useful in fundamental genetic research and tree improvement activities that include population management and marker-assisted breeding and selection. Molecular markers associated with selected traits of interest on a genetic map can be assayed in any tissue at any stage of development. This makes them ideal as selection markers in breeding programmes. The application of such DNA based diagnostics has been termed as molecular breeding (Leemans, 1993). The main advantage of this method over the conventional breeding process is its potential for reducing the time required for varietal development (Mazur and Tingey, 1995). The availability of probes of interest will allow breeders to select at the nursery stage thereby reducing the cost and time scale of breeding programmes.

Isozymes, restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) and random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers have been applied to oil palm to investigate genetic diversity (Shah et al., 1994), to fingerprint clones (Mayes et al., 1996; Cheah et al., 1996) and in attempts at identifying markers for somaclonal variation (Cheah and Wooi, 1993; Rival et al., 1998). A number of these marker systems have also been applied to genetic mapping in oil palm. RFLP had been applied to oil palm linkage mapping (Mayes et al., 1997; Cheah et al., 1999). The map reported by Mayes et al. (1997) harbors 97 RFLP markers in 24 groups of two or more markers and was generated by using the progeny of a selfed E.guineensis cross. Recently, Moretzsohn et al. (2000) reported genetic linkage mapping for a single controlled cross of oil palm using RAPD markers and the pseudo-testcross mapping strategy. The status of genetic mapping in oil palm, however, is still considered preliminary at this stage. Furthermore, genetic linkage mapping of oil palm is currently carried out only in a limited number of laboratories. Considerable effort is required to generate dense maps and to resolve the number of linkage groups to 16, which is the haploid chromosome number of oil palm (Maria et al., 1995). The ability to generate dense maps and to incorporate molecular marker technologies into existing breeding programmes can significantly accelerate many breeding and selection endeavors in oil palm.

In this study, the techniques of amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) and restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) were applied for construction of a genetic linkage map in oil palm. The map was constructed using progeny palms derived from an interspecific E. oleifera x E. guineensis cross of oil palm. The AFLP technique which was described by Vos et al. (1995) is known to be an efficient PCR based method for the identification of a large number of molecular markers. It has found widespread application in genetic mapping. The technique has been used to generate a large number of markers in the construction of linkage maps in potato (van Eck et al., 1995) and rice (Nandi et al., 1997). The technique is also useful for mapping quantitative traits (Powell et al., 1997). Furthermore, AFLP markers linked to specific traits can be adapted to large scale, locus specific applications (Bradeen and Simon, 1998) and converted into diagnostic tools. In the oil palm, AFLP markers were found to be largely inherited in a Mendelian manner, indicating their suitability for the genetic mapping in this plant (Rajinder et al., 1998).

Co-dominant RFLP markers are unequalled for many applications and have been successfully used in the construction of linkage maps for many plant species including oil palm (Mayes *et al.*, 1997; Cheah *et al.*, 1999). RFLP is often used to place complementary DNAs (cDNAs) on genetic linkage maps. The value of RFLP markers in this study lies in the fact that cDNA clones with known gene identities are used and these markers, being robust, will serve well as landmarks for the eventual integration of

PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

available maps to form an oil palm consensus map. The main objective of this study was to construct dense genetic maps of the oil palm using both AFLP and RFLP markers for locating QTLs associated with oil quality.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Plant Materials and Preparation of Genomic DNA

A mapping family of 77 F_1 palms derived from the cross UP1026 (*E. oleifera*) x T128 (*E. guineensis*) was analyzed. The palms were planted and evaluated at United Plantations, Teluk Intan, Perak. The female parent, UP1026, is a Colombian *E. oleifera* and the male parent, T128, is a Nigerian *E. guineensis* which produces oil with high iodine value (IV). DNA was prepared from young spear leaves by the method of Doyle and Doyle (1990).

AFLP Procedure

The AFLP assay was carried out by using the GIBCO BRL AFLP Analysis System 1 essentially as described in the manufacturer's manual, with some minor modifications. 350 ng of genomic DNA was digested with 3.2 μ l of *Eco*RI and *Mse*I (1.25 units/ μ l each) at 37°C for 4 hours. After heat inactivation of the enzymes at 70°C, the fragments were ligated to the *Eco*RI and *Mse*I adapters in the presence of T4 DNA ligase at 20°C for 3 hours. A preselective amplification was then carried out by amplifying a 10-fold dilution of the ligation mixture.

For selective amplification, a selected *Eco*RI primer (with three selective nucleotides) was labeled with γ^{33} P-ATP using T4 polynucleotide kinase. The labeled *Eco*RI primer was mixed with a selected *Mse*I primer (three selective nucleotides containing dNTPs) at a ratio of 1:9 to form a primer master mix. The PCR reaction mixture contained 5µl of a 30 fold diluted pre-amplified DNA, 5µl of primer master mix, 0.5 unit of *Taq* DNA polymerase, 2µl of a 10x PCR buffer in a final volume of 20 µl. PCR conditions as recommended by the manufacturer were adopted for use with the Perkin Elmer 9600 thermocycler.

Aliquots of the post PCR mixture were heated with an equal volume of formamide dye [98% (v/v)], 10 mM EDTA, 0.2% (w/v)bromophenol blue, 0.2% (w/v) xylene cyanol) at 90°C for 3 min. A 5 µl sample was electrophoresed in a 6% (w/v) polyacrylamide sequencing gel with 7.5M urea. The gel was dried and exposed to an X-ray film (Kodak XK-1) at -80°C for 2-3 days.

Southern Hybridization

DNA samples (20µg) were digested with restriction enzymes as recommended by the manufacturer. Initially a sample of 10 palms was each digested with 14 restriction enzymes (*Bam*HI, *Bcl*, *Bgl*I, *Dra*I, *Eco*RI, *Hinc*II, *Hind*III, *ScaI*, *SstI*, *XbaI*, *Bgl*II, *DraI*, *Eco*RI, *Hinc*II, *Hind*III, *ScaI*, *SstI*, *XbaI*, *Bgl*II, *DraI*, *Eco*RI, *Hinc*II, *Hind*III, *ScaI*, *SstI*, *XbaI*, *Bgl*II, *DraI*, *Eco*RI, *Hinc*II, *Hind*III, *ScaI*, *SstI*, *XbaI*, *Bgt*NI, *Hae*III, *RsaI* and *TaqI*). The restricted DNA fragments were separated by electrophoresis in 0.9% agarose gel in 1xTPE (90mM tris-phosphate buffer, 2mM EDTA pH 8.0) buffer and then transferred onto nylon membranes (Hybond N+, GE Healthcare) by vaccum blotting using 0.4M sodium hydroxide (NaOH) as the transfer buffer.

The set of 140 samples were then hybridized in turn with each candidate probe to identify the probe/restriction enzyme combination that gave a segregation profile. In the case of more than one enzyme showing polymorphism with a particular probe, the probe/enzyme combination that gave a single/low copy clear co-dominant profile was selected for screening the entire mapping family.

DNA probes were labeled with ³²P-dCTP (deoxycytidine 5'-[y - 32P] triphosphate) by the method of Feinberg and Vogelstein (1984). HindIII and HindIII/EcoRI digested lambda phage DNA served as molecular weight markers for the estimation of the sizes of the hybridized fragments. Pre-hybridization and hybridization were carried out in glass tubes in a rotisserie oven at 65°C. Membranes were pre-hybridized for 3 hours in a pre-hybridization buffer as follows: 5 X SSPE solution (3M NaCl, 0.2M sodium phosphate, 20mM EDTA pH 8.0), 0.5% SDS, 5X Denhardt's solution (0.1% ficoll, 0.1% polyvinylpyrolidone, 0.1% albumin bovine fraction V) and 100µg/ml denatured herring sperm DNA. The pre-hybridization buffer was removed and replaced with hybridization buffer containing 5 X SSPE solution (3M NaCl, 0.2M sodium phosphate, 20mM EDTA pH 8.0), 0.5% SDS, and 100µg/ml denatured herring sperm DNA. Labeled probes were denatured by heating in a boiling water bath for 10 minutes and plunging into ice before addition to hybridization buffer. The probe was added to a concentration of about 1-3 x 106 cpm/ml. Hybridization was carried out overnight at 65°C. Hybridized membranes were washed twice in 2 X SSC (0.3M

NaCl, 30mM trisodium citrate pH 7.0) and 0.1% SDS at 65°C for 15 minutes each time, followed by a single wash in 1 X SSC (0.15M NaCl, 15mM trisodium citrate pH 7.0) and 0.1% SDS at 65°C for 10 minutes. The membranes were then autoradiographed at -80°C using X-ray films with intensifying screens for 7-10 days.

RFLP Probes

The RFLP probes used in this study were cDNA clones obtained from various cDNA libraries (young etiolated seedlings, mesocarp, kernel and root) constructed previously as described by Cheah (1996). cDNA clones from a subtracted flower library (Cheah and Rajinder, 1999) were also used to screen the mapping family.

The cDNA clones were picked at random from the various cDNA libraries. Plasmid DNA was prepared from individual clones by using the QIAGEN tip-20 plasmid prep kit (Qiagen, USA). The presence of the DNA insert was examined by restriction digestion (*Eco*RI) followed by electrophoresis on a 1.5% agarose gel. cDNA clones with insert sizes larger than 500 base-pairs (bp) were selected to screen for their abilities to detect RFLP in the mapping family. Probes for mapping were derived from the selected plasmids as polymerase chain reaction (PCR) amplified DNA fragments. Plasmids of selected probes were maintained as frozen glycerol stocks at -80°C.

Data Analysis

For AFLP and RFLP markers, segregation in the interspecific mapping family was scored on the basis of presence or absence of the band. The

parental origin of the markers was also recorded. Two separate data sets were obtained, one for each parent. The pseudo-testcross strategy (Grattapaglia and Sederoff, 1994) was used for analysis of the segregation data. In the pseudotestcross configuration, each parent is, in turn, considered the heterozygous individual. Segregation is expected to be in the 1:1 ratio for bands present in the heterozygous parent (Aa) but absent in the homozygous parent (aa). A χ^2 test (P<0.05) was performed to test the null hypothesis of 1:1 segregation on all the scored segregating bands. Table 1 illustrates the types of Mendelian segregation of the AFLP and RFLP patterns obtained in the offsprings of the interspecific cross scored as pseudo-testcross.

Map Construction

Map construction was carried out using the JoinMap[™] version 2.0 computer programme (Stam and van Ooijen, 1995). The interspecific cross was analysed as a family resulting from a cross between two heterozygous diploid parents. The family type code "CP" was used in the analysis.

Linkage groups were identified by stepwise lowering of the LOD score from 7 to 2. LOD scores of 2 and 3 were found to give unlikely groupings. The LOD score of 4.0 was the lowest stringency at which acceptable linkages were performed. A ripple was performed after the addition of every three markers and map distances were calculated using the Kosambi map function. JoinMap[™] contructs maps in three cycles. In the first two cycles, markers which exceeded the JUMP threshold are excluded. In the third cycle the markers excluded are inserted,

		TABLE 1		
Segregation of AFL	P and RFLI	markers in	the progeny	of the UP1026
(E. oleifera	a) x T128 (1	E. guineensis)	interspecific	cross

Parental genotypes Aa x Aa	Expected Mendelian ratio 3:1 (F ₂)	AFLP band pattern on autoradiogram								Remarks
		Parents		Offspring						
		0	G	1	2	3	4	5	6	E. oleifera and E.
		train the		-	-		-		-	guineensis parent heterozygous
Aa x aa	1:1 (testcross)	0	G	1	2	3	4	5	6	E. oleifera parent
aa x Aa	1:1 (testcross)	ō	G	ī	2	3	4	5	6	E. guineensis
			and the	3	1			-		heterozygous
PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

with no restriction on the JUMP threshold. In this study, the ordering produced in the second cycle was used for map construction.

Quantitative Data Analysis

Oil was extracted from ripened bunches for use in subsequent analysis. The criteria used to determine ripened bunches were as described by Corley and Tinker (2003), one loose fruit per bunch (irrespective of palm height). A total of three bunches per palm were used for oil extraction and as such three independent readings of oil quality were determined per palm. The following traits were then evaluated: (i) carotene content and (ii) iodine value (IV). The carotene content and IV are quantitative traits and they represent measures of oil quality. QTL mapping analysis was performed using interval mapping implemented by MapOTL version 3.0 (van Ooijen and Maliepaard, 1996). Genomic wide significant threshold levels to declare a significant OTL was determined as described by van Ooijen (1999).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Analysis of the E. oleifera (UP1026) x E. guineensis (T128) Mapping Family

(1) AFLP Analysis

The E. guineensis parent (Palm T128) and E. oleifera parent (Palm UP1026) and a sample of F, individuals were tested against a large number of combinations of EcoRI primers and Msel

(A)

primers (both with three selective nucleotides). This was done in order to identify primer pairs which amplified bands that (i) were segregating in the mapping family and (ii) provided easy to read AFLP profiles. Each band was considered to represent a single locus of a dominant marker. On this basis, the presence of a fragment in a parent indicated that the parent was either homozygous dominant or heterozygous for that locus.

In the AFLP assay, a total of 26 AFLP primer pairs were used to screen the two parents and a small subset of the mapping family. The AFLP banding patterns obtained for one of these primer pairs is shown in Fig. 1. The number of bands observed in the population ranged from 13 to 99 (Table 2). A lower number of bands were usually obtained with primers which had CG dinucleotides. Primers with a high AT content usually gave higher numbers of bands. This indicates low frequency of CG dinucleotides in interspecific hybrids of oil palm, similar to that reported for other plant genomes (Moore et al., 1993). Fig. 1 shows how the AFLP markers are easily scored as segregating alleles by the presence or absence of an amplified DNA band among the progeny. All 26 of the AFLP primer pairs analysed revealed scorable polymorphisms, thus illustrating the efficiency of AFLPs for analysis of the mapping family. Since all the AFLP primer pairs tested were suitable for detecting segregation in the interspecific cross, they were all used for screening the entire mapping family. The data obtained also provided confidence in



Fig. 1: Autoradiogram showing the segregating loci revealed by (A) AFLP markers and (B) RFLP markers. P1 is the female parent (E. oleifera), P2 is the male parent (E. guineensis) and the rest are the F, progeny. Arrows indicate segregating markers

35

RAJINDER SINGH ET AL.

Primer combination	Total no. of amplified	Segregation ac	cording to model	Total no. of segregating	No. of markers
	bands	Aa x aa (UP1026 heterozygous)	aa x Aa (T128 heterozygous)	bands	fitting goodness of fit to 1:1 ratio (P<0.05)
EACT/MCTA	57		11	11	9
EACT/MCAC	46		6	6	6
EACT/MCAA	99		11	11	8
EACT/MCTT	70	2	6	8	6
EACT/MCAT	75	2	11	13	9
EACT/MCTC	54	4	9	13	9
EACT/MCTG	45		4	4	4
EACT/MCAG	61	2	5 *	7	6
EACA/MCTC	52	1	7	8	7
EACA/MCAT	67	1	8	9	9
EACA/MCAA	86	4	8	13	10
EACC/MCTC	49	. 1	4	5	4
EACC/MCAC	34		2	2	inter production
EACC/MCAT	57	1	6	7	7
EACC/MCAA	67	1	9	11	8
EAAG/MCTG	87		12	12	10
EAAG/MCAG	54	to a lista in the start	8	8	6
EAAG/MCTC	78	2	4	6	4
EAAG/MCTA	78	5	15	20	11
EAAG/MCAC	70	and a second second	8	8	8
EACG/MCAC	13		1	1	I AND I READ
EACG/MCTC	34		1	1	1
EACG/MCAA	31	2	2	4	2
EAGG/MCAA	79	2	4	6	4
EAGG/MCAC	37	a na sente prome	4	4	3
EAGC/MCAT	63	1	2	3	3
Total	1543	30	172	202	160
Mean	59.3	1.2	6.6	7.8	6.2

 TABLE 2

 Segregation of AFLP markers in the pseudo-testcross revealed by a subset of 26 primer pairs used in analysis of the *E. oleifera* x *E. guineensis* progeny

extending the analysis of the mapping family using RFLP markers.

(ii) **RFLP** Analysis

As described in the Materials and Methods section, screening for polymorphic RFLP markers was performed by testing probes derived from cDNA clones on the digested DNA from the parents and 10 individual palms. Parental and progeny DNA were digested with 14 restriction enzymes. A total of 288 cDNA probes from various cDNA libraries were tested for copy number and ability to detect segregation in the progeny. The results are tabulated in Table 3.

Of the 288 clones screened, 85, or 29.5%, showed polymorphisms with at least one

restriction enzyme. Restriction polymorphism in plants can be caused either by base substitution or alterations in DNA structure due to insertion/ deletion events (Burr et al., 1983). In the case of a base change having occurred at a locus, this change is detectable with the enzyme whose restriction site involves the base that is altered. However, DNA rearrangements such as and insertions, deletions, inversions translocations will cause the spatial arrangement of large regions of the genome containing several restriction sites to be altered. As such, this change can be detected with several enzymes. In this study, the majority of the probes used were also found to be polymorphic with more than one restriction enzyme, suggesting that polymorphisms

PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

resulted more often from insertion/deletion events compared to individual nucleotide substitution.

(iii) Segregation Analyses of AFLP and RFLP Markers in the Mapping Family

The segregation of AFLP markers was examined with 76 F_1 plants derived from the cross of *E. oleifera* x *E. guineensis.* Although there are 77 F_1 plants from this cross, a previous study (Rajinder and Cheah, 1999) had shown that one of the progeny palms is a contaminant. This palm was thus excluded from the analyses.

The inheritance of the AFLP markers in the progeny was examined using the pseudo-testcross mapping strategy described by Grattapaglia and Sederoff (1994). In this strategy, it is assumed that in a cross between two individuals, markers which are heterozygous in one parent and null in the other will segregate in the ratio 1:1 in their F, progeny following a testcross configuration (Aa x aa or aa x Aa). The term "pseudo-testcross" is used because the testcross mating configuration of the markers is only inferred after analyzing for segregation of the markers in the offsprings. Either the male or the female parent can be fixed as the heterozygous individual contributing the segregating bands. The term "one-way" or "two-way" pseudo-testcross is used when one or both parents involved in the analysis are heterozygous, respectively.

A total of 3,792 AFLP loci were scored in the progeny using 53 AFLP primer pairs. 363 of these AFLP loci turned out to be informative and were segregating in the population progeny. On average, the number of informative bands per primer pair was 7. The number of segregating bands obtained was also found to be significantly correlated with the total number of bands obtained (r = 0.70). This confirms our earlier results (Rajinder and Cheah, 1999) that an increase in pattern complexity of the total amplified DNA bands corresponds to a significant increase in informative markers for mapping.

Chi-square analysis was performed for each of the segregating bands scored to determine if segregation deviated from the expected 1:1 ratio. At a significance level of P<0.05, 309 of these markers (about 85%) segregated in the expected ratio. Approximately 15% of the segregating bands displayed skewed segregation ratios. This shows that a high number of AFLP markers in the oil palm is stably inherited from parents to offsprings following the rules of Mendelian inheritance. Generally, all of the segregating markers scored were in the pseudo-testcross configuration, and either the male parent was heterozygous and the fragment was absent in the female parent (aa x Aa) or vice versa (Aa x aa). Surprisingly, the F, type of segregation pattern, where bands were common to both parents at the same locus and segregating in the 3:1 ratio in the progeny (Aa x Aa), were not detected.

Of the 85 RFLP probes showing polymorphisms with at least one restriction enzyme, 60 were selected for screening the entire mapping family. In cases where more than one restriction enzyme showed polymorphisms with a particular probe, the probe/restriction enzyme combination that showed clear, single copy profile was selected to screen the family.

cDNA library (source of probes)	Number of probes screened	Number of probes showing polymorphism with at least one restriction enzyme		
Kernel	20	10		
Mesocarp	40	15		
Germinated seeds	60	20		
Flower	120	25		
Subtracted flower	20	5		
Root	7	2		
Others*	21	strategies and an as 8 house watering a		
Total	288	85		

TABLE 3

Polymorphisms detected by cDNA probes in the interspecific hybrid mapping family

Probes obtained from research collaborators within/outside MPOB

The 60 probes screened detected 72 segregating RFLP loci (Table 4). All the RFLP loci were scored using the pseudo-testcross strategy as described above for AFLP markers. The male or female parent was fixed as the heterozygous individual contributing to the segregating band. At a significance level of P<0.05, 68 of the 72 RFLP loci examined (94%), followed the expected 1:1 segregation ratio.

In this study, the majority of the segregating bands were found to be inherited from the male parent (palm T128, E. guineensis). Of the 435 (363 AFLP and 72 RFLP) segregating markers identified as segregating in the 1:1 ratio, 356 (290 AFLP and 66 RFLP) (82%) were heterozygous in the male parent and only 79 (18%) in the female parent, the Colombian E. oleifera. This confirmed that the male parent is more heterozygous than the female parent, E. oleifera. It is therefore concluded that it would be more appropriate to analyse this cross as a "oneway pseudo-testcross' in which the male, E. guineensis is considered to be the heterozygous parent and the Colombian E. oleifera the homozygous parent.

As for the female parent, a different set of AFLP enzyme combination (e.g. PstI/MseI) or a different marker system (e.g. RAPD) may have to be used to scan different regions of the genome to generate sufficient markers which are informative for mapping. The low level of heterozygosity detected in the Colombian *E. oleifera* could be explained by the fact that *E. oleifera* is found in scattered areas in the South American country (Rajanaidu, 1986). This could have encouraged inbreeding, resulting in a relatively high homozygous genome.

(iv) Linkage Analysis

Linkage analysis was carried out using JoinMapTM version 2.0. As explained in the previous section, there were sufficient markers generated to develop a genetic map for the male *E. guineensis* parent, T128, while insufficient markers were available to generate a map for the *E. oleifera* female parent.

A total of 290 AFLP markers and 66 RFLP markers were used to generate a linkage map for the male T128 parent at a LOD score of 5.0. A detailed description of the genetic map is in progress with a graphical representation of the map. Essentially the genetic map consists of 20 linkage groups containing at least 3 markers each. The total genetic distance covered by these markers was about 1,434 cM and the average distance between markers was about 5 cM. Generally, 297 of the markers analysed (about 83%) by the software could be linked to at least 2 other markers indicating good genome coverage. At a LOD score of 5.0, the RFLP and AFLP markers were found to be well distributed over all the 20 linkage groups.

The genetic map described above represent the relative order of genetic markers, and their relative distances from one another, along each chromosome of the oil palm. The oil palm has a haploid chromosome number of 16 (Maria *et al.*, 1995). As such more markers will definitely be required to resolve the map further to the basic chromosome number of 16.

(v) Quantitative Traits

A major objective in this study was to map QTLs associated with oil quality and yield in oil palm. The oil quality parameters analysed were carotene content and iodine value (IV). Oil that is high in carotene is desirable as there is a growing demand for natural sources of carotene for food colouring (Corley and Stratford, 1998). Iodine value, on the other hand, is a measure of the unsaturation of fats and oils. In order to allow for both edible and non-food usability of the oil, increasing the proportion of unsaturated fatty acids (particularly oleic acid) is desirable. Markers for these traits are important as they are potentially useful as early selection tools for oil palm breeding.

The two parents of the original cross could not be evaluated for these traits (carotene content and IV). Therefore, the trait values of the F, progeny cannot be compared to the parental generation. Interspecific hybrids typically display intermediate behaviour of these traits. However, since one of the individuals crossed is highly heterozygous, the F, is expected to be heterozygous, and a significant level of genetic variation is also expected to exist in the progeny. The existence of this genetic variation was explored in the QTL mapping experiment. Extreme phenotypes with trait values greater than and less than the standard deviation from the mean were observed for the carotene content and IV. The frequency distribution for the carotene content and IV did not differ significantly from normality assessed by Shapiro-Wilk statistics calculated by using PROC

PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

UNIVARIATE (SAS, 1988). The mean, standard deviation and sample size for the carotene content and IV are shown in Figs. 2 and 3 respectively. Sample sizes for the analysis of oil quality were less than the total number of individuals genotyped. This is because some of the individuals of the cross have yet to bear fruits, and, as such, oil analysis could not be earried out. The correlation estimated among the two traits were, however, not significant at χ =0.05 (r = 0.42).

(vi) QTL Analysis

QTL analysis was performed using interval mapping implemented by MapQTL version 3.0 (van Ooijen and Malieepard, 1996). In this study, for the interspecific cross, a linkage map was generated for the male parent, T128, only. The linkage map for the T128 male parent was constructed with about 300 markers in 20 linkage groups. This marker density was considered suitable for use in QTL loci detection.

For carotene content, a total of two putative QTLs were detected in two different linkage groups (2 and 15). However, a genomic region was declared significant only when the genomic wide empirical threshold level calculated at the P<0.05 significance level was above 3.1. The threshold level was calculated according to van Ooijen (1999). Only the QTL detected at linkage group 2 met this criteria. *Fig. 4* shows linkage group 2 with the significant QTL for carotene content. Generally, the genetic region controlling the QTL is located within the locus EAGG/



Fig. 2: Frequency distribution for carotene content in the interspecific hybrid F₁ progeny used for QTL mapping



Fig. 3: Frequency distribution for IV in oil in the interspecific hybrid F₁ progeny used for OTL mapping

MCAA-340 and EACT/MCAT-590, in a region of about 20 cM. As for the IV parameter, a significant QTL was detected in linkage group 4 (*Fig. 5*). The region associated with the QTL was between the marker EACC/MCAT-195 and EAAG/MCAG-280, in a region spanning about 8 cM.

A summary of the QTLs detected in the analysis of the interspecific hybrid progeny is presented in Table 5. Generally the number of QTLs detected was low and this could be explained by the small size of the mapping family used. The cross has been redone and an additional 45 palms will be evaluated for both map construction and QTL analysis in the future. Furthermore, in this study stringent genomicwide empirical thresholds were used to declare a QTL. The stringent threshold is important to reduce the number of false positives (van Ooijen, 1999). Nevertheless the QTLs detected do explain a significant proportion of the variation observed for these traits (28% for carotene content, and 24% for IV). The markers as such hold promise as candidates for incorporation into the oil palm breeding programme to improve on oil quality traits.



Fig. 4: QTL analysis for carotene content in Group 2



Fig. 5: QTL analysis for IV in Group 4

PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

1	Type of markers	No. probes/primer pairs evaluated	No. of polymorphic loci identified	No. of markers showing 3:1 segregation	No. sho segreg ga	of markers owing 1:1 gation in the ametes of	No. of markers meeting goodness of fit to 1:1 or %1 ratio	
		Margale, creditinates			T128	UP1026	3:1 rano	
	RFLP	60	72	-	66	6	68	
	AFLP	53	363	eres bei finnel in	290	73	309	

TABLE 4 Summary of RFLP and AFLP analyses of the interspecific hybrid mapping family

TABLE 5 QTLs for carotene content and IV found to be significant at an empirical significant threshold level of 3.10 (P<0.05)

Trait	Linkage Group	Closest marker	LOD score	% variance explained by QTL
Carotene content	2	EAGG/MCAA-340	3.52	27.8
IV	4	EACC/MCAT-195	3.14	23.6

CONCLUSION

Both the AFLP and RFLP techniques proved to be reliable and robust techniques in generating molecular markers for oil palm. The high yield of information generated with these markers was obvious in this study. On average, the AFLP technique alone detected 59 loci per primer pair used, while the RFLPs were also easily detected in the mapping family analysed. The dominant AFLP markers and the co-dominant RFLP markers were also readily analysed in the interspecific hybrid progeny using the pseudotestcross model. A majority of the markers (about 80%) in the family studied met the goodness of fit to the expected segregation ratios indicating stable Mendelian inheritance of the AFLP and RFLP markers in the interspecific hybrid cross analysed.

Using the two-way pseudo-testcross strategy in the interspecific cross, a data set for segregating probes was obtained for both parents. However, the male parent (Palm T128) was found to be more heterozygous than the female parent (Palm UP1026), as reflected in the data set collected. The data set generated for the male parent was about 6 times more than that for the female parent. Therefore, sufficient markers could be obtained to generate a map for the T128 male parent suitable for QTL detection. However, not enough markers were available for this purpose in the data set for the UP1026 female parent.

Framework maps were constructed for the RFLP and AFLP marker data based on a LOD score of 5.0. Markers that could not be placed on the maps at this LOD score were considered as unlinked. In the T128 map (male parent of the interspecific hybrid), 297 markers were placed on a framework map defining about 1,434 cM of total map distance. There were 20 linkage groups with an average length of 72 cM.

The proportion of unlinked markers in the mapping population was about 20% and is comparable with those reported elsewhere (Grattapaglia and Sederoff, 1994). These unlinked markers are either artifacts (segregating in Mendelian ratios by chance) or they sample parts of the genome where there are few other markers, in which case they will be very valuable (Marques et al., 1998).

Framework maps are important tools with which to scan the genome for QTLs. In spite of the limited sample size available for this study, QTLs controlling carotene content and IV were mapped using the interspecific cross progeny. Increasing the number of individual palms analysed and further saturation of the map will very likely lead to the discovery of more QTL positions controlling traits of interest. It is for this purpose that efforts were made to re-create the interspecific cross to plant out sufficient numbers of the progeny. At present there are an additional 45 palms that have come to fruiting and will be included in future analysis.

The map produced in this study is specific to the individual used as parents. Such "singletree" genetic maps therefore may not be representative of the species. For this reason, several maps need to be generated for a number of individuals in order to create a consensus map (Gentzbittel et al., 1995). In the formation of a consensus map, single tree maps are linked using landmark markers, or anchor probes. Codominant markers such as RFLP especially serve well as anchor probes, since the probes are highly robust and stable. RFLP probes can also be easily shared by different laboratories and easily identified in different genetic maps, if the nomenclature for naming the probes is retained. It is for this reason that considerable efforts were made in developing and applying the RFLP technique in this study, although it was considerably laborious and expensive. This same concept extends to QTL mapping. The QTLs mapped in this study are individual specific. Homologies of linkage groups or homologies of QTLs in different oil palm maps have not yet been established at this time. Such homologies will have to await the localisation of common RFLP or other types of markers, for example simple sequence repeats (SSR) on the different oil palm genetic maps. The most important result to come from this study are that the QTL analysis has yielded a number of significant QTLs for oil quality, which influence a significant proportion of the total phenotypic variance (excess of 20%). To the knowledge of the authors, this is also the first report on the detection of QTLs associated with oil quality for oil palm. It is envisaged that the markers identified in this study at the very least can assist in the design of a more effective breeding programme for improving oil quality.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank the Director-General of MPOB for permission to publish this paper. The interspecific cross used in this study was obtained from United Plantations, Teluk Intan, Perak.

REFERENCES

- BENNETZEN, J.L. and FREELING, M. (1993). Grasses as a single genetic system: genome composition, collinearity and compatibility. *Trends in Genetics*, 9, 259-261.
- BRADEEN, J.M. and SIMON, P.W. (1998). Conversion of an AFLP fragment linked to the carrot Y2 locus to a simple, co-dominant, PCR-based marker form. *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 97, 960-967.
- BURR, B., EVOLA, E., BURR, F.A. and BECKMAN, J. S. (1983). The application of restriction fragment length polymorphism to plant breeding. In J. K. Setlow and A. Hollaender (Eds.), Genetic engineering: principles and methods (Vol. 5, p. 45-59). New York and London: Plenum Press.
- CHEAH, S. C. and WOOI, K. C. (1993). Application of molecular marker techniques in oil palm tissue culture. In *Proceedings of the International* Symposium on Recent Developments in Oil Palm Tissue Culture and Biotechnology (p.163-170). Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- CHEAH, S. C. (1996). Restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) in oil palm. Project Completion Report No. 0011/95, 4 July 1996, Malaysian Palm Oil Board (MPOB).
- CHEAH, S. C., OOI, L.C-L. and RAHIMAH, A. R. (1996). Quality control process for oil palm tissue culture using DNA probes. *PORIM Information Series*, (40), 3.
- CHEAH, S. C. and RAJINDER, S. (1999). Gene expression during flower development in the oil palm. Project Completion Report No. 0057/ 98, 16 July 1999. Malaysian Palm Oil Board (MPOB).
- CHEAH, S. C., RAJINDER, S. and MARIA, M. (1999). Generating molecular tools for oil palm improvement through the genomics approach. In *Proceedings of the 1999 PORIM International Palm Oil Conference-Agriculture* (p. 297-320). Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
- CORLEY, R. H. V. and STRATFORD, R. (1998). Biotechnology and oil palm: opportunities and future impact. In *International Oil Palm*

Interit, not should be

PRELIMINARY ANALYSIS OF QUANTITATIVE TRAIT LOCI ASSOCIATED WITH OIL QUALITY

Conference: Commodities of the Past, Today and the Future (p. 19). Bali, Indonesia.

- CORLEY, R. H. V. and TINKER, P. B. (2003). Care and maintenance of oil palms. In *The Oil Palm* (4th ed., p. 287-326). Blackwell Science.
- DOVLE, J. J. and DOVLE, J. L. (1990). Isolation of plant DNA from fresh tissue. FOCUS, 12, 13-15.
- FEINBERG, A. P. and VOGELSTEIN, B. (1984). A technique for radiolabelling DNA restriction endonuclease fargments to high specific activity. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 137, 266-267.
- GENTZBITTEL, L., VEAR, F., ZHANG, Y. X., BERVILLE, A. and NICOLAS, P. (1995). Development of a consensus linkage RFLP map of cultivated sunflower (*Heliantus annus* L.). *Theoretical* and Applied Genetics, 90, 1079-1086.
- GRATTAPAGLIA, D. and SEDEROFF, R. (1994). Genetic linkage mapping in *Eucalyptus grandis* and *Eucalyptus urophylla* using a pseudo-testcross mapping strategy and RAPD markers. *Genetics*, 137, 1121-1137.
- KAZAN, K., MANNERS, J. M. and CAMERON, D. F. (1993). Inheritance of random amplified polymorphic DNA markers in an interspecific cross in the genus Stylosanthes. Genome, 36, 50-56.
- LEEMANS, J. (1993). Ti to tomato, tomato to market. A decade of plant biotechnology. *Bio/Technology*, 11, S22-S26.
- MARIA, M., CLYDE, M. M. and CHEAH, S. C. (1995). Cytological analysis of *Elaeis guineensis* (*tenera*) chromosomes. *Elaeis*, 7, 122-134.
- MARQUES, C. M., ARAUJO, J. A., FERREIRA, J. G., WHETTEN, R., MALLEY, D. M. O., LIU, B. H. and SEDEROFF, R. (1998). AFLP genetic maps of Eucalyptus globules and E. tereticornis. Theoretical and Applied Genetics, 96, 727-737.
- MAYES, S., JAMES, C. M., HORNER, S. F., JACK, P. L. and CORLEY, R. H. V. (1996). The application of restriction fragment length polymorphism for the genetic fingerprinting of oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.). *Molecular Breeding*, 2, 175-180.
- MAYES, S, JACK, P. L., MARSHALL, D. F. and CORLEY, R. H. V. (1997). Construction of a RFLP genetic linkage map for oil palm (*Elaeis* guineensis Jacq.). Genome, 40, 116-122.

- MAZUR, B. J. and TINGEY, S. V. (1995). Genetic mapping and introgression of genes of agronomic importance. *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, 6, 175-182.
- MOORE, G., GALE, M. D., KURATA, N. and FLAVELL, R. B. (1993). Molecular analysis of small grain cereal genomes: current status and prospects. *Bio/Technology*, 11, 584-589.
- MORETZSOHN, M.C., NUNES, C. D. M., FERREIRA, M. E. and GRATTAPAGLIA, D. (2000). RAPD linkage mapping of the shell thickness locus in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.). *Theoretical* and Applied Genetics, 100, 63-70.
- NANDI, S., SUBUDHI, P. K., SENDHIRA, D., MANIGBAS, N. L., MANDI, S. S. and HUANG, N. (1997). Mapping QTLs for submergence tolerance in rice by AFLP analysis and selective genotyping. *Molecular and General Genetics*, 255, 1-8.
- OBOH, B.O. and FAKOREDE, M.A.B. (1989). Optimum time for yield evaluation and selection in the oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.). Oleagineux, 44, 509-513.
- PATERSON, A. H., LANDER, E. S., HEWITT, J. D., PETERSON, S., LINCOLN, S. E. and TANKSLEY, S. D. (1988). Resolution of quantitative traits into Mendelian factors, using a complete linkage map of restriction fragment length polymorphisms. *Nature*, 335, 721-726.
- POWELL, W., THOMAS, W. T. B., BAIRD, E., LAWRENCE, P., BOOTH, A., HARROWER, B., MCNICOL, J. W. and WAUGH, R. (1997). Analysis of quantitative traits in barley by the use of Amplified Fragment Length Polymorphisms. *Heredity*, 79, 48-59.
- RAJANAIDU, N. 1986. Elaeis oleifera collection in Central and South America. In Proceeding of International Workshop on Oil Palm Germplasm and Utilisation (p. 84-94). Selangor, Malaysia.
- RAJINDER, S., CHEAH, S. C. and RAHIMAH, A. R. (1998). Generation of molecular markers in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis*) using AFLP analysis. FOCUS, 20, 26-27.
- RAJINDER, S. and CHEAH, S. C. (1999). Analysis of the inheritance of AFLP markers in an interspecific cross of oil palm using the pseudo-testcross strategy. *Journal of Oil Palm Research (Special Issue)*, 64-73.

- RIVAL, A., BERTRAND, L., BEULE, T., COMBES, M.C., TROSLOT, P. and LASHERMES, P. (1998). Suitability of RAPD analysis for the detection of somaclonal variants in oil palm (*Elaeis* guineensis Jacq). Plant Breeding, 117, 73-76.
- SAS. (1988). SAS/STAT User's guide (version 6.03). SAS Institute. Cary, North Carolina, USA.
- SHAH, F. H., RASHID, O., SIMONS, A. J. and DUNSDON, A.. (1994). The utility of RAPD markers for the determination of genetic variation in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis*). *Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, 89, 713-718.
- STAM, P. and VAN OOIJEN, J. W. (1995). JoinMap[™] version 2.0, Software for the calculation of genetic linkage maps. CPRO-DLO, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- VAN ECK, H. J., VAN DEER VOORT, J. R., DRAAISTRA, J., VAN ZANDVOORT, P., VAN ENCKEVORT, E., SEGERS, B., PELEMAN, J., JACOBSEN, E., HELDER, J. and BAKKER, J. (1995). The inheritance

and chromosomal localization of AFLP markers in a non-inbred potato offspring. *Molecular Breeding*, 1, 397-410.

- VAN OOIJEN, J. W. and MALIEPAARD, C. (1996). MapQTL[™] version 3.0, Software for the calculation of QTL positions on genetic maps. CPRO-DLO, Wageningen, The Netherlands.
- VAN OOIJEN, J.W. (1999). LOD significance thresholds for QTL analysis in experimental populations of diploid species. *Heredity*, 83, 613-624.
- Vos, P., HOGERS, R., BLEEKER, M., RIJANS, M., VAN DER LEE, T., HORNES, M., FRIJTERS, A., POT, J., PELEMAN, J., KUIPER, M. and ZABEAU, M. (1995). AFLP: A new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Research, 23, 4407-4414.

as sea of the first the sea of the state of the sea of

the second s

seneric indone man men official preserve

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 45 - 50 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Influence of Wet and Dry Seasons on the Breeding of Barn Owl and Its Relation to Rat Damage

HAFIDZI M. N.¹, M. NA'IM¹ AND AKBAR, Z.²
¹Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture, 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia
²School of Environmental and Natural Resource Sciences, Universiti Kebangsaan Malaysia, 43600 UKM, Bangi, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Tyto alba, Rattus argentiventer, biological control, seasonal, crop damage

ABSTRACT

The effects of wet and dry season paddy crops on the breeding of barn owl (Tyto alba) and its relation to rat damage was studied in the district of Tanjung Karang, Selangor, Malaysia. The first site was at Sungai Burung where the nest box density was one box per 45 hectares of rice field. The second study site was in Sawah Sempadan which involved three experimental plots designed to investigate the effects of nest box density on rat damage, with densities of 1 box per 5, 10 and 20 hectares. The nest box occupancy rates for both seasons were 72.2% but can increase to 83.3% during the wet season crop. Mean clutch size during the dry and wet season crops were 5.38 and 4.07 respectively. Hatching success was 85.7% during the dry season and 79.2% during the wet season. Fledging success for both seasons were greater than 93%. Higher occupancy and hatching success during the dry season crop suggests that T. alba responded in a functional way in dealing with increasing rat numbers. Lower rates during the wet season crop serve to limit population growth of T. alba. Damage levels to paddy crop at Sungai Burung, during the tillering stage for both seasons were less than 2%. Damage levels during the booting and harvesting stages were also < 2% but increased to 3.22% and 3.39% respectively for the dry season crop. Higher crop damage level during the dry season can be associated with limited alternative food sources and the rats rely on paddy as their main food source. Damage levels at Sawah Sempadan were low throughout both crop seasons with mean crop damage levels of 0.65 + 0.10% for the 5 ha/box plot, 0.78 ± 0.28% for the 10 ha./ box and 1.57 ± 0.15% for the 20 ha./box plot. This indicates that higher density of T. alba at Sawah Sempadan can control rats better throughout paddy crop seasons.

INTRODUCTION

Natural breeding of the barn owl (*Tyto alba*) for the purpose of rat control in rice fields in Malaysia was started in 1989 when the Malaysia Department of Agriculture established the first project in Tanjung Karang, Selangor, by providing artificial nest boxes (Shamsiah and Goh, 1991). *Tyto alba* tend to confine its feeding activities within a designated area around the nest box. By investigating the dietary remains, presented in the form of a pellet (Glue, 1974), the diet of *T. alba* can be determined, which also reflects the prey composition of the area (Webster, 1974). A long-term study undertaken by Marti (1988) showed that food habits of *T. alba* shows a similar pattern in the same region, where it continuously preys on small mammals but rarely take other birds as food. Champbell *et al.* (1987) noted that in areas with similar climate and range of habitat, the prey species of *T. alba* remains consistent. They also noted that food habits of *T. alba* in British Columbia varied among different geographical areas, but *Microtus townsendii* remain the primary prey in all seasons, with the highest proportion recorded during the autumn season. In ricefield areas in Malaysia, *T. alba* mainly feeds on rats, especially the ricefield rat *Rattus argentiventer* with occasional shrews and birds (Hafidzi and Naim, 2003).

Normally there are two rice planting seasons in a year in Malaysia. The first is the main season which coincides with the wetter months of the year and a second off-season which coincides with the dryer months. The objective of this study was to investigate the effect of wet and dry seasons on the breeding and feeding behaviour of barn owl.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The study was conducted in Sungai Burung and Sawah Sempadan, Tanjung Karang Selangor Malaysia from January to December 2002. Rice is planted in these areas by direct seeding. There are two planting seasons per year: the dry season which lasts from April to August and, the wet season, from November to March. Rice varieties planted in the area are the MR 102, MR 129 and MR 185. In the Sungai Burung area, the time of planting is later than in Sawah Sempadan. For instance, in the dry season, planting in Sawah Sempadan started in February and in March for Sungai Burung. Eighteen artificial nest boxes set up by the Department of Agriculture in November, 2001 were chosen for this study. The nest boxes were modeled against the original design by Duckett (1976). The nest box density at Sungai Burung was 45 ha/box, although density may vary as these boxes were erected according to suitability of sites and ease of inspection. Nest occupancy rates were determined by the proportion of nest box with eggs, owlets and fledgling adults. Owlets were considered fledgling adults at 8 - 9 weeks from hatching (Smal, 1990). These parameters were used to compare the effects of wet and dry seasons on T. alba breeding.

Rat damage assessment was divided into three rice crop growth stages: tillering (4 weeks after seeding), booting (8-9 weeks after seeding) and harvesting (two weeks before harvesting) and divided into wet and dry seasons. The methods involved sampling along ten parallel linear rows of rice crop chosen at random in each plot. Ten quadrats of 0.25 X 0.25m for tillering stage and 0.5 X 0.5m, 5 meters apart were sampled along each row for 100 quadrats. The method of Buckle (1994) was used to assess rice crop damage.

% Damage =
$$\underline{a \times c}$$

 $b + c$

Where : a = number of damaged hills out of 100 samples

- b = number of undamaged tillers in the hills with damage
 - c = number of damaged tillers in the hills with damage

The rat damage levels at Sungai Burung were then compared with damage levels at Sawah Sempadan from three predetermined experimental plots with nest box densities of 5 ha, 10 ha and 20 ha/box. Fifteen artificial nest boxes were set up in August 30, 2001 in a designated area at Sawah Sempadan, where none has previously been established. The nearest nest box was more than one kilometer away to reduce impact on owl movement from neighbouring nest boxes. The boxes were arranged in three clusters consisting of five boxes covering an area of 5 (Plot A), 10 (Plot B) and 20 (Plot C) hectares as shown in Fig. 1. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was used to statistically analyze damage levels between wet and dry seasons at each of the three planting stages; tillering, booting and harvesting. Correlation was used to compare nest box density and mean damage levels for both wet and dry seasons in combination.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSIONS

Breeding of Barn Owl in the Wet and Dry Seasons

The census showed there were two breeding seasons: during the wet season from January to April and during the dry season from June to September. Occupancy rates throughout the dry and wet seasons were consistent i.e. 72.2% (Fig. 2). However, November and December census showed that occupancy during the wet season can be as high as 83.3%. This indicates that occupancy rates may vary between planting season. Based on a yearly census carried out from 1993 - 1997, Hafidzi et al. (1999) showed that in the same area, the proportion of boxes with eggs were consistently higher during the first planting season (December to January) than the second planting season (July to August). They also found that the proportions of boxes with owlets were generally twice in February and

INFLUENCE OF WET AND DRY SEASONS ON THE BREEDING OF BARN OWL



Fig. 1: Experimental plots representing three nest box densities. Plot A(5ha/box), Plot B (10 ha/box) and Plot C (20 ha/box).
represents nest box

March compared to September. Therefore it can be deduced that wet and dry seasons may influence nest box occupancy rates, but these require a wider census over a number of years.

Smal (1988) showed that nest box occupancy of *T. alba* in an oil palm plantation varied from month to month. He also found there was a marked seasonal variation, with relatively few boxes being occupied in April and May and that peak occupancy, as high as 80 - 90%, were recorded from October to January (Smal, 1990). Lee and Ho (1999) found that nest occupancy rate in cocoa reached 70% at peak breeding season.

Table 1 shows that *T. alba* produce more eggs during the dry season i.e. mean clutch size of 5.38 compared to 4.07 during the wet season. Percent hatching was also higher in the dry season compared to wet season i.e 85.7% and 79.2% respectively. This suggest that although there were indications that the proportion of nest boxes occupied were higher during the wet season, egg production per breeding pair may be higher during the dry season. This suggests

that *T. alba* may respond in a functional way towards prey availability (Erlinge *et al.*, 1984). In the dry season, food resources may be limited and therefore rats may rely heavily on the rice crop, increasing its density in the ricefield. This in turn may increase the hunting success of *T. alba.* Higher food intake leads to a higher clutch size and hatching success. However, the rate of fledging between dry and wet season was similar i.e. highs of 93%. This suggest that the lower clutch size and hatching success during the wet season is compensated for by correspondingly high fledging rates.

The high recruitment of *T. alba* in the preceeding dry season leads to a higher nest box occupancy in the wet season. Lower prey availability, as a greater range of food resource may lead to a dispersal of the rat population, which in turn cause lower egg production and hatching success. This compensatory mechanism leads to a stable *T. alba* population and keeps their numbers within the carrying capacity of the rice field habitat to prevent over predation on rats.



Fig. 2: Mean occupancy of barn owl T. alba in wet and dry season in ricefield area

HAFIDZI M. N., M. NAIM AND AKBAR Z.

	1000		1.0	
TA	DI	12	- 1	
1.75	DI	11.	-	

Dictuing success of barn own 1. and in wet and uty scalor in recticit a ca								
Season	Mean Clutch	Egg	Hatched (n)	Hatched (%)	Fledging (n)	Fledging (%)		
Dry	5.38	70	60	85.72	56	93.3		
Wet	4.07	53	42	79.25	39	93.8		

Breeding success of barn owl T. alba in wet and dry season in ricefield area

In oil palm plantation the average clutch size is 6.6 (Lenton, 1984). The higher clutch size reflects the higher density of rats in oil palm plantations, which may reach 300 – 400 per hectare (Wood, 1969). In contrast, density estimates of rats in rice field ranged from 120 – 240 rats/ha. (Leung *et al.*, 1999). Oil palm plantations can sustain higher rat populations as food is almost available throughout the year, in the form of oil palm fruits, as opposed to paddy fields which are seasonal. The continuous breeding season from June/July to September/ October and followed by a second clutch from October to January (Smal, 1990), supports this observation.

Rat Damage Analysis in the Wet and Dry Seasons

Incidence of rat damage in both wet and dry seasons at the tillering stage were less than 2% (*Fig. 2*). In all three development stages, damage to crop in the dry season were significantly higher than in the wet season (ANOVA; Tillering, F = 4.41, P < 0.05; Booting, F = 4.56, P < 0.0001; Harvesting, F = 5.02, P < 0.001). In the wet season, damage levels did not exceed 2% for all stages of growth. However, damage recorded in the dry season crop showed a marked increase from 1.34% to 3.22% and 3.39% at the booting and harvesting stages. Rats only start to breed

when rice crop reaches its reproductive stage, producing the first litter during the booting stage and subsequent litter during the ripening stage and shortly after harvest (Lam, 1983; Leung *et al.*, 1999). This partly explains the higher damage during ripening and harvesting. Also, during dry season, there is limited alternative food available. To maintain their sustenance, the rat population will converge on the paddy fields, leading to higher damage.

However, damage census in Sawah Sempadan showed that damage levels were low and stable for both the wet and dry season crops (Table 2). This can be attributed to the higher density of nest boxes in the area i.e. 20 ha, 10 ha and 5 ha per nest box. At such high density, T. alba has much better control of rats. Even, when comparing the three experimental plots in Sawah Sempadan, damage levels in the 20 ha. per nest box recorded a consistently higher damage levels than the other two plots i.e. $1.57 \pm 0.15 \%$ compared to $0.65 \pm 0.10\%$ for the 5 ha/box plot and $0.78 \pm 0.28\%$ for the 10 ha/box plot. Fig. 3 shows the extent of crop damage in Sawah Sempadan was highly correlated to nest box density $(R^2 = 0.96)$.

Difference in % damage for all three crop stages between dry and wet seasons were significant.



Fig. 2: Rat damage in ricefield area in wet and dry season

INFLUENCE OF WET AND DRY SEASONS ON THE BREEDING OF BARN OWL

TABLE 2

Nest box density	Tiller (% da	ring mage)	Boo (% da	ting mage)	Harve (% da	esting mage)	Average
in-bial son line	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Dry	Wet	Stringist's
5 ha/box	0.53	0.57	0.58	0.66	0.79	0.77	0.65 + 0.10
10 ha/box	0.23	0.89	0.79	0.85	1.03	0.93	0.78 + 0.28
20 ha/box	1.57	1.54	1.36	1.53	1.83	1.62	1.57 + 0.15



Fig. 3: Correlation between nest box density and % crop damage

CONCLUSION

Nest box occupany by the barn owl, *Tyto alba*, varies between the dry and wet season crops, with possibly higher occupancy rates during the latter. Clutch size and hatching success is higher during the dry season crop but compensated for by the high fledging rates during the wet season crop. Damage levels were higher at the booting and tillering stages of paddy crop during the dry season. However, with high *T. alba* density, damage throughout crop stages in both seasons remain low and stable.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The authors would like to thank Universiti Putra Malaysia for funding this work through IRPA research grant (01-02-04-0430-51490). Thanks to Mrs Asnah Booty for permission to carry out research work at the barn owl propagation area in Tanjung Karang. Special thanks are also extended to Mr Nordin Mamat of the Vertebrate Section of the Crop Protection and Plant Quarantine Services Division, Malaysia

REFERENCES

- CHAMPBELL, R. W., MANUWAL, D. A. and HARRESTED, A. S. (1987). Food habits of the common barn owl in British Columbia. *Can. J. Zool.*, 65, 578 – 586.
- BUCKLE, A. P. (1994). Damage assessment and damage surveys. In A.P. Buckle and R.H. Smith (Eds.), *Rodent pests and their control* (p. 197-218). CAB International.
- DUCKETT, J. E. (1976). Owls as major predators of rats in oil palm estates with particular reference to the barn owl (*Tyto alba*). *Planter*, 52, 4–15. Kuala Lumpur
- ERLINGE, S., GORANSSON, G., HOGSTEDT, G., JANSSON, G., LIBERG, O., LOMAN, J., NILSON, I. N., VON SCHANTZ, T. and SMLVEN, M. (1984). Can vertebrate predators regulate their prey? *The American Naturalist*, 123, 125 – 133.
- GLUE, D. E. (1974). Food of barn owl in Britain and Ireland. Bird Study, 21, 200-210.

- HAFIDZI, M..N, ZULKIFLI, A and KAMARUDDIN, A. A. (1999). Barn owl as a biological control agent of rats in paddy fields. In Symposium on Biological Control in Tropics (p. 85-88), 18-19 March. Serdang, Malaysia: Mardi Training Centre.
- HAFIDZI, M.N. and MOHD. NA'IM. (2003). Prey selection by barn owls in rice fields in Malaysia. In G.R. Singleton, L.A. Hinds, C.J. Krebs and D.M. Spratt (Eds.), Rats, mice and people: rodent biology and management (p. 220-223). ACIAR Monograph (96), 220 223.
- LAM, Y. M. (1983). Reproduction in the rice field rat *Rattus argentiventer*. *Malay. Nature J.*, *36*, 249–282.
- LEE, C.H. and Ho, D.T. (1999). Barn owl Field biology and rat control. In Symposium on Biological Control in Tropics (p. 85-88), 18-19 March. Serdang, Malaysia: Mardi Training Centre.
- LENTON, G. M. (1984). The feeding and breeding ecology of barn owl *Tyto alba* in Peninsular Malaysia. *IBIS*, 126, 551-575.
- LEUNG, L.K.P., SINGLETON, G.R., SUDARMAJI and RAHMINI. (1999). Ecologically-based population management of rice field-rat in Indonesia. In *Ecologically based rodent* management (p. 305-318).

- MARTI, D. E. (1988). A long term study of food niche dynamics in the common barn owl: Comparison within and between population. *Can. J. Zool.*, 66, 1803 – 1812.
- SHAMSIAH, M. and GOH, N. S. (1991). The use of barn owl (*Tyto alba*) to control rice field-rat. An experience in Seberang Perak. *MAPPS Newsletter*, 15(2), 20.
- SMAL, C. M. (1988). Barn owl (*Tyto alba*) for the control of rats in agricultural crops in the tropics. In Symposium on Biological Control of Pests in Tropical Agricultural Ecosystem (21 p.), 1-3 June. Bogor. Seameo- Biotrop.
- SMAL, C. M. (1990). Research on the use of barn owls *Tyto alba* for biological control of rats in oil palm plantations: 1986 – 1989. In J. Sukaimi, Z. Zawawi, K. Paranjothy, A. Darus, N. Rajanaidu, S.C. Cheah, M.B. Wahid and I.E. Henson (Eds.), *Proc. Intl. Palm Oil Dev. Conf.* (p. 342 – 356), 5 – 9 September 1989. Kuala Lumpur.
- WEBSTER, J. A. (1973). Seasonal variation in mammal contents of Barn owl castings. *Bird Study*, 20, 185 – 196.
- Wood, B. J. (1969). Population studies on the Malaysian wood rat *Rattus tiomanicus* in oil palms, demonstrating an effective new control method and assessing some older ones. *Planter*, 45, 510 – 526. Kuala Lumpur.

The strate and the second of the

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 51 - 56 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Leaf Area Index Model for Oil Palm FFB Yield Prediction

W. I. WAN ISHAK AND M. A. AWAL¹

Department of Biological & Agricultural Engineering, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia ¹ Department of Farm Power Machinery, Bangladesh Agriculture University, Bangladesh E-mail: awalbau@gmail.com

Keywords: Simulation model, growth, LAI, simulated yield and oil palm

ABSTRACT

Accurate and reliable computer simulation models are alternative sources of information for replacing or enhancing information derived from costly and arduous field experiments, especially for perennial crops like oil palm. Leaf area index (LAI) is an important parameter, which is used in growth modelling of crops. Direct or destructive method of LAI measurement is time consuming, laborious and involves high cost. Hence, in the oil palm, LAI need to be measured indirectly. A computer simulation model was developed using Visual C++ to simulate leaf area index for indirect estimation of LAI. Leaf area index was modelled based on OPSIM approach (Van Kraalingen, 1985). A significant relationship was found between the simulated leaf area index and measured leaf area index. A good relationship was also found between simulated LAI and Yield of the oil palm, which could be used as an indirect means of yield prediction of the oil palm. In sensitivity analysis, results showed that the simulated LAI was sensitive to both Specific Leaf Area (SLA) and extinction coefficient 'k'. From this study, it can be concluded that the LAI could be fairly estimated using the computer program developed.

INTRODUCTION

Estimation of leaf area is one of the important variables to determine plant growth. Leaf area is a valuable index of plant growth and is related to the accumulation of dry matter, plant metabolism and yield. Crop quality and maturity may also be related to leaf area. Accurate estimates of leaf area index (LAI) are needed in ecosystem analysis because of the importance of canopy structure in gas, water, carbon and energy exchange (Chen and Cihlar, 1996; White et al., 1997; Hu et al., 2000). LAI is defined as the projected leaf area per unit of ground area (Lang et al., 1991). This important parameter is difficult to measure directly in oil palm. Direct or destructive method is time consuming, laborious and involves high cost. It is often not permitted in oil palm for possible negative effects on yield. Hence, accurate, rapid and easiest approach for determination of leaf area in oil palm is essential.

Computer simulation modelling is increasingly being used to simulate LAI, forecast yields, determines risk, and/or provides support for management decisions (McCown et al., 1996; Heiniger et al., 1997). Simulation models can replace expensive and time-consuming experiments and can be used as a research tool to support problem solving, risk assessment, and decision-making. It is especially convenient in perennial crops such as oil palm where field experiments are costly and time-consuming (Cox, 1996). The objective of this study was to develop a model to simulate leaf area index of the oil palm, which can be used to estimate crop yields.

LAI and Oil Palm Growth

Fig. 1 shows the basic growth process of the oil palm. Solar radiation is the major driving factor for physical growth and development of the plant. The physical yield of a crop can be determined by dry matter production, dry matter distribution and the dry matter content of the harvestable parts. Dry matter production is driven by physiological processes, such as gross photosynthesis, maintenance respiration and conversion of assimilate into biomass. In the short term, environmental conditions affect these

processes in different ways: light influences gross photosynthesis and temperature affects mostly maintenance respiration. Leaf area is an important determinant of light interception. Growth of the leaves is a function of the total dry matter production and the fraction of dry matter partitioned into the leaves. The growth of the oil palm can be divided into vegetative growth and generative or reproductive growth. In other words, total dry matter consists of vegetative dry matter and bunch dry matter. Dry matter production is determined as the sum of production in fronds, bunches and trunk. Bunch dry matter production is usually estimated from fresh bunch weight and a factor of 0.53 is used when converting fresh to dry weight (Corley, et al., 1971).

Simulation of Leaf Area Index

Leaf area index is the key parameter of a plant growth model, which is related to photosynthesis, accumulation of dry matter, plant metabolism and yield. Therefore, simulation of LAI is important to simulate yield. LAI can be simulated in two ways, such as based on growth function of the leaflet and experimental empirical formula. In this model, LAI was simulated based on growth function and then adjusted based on experimental findings.

Leaf area index is a function of leaf area per palm where the Leaf Area per Palm (LAP) can be expressed as a function of the leaflet weight and specific leaf area as shown in equation 1:

$$LAP = f(SLA, WOL)$$
 (1)

where, SLA is the specific leaf area in m² WOL is the weight of leaflet in g

SLA or specific leaf area is dependent on age and varies from $3.5 - 8.0 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$ (Corley, 1971). However, based on experimental results, SLA was assumed to vary from $2.5 - 5.5 \text{ m}^2/\text{kg}$ in this model.

Mathematically, leaf area index (LAI) can be calculated as shown in equation 2:

$$LAI = LAP \times PD / 10000$$
(2)

where, PD is the planting density in number of palms per hectare.



Fig. 1: Basic growth process of the oil palm (Modified from Weng, 1999)

The following shape factor and Dry-mass models were used to adjust the simulated LAI. The Dry-mass model is as shown in equation 3,

$$L_a = 99 \text{ x } L_m \tag{3}$$

where, L_m is the mass of leaflet in g, and L_a is the rectangular leaflet area in cm². The Shape factor model is represented in equation 4:

$$L_{w} = 0.80 \text{ x} (L \text{ x W}) = 0.80 \text{ x L}$$
 (4)

where, L_{ac} is the actual leaflet area in cm², L is the leaflet length in cm, and W is the leaflet width in cm. So, actual leaflet area can be calculated as shown in equation 5:

$$L_{ac} = 99 \ge 0.80 \ge L_{m}$$
 (5)

Fig. 2 shows the flow charts of oil palm LAI simulation model (OPLAIM). In the algorithm, as represented in the flow chart, leaves growth (increasing) rate, death (decreasing) rate due to senescence and pruning, and weight of leaves were calculated. Then leaf area per palm and leaf area index were calculated. Direct (destructive) method was used to measure LAI from field (Awal, 2006).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Relationship between Simulated LAI and Palm Age Fig. 3 shows the relationship between simulated LAI and the palm age. A significant linear relationship was found between palm age and simulated LAI. Results indicate a high degree of association (r = 0.97) between palm age and simulated LAI with a standard error of estimation of 0.9. Simulated results also show that LAI of palms increases up to year 16 and then remains constant beyond that age.

Relationship between Simulated LAI and Measured LAI

Fig. 4 shows the relationship between simulated and measured LAI. The simulated LAI was overestimated compared to the measured LAI. Results show that the simulated LAI was overestimated by 13% for younger (2 to 3-year old) palms and by about 40% for palms over 15years old.



Fig. 2: Flow chart of the oil palm LAI simulation model

Palm Age versus. Simulated LAI and Measured LAI Fig. 5 shows the simulated and measured LAI for 2 to 16-year old palms. The simulated LAI values were approximately the same as the actual LAI values for immature palms. However, the simulated LAI values were higher compared to measured LAI values for older palms. This is not surprising, since the simulation was done based on ideal conditions, whereas field data was collected from different treatment plots. The simulated LAI can be considered sufficiently accurate for comparison with the measured LAI.

Relationship between Simulated LAI and Simulated Yield

Fig. 6 shows the relationship between simulated LAI and simulated yield. A strong linear relationship was observed between the simulated LAI and the simulated yield with correlation coefficient, (r) = 0.96 and coefficient of determination $(R^2) = 0.92$ with the standard



Fig. 3: Relationship between palm age and simulated LAI

error of estimation being 1.21. Results indicate that the simulated yield can be adequately estimated from simulated LAI with $P \le 0.001$.

Sensitivity Analysis

Sensitivity analysis was used to ascertain how a given model output varies with the input parameters. On the basis of this experience, specific leaf area and radiation extinction coefficient (k) were used to determine this sensitivity on the simulated LAI (Fig. 7). Results show that LAI was highly sensitive to both parameters. Fig. 7 shows that the sensitivity of LAI to both parameters was similar in case of increasing values of these parameters, however, specific leaf area (SLA) was more sensitive than "k" in case of decreasing values of these parameters. It is therefore important to accurately estimate the value of "k" to be used in the model in order to minimize errors in the estimation of LAI of oil palm.



Fig. 4: Relationship between measured LAI and simulated LAI



Fig. 5: Simulated LAI and measured LAI for 2 to 16-year old palms

LEAF AREA INDEX MODEL FOR OIL PALM FFB YIELD PREDICTION





CONCLUSION

This leaf area index (LAI) model enables researchers or farm managers to evaluate palm management strategies. It can trigger palm and soil management strategies if they are used as warning systems, e.g. monitoring leaf growth in relation to drought risks and nutrients deficiency. The LAI simulation results were reasonably similar to the field data. However, the predictions by simulation models may differ from actual field observations for a variety of reasons, and such deviations can be revealed instantly by traditional or by new field monitoring techniques. In this study, the LAI field experimental data was for 2-16 year old palms (Awal, 2006). A strong linear relationship with a correlation coefficient (r) of 0.96 was found between the measured LAI and the simulated LAI, and between palm age and simulated LAI (r = 0.97). This simple simulation technique could replace the laborious manual method or costly instruments, to predict the LAI and oil palm FFB yield.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors wish to acknowledge Associate Prof. Dr. Johari bin Endan, Faculty of Engineering, UPM, and Dr. Mohd. Haniff Harun, MPOB for constructive comments. We also acknowledge to the Malaysia Palm Oil Board (MPOB) for every logistic support to complete this research.

REFERENCES

Awal, M.A. (2006). Image-based measurement of leaf area index and radiation interception for modelling of oil palm. (Ph.D thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, 2006).



Fig. 7: Sensitivity of simulated LAI with change of SLA and extinction coefficient

- CHEN, J. and CIHLAR, J. (1996). Retrieving leaf area index of boreal conifer forests using Landsat TM images. *Remote Sens. Environ.*, 55, 153-162.
- CORLEY, R.H.V., GRAY, B.S. and NG, S.K. (1971). Productivity of the oil palm in Malaysia. *Exp. Agric.*, 7, 9-16.
- Cox, P.G. (1996). Some issues in the design of agricultural decision support systems. Agricultural Systems, 52, 355-381.
- HEINIGER, R.W., VANDERLIP, R.L. WILLIAMS, J.R. and WELCH, S.W. (1997). Developing guidelines for replanting grain sorghum: III. Using a plant growth model to determine replanting options. Agron. J., 89, 93-100.
- HU, B., INANNEN, K. and MILLER, J.R. (2000). Retrieval of leaf area index and canopy closure from SASI Data over the BOREAS Flux Tower Sites. *Remote Sens. Environ*, 74, 255-274.
- LANG, A.R.G., MCMURTRIE, R.E and BENSON, M.L. (1991). Validity of surface area indices of Pinus radiata estimated from transmittance of the sun's beam. Agric. For. Meteorol., 57, 157-170.
- MCCOWN, R.L., HAMMER, G.L., HARGREAVES, J.N.G., HOLZWORTH, D.P. and FREEBAIRN, D.M. (1996). Apsim: A novel software system for model development, model testing, and simulation in agricultural research. *Gric. Systs.*, 50, 255-271.
- VAN KRAALINGEN, D.W.G. (1985). Simulation of oil palm growth and yield. (Doctoral Thesis, 106 p., Dept. of Theoretical Production Ecology, Agricultural University Wageningen, 1985).

WENG, C.K. (1999). Towards higher yield potential, production and its prediction in oil palm. PORIM Bulletin, (39), 33-45.

supportions Prove Section 2018, Name + to Bornson of

WHITE, J.D., RUNNING, S.W., NEMANI, R., KEANE, R.E. and RYAN, K.C. (1997). Measurement and remote sensing of LAI in rocky mountain montane ecosystems. *Cam. J. For. Res.*, 27, 1714-1727.

The sease provident patients (Confident

ACESSION ETROEMENTS

The authors with its actions of the disection for the first of a point him forders. Dentity of Dentity and UPAL and Dr. Mohr. Henry Henry, MPOR or Considerable communitie We also actionability of the Materia Pales Off Dourd (MHCH) for paley legistic attagont in description that contents.

al. M.A. (2008). Image brief in the month of boil area in the analogical in the month for modelling of oil paint. (Ph.D. Undit, Onipermi Putty Malapine Serdam, Malapeta. Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 57 - 63 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Trichoderma-induced Suppressive Soil for the Control of Fusarium Wilt of Tomato

ROZLIANAH, F. S., SARIAH, M. AND SIJAM, K. Department of Plant Protection, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia E-mail: sariahm@putra.upm.edu.my

Keywords: Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici, disease progress, tomato, Trichoderma-induced suppressive soil

ABSTRACT

A study was carried out to evaluate the efficacy of Trichoderma-induced suppressive soil on growth of tomato cv Baccarat 322 and on wilt disease caused by Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici (Fol). Dry preparation of T. virens (UPM 23), T. harzianum (UPM 40), singly and as mixtures (UPM 2340) with organic compost as carrier were amended into soil mixture as treatments to induce disease suppressiveness. The wilt fungus at the inoculum level of 100 mL plant¹ (9 x 10⁶ spore mL¹) caused significant suppression in growth and yield. However, the Trichoderma-induced suppressive soil checked the suppressive effect of the fungus leading to significant increase in root dry weight and yield compared with the inoculated control. Disease incidence expressed as the area under the disease progress curve (AUDPC) was highest for the control plants and lowest for plants treated with UPM 2340 followed by UPM 40 and UPM 23. The disease progress rate was significantly lower in plants treated with UPM 2340 ($r_m = 0.01$) compared to non-treated plants ($r_m = 0.75$). Rhizosphere population of the introduced Trichoderma (colony forming units g¹ soil) gradually decreased with an increase in frequency recovered from the tomato roots, suggesting an ability of the Trichoderma to colonize the roots.

INTRODUCTION

The production of tomato (Lycopersicum esculentum, Mill.) in Malaysia, confined mainly to the highlands because of the mild temperature, is threatened by the wide spread of vascular wilt, a disease commonly associated with Fusarium oxysporum f. sp. lycopersici (Fol). Control measures such as the use of resistant varieties and chemicals have been found to be erratic or not long lasting. This could be due to the unavailability of the acceptable resistant cultivars and, moreover, Methyl Bromide Chloropicrin (MBC), a fumigant commonly used for the control of Fusarium wilt has been deregistered due to the implications for soil and water pollution.

The success of biological control through manipulation of antagonistic microorganisms such as of *Trichoderma* species, has been extensively studied in field and glasshouse crops. Introduction of *T. harzianum* (UPM 40) and *T. virens* (UPM 23) applied as granules or as dry

powder has significantly promoted plant growth in several crops, with significant increase in the development of the root system (Ismail, 2001; Franklin, 2002). They have also been shown to suppress certain root diseases of vegetable crops (Jinantana and Sariah, 1998; Ibrahim, 2005). These antagonistic fungi can proliferate in the rhizosphere colonizing the roots, creating an environment unfavourable for the growth and sporulation of the pathogen. Henis et al. (1979) observed the development of suppressiveness after four to five successive plantings of radish, but observed no correlation between onset of suppressiveness and the in vitro antagonism of Rhizoctonia solani by the resident soil microflora. However, suppressive soils possessed higher populations of Trichoderma spp. than the corresponding conducive soil. This study was carried out with the aim of evaluating the effect of Trichoderma-induced suppressive soil for the control of Fusarium wilt of tomato.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Preparation of Trichoderma Inoculants

Stock cultures of *Trichoderma virens* (UPM 23) and *T. harzianum* (UPM 40) were obtained from the Department of Plant Protection, Faculty of Agriculture, Universiti Putra Malaysia. UPM 23 and UPM 40 were cultured on potato dextrose agar (PDA) and incubated at room temperature (28+2°C) for one week.

Molasses and rice flour were used as culture substrates for the mass production of the Trichoderma inoculants as it has been shown to produce abundant conidia and mycelial biomass (Ibrahim, 2005). Compost prepared from oil palm trunk and chicken dung (OPTCD) was used in this study as a carrier for the Trichoderma inoculants and/or to provide a ready food source for the initial establishment of the inoculants. The physical and microbiological properties of the compost were as determined (Ibrahim, 2005). The freeze-dried biomass of Trichoderma (UPM 23 and UPM 40) and the mixture of UPM 2340 (UPM 23: UPM 40; 1:1 w/w) were incorporated into the carrier (OPTCD) in the ratio 1:10 w/w fungal biomass: OPTCD. The initial colony forming units (cfu) of the formulated mixtures were determined and expressed as g⁻¹ dry substrate.

Preparation of Trichoderma-Induced Suppressive Soil

Potting medium was prepared by mixing non sterilised soil mixture (3:2:1 v/v, mixture of top soil, sand and peat) with the respective *Trichoderma* preparations at 0.5% (w/w), respectively to induce 'suppressive soil'. Three kilograms of each mixture were placed in pots and allowed to incubate for four days at field capacity to allow for the proliferation and establishment of the *Trichoderma* inoculants in the soil. The populations of *Trichoderma* inoculants in the soil for each treatment were evaluated at the end of the experiment.

Effects of Trichoderma-induced Suppressive Soil on Plant Growth and Disease Suppression

Individual tomato seedlings cv Baccarat (4-6 leaves stage) were transferred into individual pots containing the *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil and allowed to establish for two weeks at field capacity. The seedlings were then inoculated with 100 mL Fol inoculant with a spore count of 9 x 10^6 conidia/mL. Treatments carried out include plants treated with compost alone (T1); UPM 23 (T2); UPM 40 (T3); mixture of UPM23 and UPM 40 (T4) and control (T4, sterilised distilled water) both for the infested and non-infested soil. The factorial experiment was conducted in a glasshouse with pots arranged in completely randomized design (CRD) replicated four times with three seedlings per replicate. Data were recorded as mean for each replicate. All seedlings were watered daily and fertilized fortnightly with NPK Blue (12:12:17) at a rate of 3 g seedling¹.

Beneficial effects of *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil on plant vigor were assessed based on root mass and yield. Total yield of marketable fruits were harvested 12 weeks after transplanting and weighed. At the end of the experiment, three plants from each replicate were uprooted and shaken vigorously to remove all adhering potting medium. The roots were separated and placed in the oven at 65°C for 48 hours for determinations of dry weight.

Disease incidence (DI) was calculated based on the foliar-associated symptoms, according to the formula (modified from Campbell and Madden, 1990). Plants were considered infected when they expressed symptoms of epinasty, vellowing of lower leaves, wilting or marginal necrosis of the remaining leaves. The Area Under Disease Progress Curve (AUDPC) was then assessed using the same data plotted as disease progress curve based on the formula: AUDPC = $\sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (y_{(i+1)} + y_i / 2) (t_{(1+i)} - t_i)$, where n = the number of assessment time; y = disease incidence and t = time (weeks). The disease progress rate expressed as the slopes of the disease progress curve was obtained by the multiple regression analysis using the Sigma Plot Software Program (SPS Version 9).

Proliferation and Establishment of Trichoderma in the Rhizosphere and on Roots of Tomato

Trichoderma population in the rhizosphere and roots of tomato was determined following the soil dilution plate technique on *Trichoderma* selective medium (TME) (Papavizas, 1981), and expressed as colony forming units g¹ soil (cfu g¹). Roots of tomato were sampled according to Parke (1991) to determine the colonizing ability of the introduced *Trichoderma* inoculants and were expressed as cfu g¹ roots.

All data were arc-sine transformed and subjected to ANOVA using Statistical Analysis System (SAS) computer program. Results

TRICHODERMA-INDUCED SUPPRESSIVE SOIL FOR THE CONTROL OF FUSARIUM WILT OF TOMATO

showing significant differences were then subjected to mean comparison using Tukey's Studentized Range Test (HSD₀₀₈).

RESULTS

Effects of Trichoderma-induced Suppressive Soil on Plant Growth and Disease Suppression

Trichoderma-fortified compost incorporated into potting medium to induce soil suppression to Fusarium wilt had a significant effect on the vegetative growth of tomato plants based on root dry weight and yield. In the absence of *F.* oxysporum *f. sp. lycopersici*, plants grown in the *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil gave significantly higher values of root dry weight compared to the control (*Fig. 1A*). Fusarium infection had a detrimental effect on root dry weight of tomato plants (*Fig. 1B*). However, in

(A)

the presence of *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil, the tolerance of tomato to Fusarium infection increased and this promoted vigor through an increase in root dry weight of the infected plants. Results showed that UPM 2340 and UPM 40 gave the highest effect with mean values of 14.41 g and 14.08 g, respectively. The control plants produced 2.83 g of root dry weight which was significantly lower than UPM 23 (9.85 g) and compost alone (5.09 g).

Tomato plants grown in the *Trichoderma*induced suppressive soil showed a significant increase in total fresh weight of fruits. The total fresh weight of fruits was 512.08 g, 511.62 g, 454.97 g and 382.76 g for UPM 2340, UPM 40, UPM 23 and compost alone (Table 1), respectively for the non infested soil. The control plants produced only only 306.03 g. The wilt





Fig. 1: Effect of Trichoderma-induced suppressive soil on root dry weight of tomato plants in the Fol non-infested (A) and infested soil (B) at 12 weeks after treatment. Bars with different letters are significantly different using HSD_{aos}. T1: Control (Sterilised distilled H₂O), T2: Compost alone, T3: UPM 23, T4: UPM 40, T5: UPM 2340

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

fungus at inoculum level of 100 mL plant¹ (9 x 10^6 spore mL⁻¹) caused significant suppression in yield. However, the *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil checked the suppressive effect of the fungus leading to significant increase in root dry weight and yield compared to the inoculated control. The reduction in total fresh weight of fruits was highest with value of 64.28% (T1), followed by 25.51% (T2) as compared to 18.08%, 18.28% and 20.60% for T5, T4, and T3, respectively (Table 1).

Disease incidence was highest in control plants (T1) and lowest in plants treated with UPM 2340 (T5) followed by UPM 40 (T4), UPM 23 (T3) and compost alone (T2) (*Fig. 2*).

Application of treatments T3, T4 and T5 significantly reduced the development of Fusarium wilt from week four until week 12. Disease incidence was highest for control (100%). Infected plants produced symptoms of yellowing of the older leaves. The yellowing gradually spread to affect most of the foliage and was normally accompanied by wilting of the plant during the hottest time of the day. The wilting became more extensive with time (days) until the plant collapsed and died. In cross-sections of the stem at the base of infected plants showed an evident brown ring in the vascular bundles area. Treatment T2 also suppressed the disease incidence caused by Fol but it was not as effective



Fig. 2: Effect of different treatments (T1-T5) on the development of Fusarium wilt on tomato. T1: Control (Sterilised distilled H₂O), T2: Compost alone, T3: UPM 23, T4: UPM 40, T5: UPM 2340. Bars represented the standard error

TABLE 1

Effect of *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil on total yield of fruits per plant in the Fol non-infested and infested soil at week 12.

Treatment		1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1	Total fresh weight of fruits (g)
and the second	Non-infested soil	Infested soil	Reduction (%)
TI	306.03 d	109.31 d	64.28a
T2	382.76 c	285.10 c	25.51b
T3	454.97 b	361.23 b	20.60c
T4	511.62 a	418.08 a	18.28 c
T5	512.08 a	419.52 a	18.08c

Means with different letters within a column are significantly different using HSD_{0.05}. T1: Control (Sterilised distilled H₂O), T2: Compost alone, T3: UPM 23, T4: UPM 40, T5: UPM 2340.

TRICHODERMA-INDUCED SUPPRESSIVE SOIL FOR THE CONTROL OF FUSARIUM WILT OF TOMATO

as treatments T3, T4, and T5. This could possibly be due to the population of indigenous Trichoderma present in the compost and the presence of high saprophytic fungi that can cause strong competition for nutrients and space, as the soil mixture used in this study was not sterilized. In addition to disease incidence, the progress in disease development was also evaluated based on the area under the disease progress curve (AUDPC). The symptoms development was delayed in the Trichoderma treated plants as seen by the Area under Disease Progress Curve (AUDPC) values at week four until week 12 compared to control (Table 2), with the disease progress rate (slope) highest for T1, followed by T2, T3, T4 and finally T5

 $(r_m = 0.75, r_m = 0.09, r_m = 0.04, r_m = 0.02 \text{ and } r_m = 0.01$, respectively).

Proliferation and Establishment of Trichoderma in the Rhizosphere and on Roots of Tomato

Proliferation and survival of *Trichoderma* spp. was assessed at week 12 from both the rhizosphere of Fol non-infested and infested soil mixture and also the roots of tomato. The populations were higher on roots than rhizosphere for both main plots of Fol non-infested and infested soil (*Fig. 3*). The results showed that populations of *Trichoderma* in the rhizosphere were significantly lower than on roots due to the movement of *Trichoderma* populations from potting medium towards the roots.

 TABLE 2

 Area Under Disease Progress Curve (AUDPC) and disease progress rate of Fusarium wilt under different treatments

Treatment		²Area uno (AUDF	² Area under disease progress curve (AUDPC) according to weeks (unit/square ²)			Disease progress rate (slope) at week 12 (unit/week)	
and an and a second	4 ¹	6	8	10	12	and the second second	
T1	25.3	83.1	134.7	164.9	188.0	0.75	
T2	19.1	56.1	84.0	104.8	117.3	0.09	
T3	10.0	28.9	45.8	56.4	59.0	0.04	
T4	8.5	18.0	25.0	33.3	38.8	0.02	
T5	6.0	13.8	17.6	20.3	22.5	0.01	

¹ weeks ² AUDPC values

T1: Control (Sterilised distilled H₂O), T2: Compost alone, T3: UPM 23, T4: UPM 40, T5: UPM 2340





DISCUSSION

This study showed that there was a positive relationship on the effects of *Trichoderma* (UPM 40 and UPM 23) on plant vigor and induced disease suppressiveness. Although there was a reduction in root mass in the presence of the pathogen, *Trichoderma*-induced suppressive soil maintain plant vigor and increased its tolerance to Fusarium wilt.

In recent studies, substrate amendment with T. harzianum resulted in enhanced plant growth throughout the growing season (Baker, 1989; Harman and Bjorkman, 1998; Ismail, 2001; Franklin, 2002; Ibrahim, 2005). It also protects the root from certain physical stresses thus allowing the roots to grow faster. Successful colonization of the tomato roots by Trichoderma involved the utilization of energy and nitrogen sources present in the root exudates. Movement of Trichoderma populations from substrates towards young germinated roots was due to root exudates, which serves as nutrient to Trichoderma. Studies by Sariah and Cheng (1999) showed that populations of UPM 23 incorporated into a mixture of coconut dust and peat (1:1 v/v) increased for the first four weeks in the growing medium, then decreased marginally until week 12 because of increased populations of Trichoderma detected on roots. Franklin (2002) also observed that Trichoderma spp. survived and proliferated in the growing medium consisting mixture of coconut dust and peat and colonized roots of tomato plants as the source of organic matter in the medium was depleted. In addition, Jensen (1997) reported that organic materials in cultivation medium was only able to support microbial activity for a limited time, after which the organic substrate needed by the antagonists would have originated mainly from the root exudates. By preventing root damage and disease attack, an expanded root system ensures that additional nutrients and moisture will be available for transport to the leaves, flowers and fruits. Enhancement of root growth improve nutrient uptake and increase plant growth.

Therefore, better crop health should result in a better stand, yield and possibly, even the nutritive value of the food produced. One of the mechanisms involved in beneficial effect of antagonistic microorganisms was increased uptake of nutrients (N, P and K), which have an important role on plant growth and subsequent yield. Mao et al. (1998) reported that tomato seeds treated with Burkholderia cepacia and Gliocladium virens individually and in combination significantly increased fruit yield of tomato and pepper in the field compared to the non-treated plants. Maman (2004) also reported that a mixture of B. cepacia, Pseudomonas aeruginosa 1 and P. aeruginosa 2 increased marketable fruit yield of tomato. In this study, application of mixture inoculants (UPM 2340) resulted in a greater yield increase, suggesting that the use of combinations or multiple antagonists may enhance yield and improve disease control over the use of single microorganisms. Such combinations may overcome inconsistencies in the performance of individual isolates. However, there was no significant difference between treatments of UPM 40 and the mixture of UPM 23 and UPM 40 (UPM 2340), suggesting that UPM 40 might have contributed significantly to the biological activity in the mixture.

The phenomena of disease suppressive soils have been documented for numerous plantpathogen systems. Harnessing the potential of these soils as a practical means to manage diseases in conventional and organic growing conditions has long been a goal of plant pathologists. The findings reported here, demonstrate that the manipulation of microbial communities to induce a disease suppressive soil environment does possess potential as a tool in the management of soilborne plant diseases. The use of specific effective antagonists such as Trichoderma spp. can elicit the desired shifts in microbial community structure, but integration with additional management practices may be necessary to attain desired levels of disease control in a commercially suitable time period.

REFERENCES

- BAKER, K.F. (1989). Improved Trichoderma spp. for promoting crop productivity. Trends in Biotechnology, 7, 34-38.
- CAMPBELL, C.L. and MADDEN, L.V. (1990). Introduction to Plant Disease Epidemiology. USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- FRANKLIN, R. (2002). Growth and yield responses of tomato to *Trichoderma* inoculants in soilless media. (M. Sc. Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia, 2002).

TRICHODERMA-INDUCED SUPPRESSIVE SOIL FOR THE CONTROL OF FUSARIUM WILT OF TOMATO

- HARMAN, G.E. and BJORKMAN, T. (1998). Potential and existing uses of *Trichoderma* and *Gliocladium* for plant disease control and plant growth enhancement In C.K. Kubicek and G.E. Harman (Eds.), *Trichoderma and gliocladium* (p. 229-265). London, England: Taylor and Francis.
- HENIS, Y., GHAFFAR, A. and BAKER, R. (1979). Factors affecting suppressiveness to *Rhizoctonia solani* in soil. *Phytopathology*, 69, 1164-1169.
- IBRAHIM, M.D. (2005). Delivery system of *Trichoderma* inoculant for the control of *Rhizoctonia* diseases in *Brassica rapa*. (PhD. Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia, 2005).
- ISMAIL, I. (2001). Improvement of soilless media by incorporation of *Trichoderma* inoculant for the production of cauliflower. (M. Sc. Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia, 2001).
- JENSEN, D.F. (1997). Biological control of soilborne plant diseases by incorporation of antagonistic microorganisms in sphagnum peatmoss. *Peat in Horticulturae*, 98-102.

- JINANTANA, J. and SARIAH, M. (1998). Potential for biological control of Sclerotium foot rot of chilli by Trichoderma spp. Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agriculture Science, 21, 35-39.
- MAMAN, S. (2004). Antagonistic bacteria for controlling Fusarium wilt of tomato caused by *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *lycopersici*. (M. Agric. Sc. Thesis, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Malaysia, 2004).
- MAO, W., LEWIS, J.A., Lumsden, R.D. and Hebbar, K.P. (1998). Biocontrol of selected soilborne diseases of tomato and pepper plants. *Crop Protection*, 17, 535-542.
- PAPAVIZAS, G.C. (1981). Survival of Trichoderma harzianum in soil, in pea and bean rhizospheres. Phytopathology, 71, 121-125.
- PARKE, J.L. (1991). Root colonization by indigenous and introduced microorganisms. In D. L. Keister and P. B. Cregan (Eds.), The rhizosphere and plant growth (p. 33-42). Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- SARIAH, M. and CHENG, S.F. (1999). Effect of *Trichoderma* inoculants on the growth and collar-rot of eggplant in soilless mix. In *Proceed. Biological Control in the Tropics* (p. 71-73).

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 65 - 70 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

Flexural Properties of Laminated Veneer Lumber Manufactured from Oil Palm Veneers

H'NG PAIK SAN, PARIDAH MD. TAHIR AND GAN CHENG WEN Faculty of Forestry, Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Laminated veneer lumber, flexural properties, veneer lay-up pattern, glue-spread rate

ABSTRACT

The uniform properties and higher strength of laminated veneer lumber (LVL) makes it a superior structural material than other solid timber or glue-laminated timber. It requires round logs to process into veneer and laminated parallel to each other to form LVL. However, due to shortage of quality timber (round log), efforts have been made to use alternative materials such as oil palm trunk to produce LVL. This study was undertaken to determine the flexural properties of oil palm LVL of different veneer lay-up patterns and glue-spread rates. In this study, nine types of LVL were produced using three different veneer lay-up patterns and three glue spread rates i.e., 250, 300 and 350 g m² for double glueline. The results revealed that LVL with optimum flexural properties (bending properties and shear-strength) was produced using outer-layer veneers bonded by phenol formaldehyde at a glue spread rate of 350 g m². Higher glue spread rate and veneers of the outer-layer of oil palm trunk can produce LVL of better flexural properties.

INTRODUCTION

Laminated Veneer Lumber (LVL) is a structural composite lumber which is produced by many companies around the world. The production technology of LVL has been widely established.

The uniform properties and higher strength of LVL makes it a superior structural material than other solid timber or glue-laminated timber. It requires round logs to process into veneer and laminate parallel to each other to form LVL. However, due to shortage of timber (round log), good quality and larger timber is difficult to find in natural forests of Malaysia. Therefore, efforts have been made to use another alternative material to produce LVL. Many researchers had found that the oil palm trunk can be converted into veneers for producing plywood and converted into sawn timber, particle and fiber for particleboard and medium density fiberboard, respectively (Khozirah et al., 1991; Paridah and Zaidon, 2000). Thus, this provides a potential alternative veneer material for LVL to supplement the depleting supply of timber.

There are extensive oil palm plantations in Malaysia covering a total of 4.2 millions hectares (Bakar *et al.*, 2007). The annual availability of oil palm trunk is estimated to be around 13.6 million logs based on the 100,000 hectares of replanting reach year (Paridah *et al.*, 2007).

However, oil palm which is a monocotyledonous species does not posses any vascular cambium, so it does not increase in diameter with age. All procambial cells in monocotyledons typically differentiate into primary xylem or phloem, leaving no vascular cambium. These plants, therefore, do not produce secondary xylem and phloem that serves to increase stem diameter throughout the life of the tree. The typical feature is the distinct occurrence of the primary vascular bundles that are randomly embedded in parenchyma ground tissues (Tomlinson, 1961). These vascular bundles are concentrated at the outer portion and reducing towards the inner portion of the trunk. This uneven distribution of vascular bundles along the radial direction of trunk corresponds to a great variation of density values at different parts of the oil palm trunk. The veneer ribbon density distribution along the trunk was found to decrease from outer layers towards inner layers and from bottom part towards the top part of the oil palm trunk. The density values of the oil palm trunk ranged from 200 to 600 kg m^{-s} with an average of 370 kg m³ (Lim and Khoo, 1986).

H'NG PAIK SAN, PARIDAH MD. TAHIR AND GAN CHENG WEN

The veneers peeled from oil palm trunk can be segregated into four density groups i.e., high density (600 kg m³), medium density (400-600 kg m³), low-medium density (<400 - 550 kg m⁵) and low density (<400 kg m³) based on the section of the oil palm trunk (Lim and Khoo, 1986). The high density gradients which exist along the radial, as well as, the longitudinal directions of the trunk indica te that the oil palm trunk is unable to produce consistent quality veneer like other forest timber. Therefore, products from oil palm veneers may lack quality in terms of the flexural strength which is important for structural application.

The objective of this study was to determine the flexural properties i.e., bending properties and gluebond shear strength of LVL produced from oil palm veneer by using different veneer lay-up patterns and glue-spread rates.

METHODOLOGY

The veneers used in the production process were rotary peeled from oil palm trunk in a commercial plywood factory. There were two peeling stages. The first peeling stage peeled to about 25 cm (10 in) in diameter after debarking. Veneer peeled from the first peeling stage was identified as outer-layer veneers having an average thickness of 3.5 mm. For the second peeling stage, the billet was transferred onto a small lathe machine where the trunks were peeled until a final diameter of 12 cm was achieved. These veneers were about 4.1 mm thick and were identified as inner-layer veneers. Each veneer density was determined and recorded. All the veneers were dried to 7% moisture content.

The glue used to laminate the veneer was phenol-formaldehyde adhesive, which gives a bond of exterior grade. The LVL was manufactured with dimensions of 45 mm x 45 mm and a final thickness of 12 mm using 5 plies of veneer at the Faculty of Forestry, Universiti Putra Malaysia.

Nine types of LVL with five replicates each were produced for this study using three different veneer lay-up patterns; a) homogenous pattern of outer-layer veneers, b) homogenous of innerlayer veneers and c) mixture of outer-layer and inner-layer veneers (surfaces using outer-layer and core using inner-layer veneers). Three glue spread rates, 250, 300 and 350 g m² were used in the manufacture of the LVL. The assembled veneers were then cold pressed for 5 minutes and hot pressed at 130° C for 15 minutes. The LVLs were conditioned in a conditioning room maintained at a relative humidity of 65 ± 5% and 20 ± 20C for 7 to 10 days prior to evaluating the properties.

A total of 180 bending and gluebond shear samples were cut from the LVL boards with 10 replicates for each type of LVL. The bending properties of the LVL specimens were tested according to BS/EN 310: 1993 (BSI, 1993a). The glue bond shear test was determined according to BS/EN 314-1: 1993 (BSI, 1993b). In addition, dimensional stability tests were also carried out by soaking the test samples in cold water for 24 hours.

All the flexural data collected were analysed using analysis of co-variance (ANOCOV) to determine the interaction between the variables and effect of the variables used in this study on the bending properties and gluebond shear strength of oil palm LVL at 12% moisture content. The means of the bending strength, stiffness and gluebond shear strength were further analysed by the Least Square Means method to determine the oil palm LVL with optimum bending and gluebond shear performances.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Density of Oil Palm Veneers

The total length of the veneer ribbon that can be peeled from the oil palm trunk was about 15 meter. The length of veneer ribbon which can differentiate the outer- and inner-layer is approximately 4 meter. The density of the outerlayer veneers ranged from 358 to 442 kg m³ whereas density of inner-layer veneers ranged from 272-446 kg m³.

Physical Properties

The average moisture content of the veneers and densities of the LVL boards are shown in Table 1. LVL produced using homogenous outer veneers had the highest density whereas boards produced using inner veneers had the lowest density.

As shown in Table 1, the average thickness swelling of the oil palm trunk ranged from 23.4 to 30.1% while the water absorption ranged from 49.7 to 62.5%. The highest thickness swelling and water absorption percentage was found in LVL manufactured from inner layer

FLEXURAL PROPERTIES OF LAMINATED VENEER LUMBER MANUFACTURED OIL PALM VENEERS

Gluespre: rate g m- ²	ad	Layup Pattern	Moisture content %	Board Density kg m ³	Thickness swelling %	Water Absorption %
250	182015	Outer	11.16	529	24.4	54.3
250		Inner	10.84	520	28.5	62.5
250		Mix	10.86	528	27.1	58.9
300		Outer	11.41	555	23.4	53.1
300		Inner	11.17	505	30.1	57.0
300		Mix	11.16	539	27.3	56.5
350	TIT	Outer	10.13	573	28.3	49.7
350		Inner	11.45	511	30.1	54.6
350		Mix	11.75	549	30.0	53.7

TABLE 1										
Aoisture	content	and	density	of	oil	palm	LVL			

veneers using glue spread rate of 350 and 200 g m^2 respectively. The low density of the inner layer veneers may be attributed to the poor performance of the dimensional stability. Vick (1999) stated that high density timbers normally had thicker cell wall and smaller lumen which associate with smaller volume for water absorption compared to lighter density timbers.

Bending Properties

Bending stiffness of the LVL produced from oil palm was lower than for LVLs produced from tropical hardwood species as reported by H'ng *et al.* (2002). He reported that LVL produced from *kedondong, bintangor* and white *meranti* respectively had Modulus of Elasticity (MOE) values ranging from 12,000 to 18,000 N mm² and Modulus of Rupture (MOR) values ranging from 34 to 40 N mm². The maximum MOE values found in oil palm LVL manufactured from outer veneer layer with a glue spread rate of 350 g mm² is far below the minimum requirement for that used in structural applications. According the PRL 501: Performance standard for laminated veneer lumber (APA, 2000), the minimum MOE for LVL to be used in structural applications is 10392 N mm².

Assessment of the failure pattern of the static bending specimens revealed that almost 80% of the samples failed the compression area as shown in *Fig. 1.* Curry and Fewell (1977) stated that material which failed at the compression area during static bending always associates with lower MOR and MOE because compression failure is an early failure that is found in the bending test before the material can sustain the maximum breaking force.

Analysis of co-variance (ANOCOV) revealed highly significant interactions of glue spread rate and lay-up pattern on the MOR and MOE of oil palm LVL as shown in Table 2.

As shown in Table 2, the highest MOR and MOE were achieved for the LVL produced using outer-layer veneers with glue spread rate of 350 g/m^2 . This may be due to the higher density of LVL produced from the outer-layer. Density is an indicator and predictor for bending strength, stiffness, and various mechanical properties (Panshin and de Zeeuw, 1980). As the board's density increased, the strength properties of the



Fig. 1: Compression failure of the oil palm LVL

H'NG PAIK SAN, PARIDAH MD. TAHIR AND GAN CHENG WEN

Glue spread rate	Lay-up pattern	MOR N mm-2	MOE N mm-2
250	Outer	30.96 ^{bc}	3972¢
		(7.7)	(1028)
250	Inner	25.00 ^{de}	2758 ^d
		(2.4)	(214)
250	Mix	30.39°	-3762°
		(3.4)	(688)
300	Outer	34.01 ^b	5012ab
		(3.3)	(277)
300	Inner	18.60 ^e	1907 ^e
		(2.5)	(256)
300	Mix	25.96 ^d	3723 ^{cd}
		(2.2)	(484)
350	Outer *	· 39.85*	5399a
a diservisiti for a set		(5.2)	(881)
350	Inner	21.89 ^e	2469 ^d
	the superstantion of the	(2.9)	(405)
350	Mix	30.64 ^{bc}	4815 ^b
ded the or marked	Billing of the annealed for	(3.7)	(479)

				TAB	LE 2					
Influence	of Glue	spread	rate	and	lav-up	pattern	on	MOR	and	MOE

Note: Means with the same letter in the same column are not significantly different. (P< 0.05) The values in brackets are standard deviations

board also increased (Bodig and Jayne, 1982). All the LVL manufactured with glue spread rate of 350 g m² was higher in MOR and MOE than the LVL using the glue spread rate of 250 g/m² and 250g/m². Youngquist (1999) stated that adhesive played an important role on the bending strength of LVL. By having an optimum adhesive on laminating the veneers, maximum strength can be obtained from the LVL.

Gluebond Shear Strength

ANOCOV results revealed that the effect of glue spread rate and lay-up pattern on the glue bond shear strength was highly significant. Interaction between the glue spread rate and lay-up pattern was also observed, which means that the shear strength was affected by both glue spread rate and lay-up pattern together.

Table 3 shows the significance level of LVL glue bond shear strength and percentage of wood failure for different glue spread rates and lay-up pattern in this study. LVL produced from outer-layer veneer with 350 g m² glue spread rate had the highest LVL shear strength compared to other LVLs produced in this study. The gluebond shear strength result is consistent with the findings for the bending properties. By improving the density of the oil palm's LVL using outer-layer veneer and higher glue spread, the glue bond shear strength will increased.

CONCLUSION

LVL with optimum flexural properties (bending properties and shear strength) can be produced using outer-layer veneers which were obtained by peeling the trunk to about 25 cm (10 in) in diameter and bonded by using phenol formaldehyde at glue spread rate of 350 g m².

REFERENCES

- APA. (2000). PRL 501-Performance Standard for APA EWS Laminated Veneer Lumber. Engineered Wood System. USA. 6 pp.
- BAKAR, E.S., PARIDAH, M.T., HAMAMI, M.S. and YAP, H.S. (2007). Properties enhancement of oil palm lumber through the modified compreg method. In *Proceedings of Faculty of Forestry Research Colloquium* (p. 119-124), 26-28 June.
- BODIG, J. and JAYNE, B.A. (1982). Mechanics of Wood and Wood Composites. New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold Co.

Glue spread rate	Lay-up pattern	Glue bond strength N mm ⁻²	Wood Failure %
250	Outer	2.05 ^b	80
	ig Crems Augulto	(0.51)	The second second
250	Inner	1.64 ^{bc}	100
THE STOLEN		(0.13)	
250	Mix	1.54 ^c	100
		(0.26)	
300	Outer	2.19ª	90
		(0.15)	
300	Inner	1.41 ^c	80
		(0.11)	
300	Mix	1.61 ^{bc}	80
		(0.21)	
350	Outer	2.56ª	90
		(0.39)	
350	Inner	1.68 ^{bc}	80
		(0.25)	
350	Mix	1.83bc	80
	er is real white the	(0.31)	

TABLE 3

Influence of the glue spread rate and lay-up pattern on glue bond strength and wood failure

Note: Means with the same letter in the same column are not significantly different at (P < 0.05)The values in brackets are standard deviations

- BSI. (1993a). 310: Wood-based panels; determination of modulus of elasticity in bending and of bending strength. BSI British Standard. UK. 16 pp.
- BSI. (1993b). 314-1: Plywood Bonding quality -Part 1: Test methods. BSI British Standard. UK. 14 pp.
- CURRY, W.T. and FEWELL, D.R. (1977). The relations between the ultimate tension and ultimate compression strength of timber and its modulus of elasticity. Building Research Establishment Current paper 22/77. Great Brit. For. Prod. Res. Lab.
- H'NG, P.S., PARIDAH, M.T., WONG, E.D. AND ZAKIAH,
 A. (2002). Failure modes of flatwise bending of laminated veneer lumber produced from tropical hardwood species. In Majid,
 W.M.W.A., Rashid, A., Zakiah, A., Salleh,
 M., Rohani, I. and Maznah, C. (Eds),
 Proceeding of 7th World Conference on Timber Engineering (WCTE) (339 p.), 12-15 August.
 Shah Alam: Universiti Teknologi Mara.

- KHOZIRAH, S., KHOO, K.C. and ABD. RAZAK, M.A. (1991). Oil palm stemstem utilisation -Review of research. FRIM Research Pamphlet, 107, 15 - 73.
- LIM, S.C. and KHOO, K.C. (1986). Characteristic of oil palm trunk and its utilization. *The Malayan Forester*, 49.
- PANSHIN, A.J. and DE ZEEUW, C. (1980). Textbook of Wood Technology (4th ed.). New York: Mc Graw-Hill.
- PARIDAH, M.T. and ZAIDON, A. (2000). Oil palm tree residues for fibre-reinforce composite material - An overview. *The Malaysian Forester*, 63(2), 23-27.
- PARIDAH, M.T., LOH, Y.F., BAKAR, E.S., ZAIDON, A. and YUZIAH, M.Y.N. (2007). Pretreatment of veneer with low molecular weight phenol formaldehyde (LmwPF) resin to enhance the properties of plywood from oil palm stem. In Proceedings of Faculty of Forestry Research Colloquium (p. 119-124), 26-28 June.

H'NG PAIK SAN, PARIDAH MD. TAHIR AND GAN CHENG WEN

S. The

vote Maans with the array letter in the surretan

and the second second

- TOMLINSON, P.B. (1961). Anatomy of the Monocotyledons II, Palmae. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- VICK, C.B. (1999). Adhesive bonding of wood material. In Wood Handbook-Wood as an Engineering Material. Wisconsin: Forest Products Laboratory.

and its Zaniwer - I hadle Teaching and

YOUNGQUIST, J.A. (1999). Wood-based composite and panel products. In *Wood Handbook-Wood* as an Engineering Material. Wisconsin: Forest Product Laboratory.

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

.

Pertanika J. Trop. Agric. Sci. 30(1): 71 - 82 (2007)

ISSN: 1511-3701 © Universiti Putra Malaysia Press

A Population Genetics Study on the Malaysian Wild Stocks, M. rosenbergii Using Cross Amplified Microsatellite Primers

L.M. SEE², S. BHASSU¹, R. HASSAN¹, S.S. SIRAJ², S.Y. TAN² AND S.G. TAN²

¹Freshwater Fisheries Research Center, Glami Lemi, 71650 Titi,

Jelebu, Negeri Sembilan, Malaysia

²Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Universiti Putra Malaysia, 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia

Keywords: Microsatellites, cross amplification, wild stocks, orthologous loci

ABSTRACT

Distantly related species often develop mutations in priming sites of fast evolving gene sequences (e.g. microsatellite loci) over time. Orthologous loci from green-lipped mussel were found to cross amplify the Malaysian giant freshwater prawn, Macrobrachium rosenbergii microsatellites, which indicates a high conservation of flanking sequences. This was confirmed by direct sequencing of target loci. Four microsatellite markers were successfully cross-amplified in the 'western' form of M. rosenbergii with two containing minor interruptions in their sequences. Number of alleles per locus ranged from 5 to 8 with allele frequencies ranging from 0.0048 to 0.2656. Observed heterozygosities ranged from 0.4369 to 0.6848, but in general, these estimates were lower than expected under Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium. Genetic distance values ranged between 0.0059 and 0.1641 with populations in the UPGMA dendrogram not clustering according to their geographical localities.

INTRODUCTION

Prawns of the genus *Macrobrachium* Bate, 1868 (Crustacea: Palaemonidae) are a highly diverse, abundant and widespread group of decapod crustaceans found in circumtropical marine-, estuarine- and freshwaters (de Bruyn *et al.*, 2004). The giant freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii*, is the largest species in the genus *Macrobrachium* and the most important culture species (Mather and de Bruyn, 2003) It is found in coastal river systems from Pakistan in the west to Vietnam in the east, throughout Southeast Asia and south to northern Australia and Papua New Guinea (de Bruyn *et al.*, 2004).

M. rosenbergii as it is currently named taxonomically may be polytypic both regionally and within biogeographical regions (de Bruyn *et al.*, 2004). Two distinct forms of *M. rosenbergii*, an 'eastern' and a 'western' form have been described independently, although the species is currently considered to be monophyletic (Mather and de Bruyn, 2003; de Bruyn et al., 2004; Chand et al., 2005).

Microsatellites are a popular marker of choice in many population studies and have been applied in gene mapping, forensics and behavioural ecological studies (Goldstein and Schlotterer, 1999). However, single locus microsatellite marker development can be tedious, laborious, time consuming, costly and requires specialised facilities and equipments. Conservation of flanking regions surrounding

microsatellites had been reported across taxa in many animal species (Schlotterer *et al.*, 1991), which facilitates cross-species amplification in a new target species. Recently, six specific microsatellite primer sets were developed for the 'eastern' form of giant freshwater prawn, *M. rosenbergii*, and the variation characterized (Chand *et al.*, 2005). However, cross amplification of these loci in the related 'western' form of the species was unsuccessful although this form is by

Corresponding author: Email: subhabhassu@yahoo.com
far the most important with respect to worldwide wild fisheries and culture fisheries.

The homologous sequences that existed between two families, Palaemonidae and Mytiloidea, was very interesting when BLAST analysis performed on RAMS clones of M. rosenbergii showed that a number of the sequences were homologous to Perna viridis (Bhassu et al., 2005). Thus, microsatellite primers developed from a mollusc, the green-lipped mussel (Perna viridis) were evaluated for their potential to cross amplify in Malaysian populations of the 'western' form of giant freshwater prawn. In the gene bank, there are more than 100 microsatellites sequences of Perna viridis that can be further tested for its potential for cross amplification in M. rosenbergii. Similar studies on marine turtles indicated conservation of flanking sequences spanning approximately 300 million years of divergent evolution (FitzSimmons et al., Ohno (1970) proposed that without 1995). duplicated genes, the creation of metazoans, vertebrates and mammals from unicellular organisms would have been impossible.

It proves that microsatellite loci have great potential for broader applications such as comparative gene mapping and assessing genetic population structures within species. The use of microsatellite loci across species depends on the conservation of priming sites within flanking sequences, which enables amplification and maintenance of repeat arrays long enough to promote polymorphism (Weber, 1990).

The objective of this study was to identify potential microsatellites to be used for cross amplification in *M. rosenbergii* and to aid in finding potential polymorphic microsatellites for use in marker assisted selection programs.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Samples and DNA Extraction

Macrobrachium rosenbergii were sampled from a total of 11 rivers representing a diverse geographical distribution consisting of 8 populations from east and west Peninsular Malaysia and two populations from the island of Borneo in Sarawak and Sabah (*Fig. 1*). The sample sizes are shown in Table 1. DNA was extracted from 25 mg of tissue following the recommended protocol in QIAamp DNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Germany).



Fig. 1: Location of sampling sites

A POPULATION GENETICS STUDY ON THE MALAYSIAN WILD STOCKS

No.	Location	Sample size
1	Sungai Perak, Perak	20
2	Sungai Muda, Kedah	20
3	Sungai Muar, Johor	20
	Sungai Sedili, Johor	20
4	Sungai Endau, Johor	20
5	Sungai Linggi, N.Sembilan	30
6	Sungai Pahang, Pahang	30
7	Sungai Kelantan, Kelantan	30
8	Sungai Penarik, Terengganu	30
9	Sungai Serian, Sarawak	20
10	Sungai Permatang, Sabah	20

TABLE 1 Sampling sites and sample sizes for 11 populations

Microsatellite Screening and Amplification

Twelve *Perna viridis* microsatellite primers were screened on individuals of *M. rosenbergii* by polymerase chain reaction (PCR). PCR products were electrophoresed and visualized under ultraviolet light. Successfully amplified bands within the expected size range were excised from the gel. Gel excision and purification were performed using the PerfectprepÆGel Cleanup Kit (Eppendorf, Germany).

Excised bands were sequenced in ABI PRISM 377 DNA sequencer using BigDye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready Reaction Kit (Applied Biosystems, USA) to determine the amplification of microsatellite repeats in the sequence. This process resulted in four primer sets that amplified apparent microsatellites containing fragments in giant freshwater prawn samples.

Population Characterization

Based on the screening procedure, four *Perna viridis* microsatellite primer sets that amplified fragments in giant freshwater prawn, OCC26, OCC28, OCC34 and OCC43, were tested in individuals sampled across a large geographical range in Malaysia. The study was carried out by PCR amplification using a Biometra T3 Thermal Cycler. Thermal cycle amplification was performed in 10 μ L total reaction volume, which contained 1x PCR buffer (Promega, USA), 2.5 mM to 3.75 mM of MgCl₂ (Promega, USA), 0.2 unit of *Taq* polymerase (Promega, USA), 0.25 mM of each dNTPs (Promega, USA), 50 ρ mole of primer pair, deionised water and approximately 20 ng of template genomic DNA.

The general PCR profile consisted of 40 cycles of 94 °C denaturation for 30 s, 30 s at an annealing temperature specific for each primer pair (as shown in Table 2) and 72 °C of elongation for 40 s. The PCR profile was initiated with a 3 min incubation at 95 °C before the cycle began and upon the completion of the cycles, a 5 min incubation at 72 °C was performed. PCR products were electrophoresed on 6% non-denaturing polyacrylamide gels. Sizes of alleles were determined according to M13 sequence ladder.

Data Analyses

The number of alleles per locus, number of effective alleles per locus, and observed and expected alleles per locus were calculated. Conformity to Hardy Weinbergy equilibrium was tested using the Markov Chain Method (dememorization: 1000, batches: 500 and iterations per batches: 1000). All these calculations were performed using the CENEPOP computer package (Raymond and Rousset.1995). The independent t-test comparison was used to check the differentiation of observed heterozygosity among populations (Archie,1985).

The GENEPOP software package was used to calculate F-statistics (F_{1S},F_{ST}) test of genetic disequilibrium for each pair of loci, and genetic differentiation between populations (dememorization:100, batches:100 and iteration per batches: 1000). Due to the small number of loci used, the software package did not allow for significant tests for overall F_{ST} . The locus-wise F_{1S} for each population was also calculated to detect effects of inbreeding and Wahlund effects.

L.M. SEE, S. BHASSU, R. HASSAN, S.S. SIRAJ, S.Y. TAN AND S.G. TAN

Genetic distance between populations was based on the Cavalli-Sforza and Edwards (1967) chord distance. The unweighted pair group method with arithmetic averaging (UPGMA) tree including boot-strap values was constructed as dendrograms with the SAHN (sequential, agglomerative, hierarchical and nested clustering) program from NTSYS-pc software version 1.60 (Numerical Taxonomy and Multivariate Analysis System) (Rohlf, 1993). Mantel's test was performed to evaluate correlation between genetic distances and geographical distances (Manly, 1993 suing TFPGA version 1.3 (Miller, 1997)

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Two of the *Perna viridis* microsatellite primer pairs that amplified in *M. rosenbergii* resulted in products, which contained uninterrupted microsatellite sequences, VJ1-1-1- and BP2-49-2 while 2 loci contained minor interruptions of the sequences, VJ1-9-1 and VJ1-11-2. The



Fig. 2: Microsatellite regions amplified in M. rosenbergii. (a) VJ1-11-2; (b) BP2-49-2; (c) VJ1-1-1; (d) VJ1-9-1

amplified flanking sequences are shown in Fig. 2. These results suggest cross- amplified microsatellite markers in *M. rosenbergii*.

Microsatellite typing of wild 'western' M. rosenbergii populations sampled from Malaysian rivers indicated that all the four loci were polymorphic. Characterization of the four polymorphic loci and a comparison of the repeat sequences between the two species are summarized in Table 2. The number of alleles per locus ranged from 5 to 8 with the overall allele frequency ranging from 0.0042 to 0.2549 (*Fig. 3*). VJ1-1-1 was found to have the highest percentage of effective number of alleles (90.85%), followed by BP2-49-2 (83.45%), VJ1-9-1 (82.62%), VJ1-11-2 (80.69%).

Polymorphisms among the 11 populations was highest for VI1-11-2, followed by VI1-1-1, BP2-49-2 and VJ1-9-1. The expected size of the alleles are shown is Table 2. Null alleles were present in few individuals of the Kelantan populations, which could be due to possible mutations at the flanking region of the loci. Studies conducted by Bhassu et al., (2007) indicated that allele at 475 bp of Random Amplified Microsatellite Marker (RAMs) serves as a diagnostic marker in identifying Sg Kelantan samples from the other populations. This could indicate the presence of cryptic species within Macrobrachium sp. However, morphology and mt-DNA analysis should be carried out to reconfirm the postulation.

The observed heterozygosity ranged from 0.4421 to 0.7851 (Table 3), which was generally lower than the expected heterozygosity. Such results could be explained by several hypotheses, including methodology bias, null alleles (Jarne and Lagode, 1996) and 'founder effect' during the introduction (Mei *et al.*, 2003).

The F_{15} values for each population across all loci (Table 3) indicated heterozygote deficiency (P<0.05) for all. A comparison of the observed and expected variation indicated that all the loci deviated from Hardy-Weinberg expectations (*P* < 0.05), which might have resulted from the small sample sizes (20 – 30 individuals) analysed per population or the presence of null alleles and high number of alleles. However, three populations, namely Muar, Sedili and Pahang were found not to have deviated from HW equilibrium at locus VJ1-1-1 marker while Kedah did not deviate from HW equilibrium at locus VJ1-11-2. There was no significant linkage disequilibrium between each pair of loci within each of the eleven populations. (P<0.05). An independent t-test (Archie, 1985) showed that neither observed nor expected heterozygosity was significantly different between populations.

 F_{sr} was 0.062 and significantly different from 0 (Table 4), thus clearly showing that populations of *M.rosenbergii* are divided into subpopulations. The small magnitude of differentiation may be the result of small sample size constraints and large number of alleles, thus increasing the sample size creates high statistical error.

Genetic distance (Cavalli-Sforza and Edwards (1967)) based on the four loci revealed average values between 0.0059 and 0.1641 (Table 5). The dendrogram (*Fig. 4*) showed that the majority of the populations did not cluster according to their geographical location, which may be caused by natural selection and mutation in order to adapt to a new environment. Mantel's test showed no significant correlation between genetic and geographical distances (r =0.1669; Z=1600409.6635; upper tail P= 0.2360; lower tail P =0.8452)

CONCLUSIONS

This approach compared to conventional methods is indeed cost effective as it reduces the time taken to isolate microsatellite markers. It utilizes Perna viridis microsatellite primers on M. rosenbergii stocks for genetic diversity, mutational mechanism, phylogenetic and other studies. Thus more cross-amplified microsatellite primers should be trailed as this study unexpectedly vielded positive results. The dendrogram generated suggested that the clustering of the populations were not exactly in accordance with their geographical locations, which might be due to natural selection in order to adapt to new environments and their breeding systems. The low genetic variation in the eleven populations may have been due to the small sample size and low number of loci used. Therefore there is need to increase the number of loci and sample size. The potential of Perna viridis primers will be studied further using large sample populations and at least 20 loci. Distinct genetic differentiation suggested that these populations should be managed separately. Moreover, genetically differentiated populations may show variation of traits important for aquaculture (Kumagai et al., 2004). Therefore economically

TABLE 2 Characteristics of Perna viridis microsatellites in M. rosenbergii, including GeneBank Accession number (Perna viridis), primer sequence, repeat sequence, annealing temperature (TA), expected size (bp) (Perna viridis) and size range (bp) (M. Rosenbergii)

Note: N - Uninterrupted repeat

n - Interrupted repeat

Primer	GeneBank Accession No. (<i>Perna viridis</i>)	Primer Sequence (5' – 3')	Repeat Sequence (Perna viridis)	Repeat Sequence (M. rosenbergii)	11. + 2. P	T _A (°C)	Expected size (bp) (<i>Perna viridis</i>)	Size range (bp) (M. rosenbergii)
VJ1-1-1	DQ010069	F: CAC CTA GTT CAG GGT CTC TC R: AGC TCT CAT CCA TTC ACT TG	(TC) _N	(TCT) _n	10	44	174	143-276
VJ1-9-1	DQ010072	F: TGC GTG TGG AGG CTC TCT R: TCA CCT CTT GGT TGA GGA CA	(CT) _N	(TCT) _N interrupted (G).		40	205	151-257
VJ1-11-2	AY850125	F: ACT CGA TCT CTG TGT TGT TA R: TAG TTT CAG GTT CAC TAT GG	(TG) _N	(T) _N	*	44 *	234	144-220
BP2-49-2	AY850129	F: GTT AAA CAA CCA ACC AAC G R: GTC TTT TTG TCA TTG CAC AC	(TG) _n	(T) _n		44	215	122-290

市 死

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

L.M. SEE, S. BHASSU, R. HASSAN, S.S. SIRAJ, S.Y. TAN AND S.G. TAN

A POPULATION GENETICS STUDY ON THE MALAYSIAN WILD STOCKS



Fig. 3: Allele frequencies within the 11 populations. (a) VJ1-1-1; (b) VJ1-9-1; (c) VJ1-11-2; (d) BP2-4912

Locus		VJ1-1-1	VJ1-9-1	VJ1-11-2	BP2-49-2
Muar	N	20	20	20	20
	A	5	5	6	5
	H	0.7000	0.5500	0.6316	0.7000
	H,	0.8013	0.7577	0.8208	0.6628
	P	0.0195	0.0000	0.0011	0.7000
	Fis	+0.129	+0.279	+0.235	-0.058
Perak	N	20	20	20	20
	A	4	5.	6	5
	H	0.4000	0.5000	0.6500	0.9500
	H	0.6538	0.7692	0.8462	0.7141
	P	0.0002	0.0007	0.0220	0.0001
	Fis	+0.394	+0.356	+0.236	-0.342
Sedili	N	20	20	20	20
	A	6	4	5	6
	Ho	0.8500	0.0769	0.3500	0.1500
	H,	0.7526	0.4523	0.7141	0.7885
	P	0.0566	0.0002	0.0000	0.0000
	Fis	-0.133	+0.836	+0.516	+0.814

TABLE 3 Statistical results of *Perna viridis* microsatellite in *M. rosenbergii* populations

Table 3 Cont.

Cont.			the fail of the		10
Kedah	N	20	20	20	20
	A	5	5	5	6
	Ho	0.3500	0.4000	0.7000	0.9500
	Hr	0.7423	0.7718	0.7654	0.7872
	P	0.0000	0.0000	0.0224	0.0002
	Fis	+0.535	+0.488	+0.087	-0.213
Sabah	N	20	20	20	20
	A	6	5	6	6
	H	0.6842	0.3000	0.4737	0.4500
	H	0.8620	0.6115	0.7767	0.7513
	P	0.0068	0.0009	0.0009	0.0012
	Fis	+0.211	+0.516	+0.397	+0.407
Sarawak	N	20	20	- 20	20
	A	5	4	6	5
	н	0 4444	0 5000	0 5889	0 5000
	н	0.7556	0.7641	0.8200	0.8079
	p	0.0009	0.0000	0.0094	0.0191
	Fie	+0.419	+0.859	+0.989	+0.388
Linggi	N	80	\$0	80	80
runggi	A	6	50	6	9
State of the second	L L	0 5900	0.9999	0 7999	0 0667
	- no	0.5200	0.5555	0.7555	0.9007
	n _g	0.0278	0.7517	0.8008	0.8508
	F E	0.0000	0.0000	0.000	0.120
17.1	P1S	+0.377	+0.549	+0.092	-0.139
Kelantan	N	30	30	30	30
	A	0	5	0	
	Ho	0.2692	0.2609	0.6667	47 10 M. C. W.
	HE	0.7745	0.7150	0.8045	
	P	0.0000	0.0000	0.0001	All I Asilto manage
	Fis	+0.657	+0.640	+0.174	
Pahang	N	30	30	30	30
	Α	. 6	5	6	8
	Ho	0.7241	0.4667	0.2333	1.0000
	H _E	0.8173	0.7328	0.7130	0.8362
	Р	0.0361	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
	Fis	+0.116	+0.367	+0.676	+0.200
Terengganu	N	30	30	30	30
	A	6	5	6	8
	Ho	0.5238	0.5238	0.4286	0.9667
	H	0.8328	0.7677	0.7240	0.7977
	P Fis	0.0009	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
		+0.377	+0.323	+0.413	-0.216
Endau	N	20	20	20	20
Rompin	A	6	4	5	8
	H	0.9500	0.8947	0.1500	0.9000
	H	0.7962	0.7525	0.6000	0.8410
	P	0.0068	0.0000	0.0000	0.0000
	Fis	-0.199	-0.195	+0.755	-0.072
	100	- Contractor	State of the second second		A DE CONTRACTOR

L.M. SEE, S. BHASSU, R. HASSAN, S.S. SIRAJ, S.Y. TAN AND S.G. TAN

Note: N – Number of samples, A – Number of alleles, () – Effective number of alleles, H_0 – Observed Heterozygosity, H_g – Expected Heterozygosity, P – Probability value estimates regarding deviation from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium, *Fst* – Population Differentiation, *Fisc*Inbreeding Coefficent. * Significant Deviation at P=0.05

			4	datrix of pop	TAF pulation differ	3LE 4 rentiation and	l structure (F	(¹⁵			
pop ID	MR	PRK	SDL	KDH	SBH	SRW	TNG	KLT	PHG	TRG	ER
MR	0.0000	二日の	1 2 2 2 2	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		112 B	~ 1 1 1	call internet	122	1	
PRK	0.0267	0.0000								10	
SDL	0.1410	0.1242	0.0000								
KDH	0.0710	0.0796	0.1094	0.0000							
SBH	0.0876	0.0759	0.1307	0.0646	0.0000						
SRW	0.0356	0.0490	0.0989	0.0705	0.0469	0.0000					
LNG	0.0579	0.0743	0.0647	0.0418	0.0781	0.0230	0.0000				
KLT	0.0277	0.0384	0.1397	0.0658	0.0267	0.0059	0.0341	0.0000			
PHG	0.0476	0.0669	0.0703	0.0865	0.0867	0.0212	0.0512	0.0627	0.0000		
TRG	0.0705	0.0615	0.0686	0.0222	0.0162	0.0383	0.0336	0.0208	0.0606	0.0000	
ER	0.0915	0.1091	0.0705	0.0437	0.0628	0.0540	0.0524	1660.0	0.0478	0.0228	0.0000
MR	- Muar	and a good	Section 1	1900 10 10			PRK	- Perak	5 M 2		
SDL	- Sedili						KDH	- Kedah			
SBH .	- Sabah						SRW	- Sarawak			
ING	- Linggi						KLT	- Kelantan			
PHG	- Pahang						TRG	- Terengga	nun		
ER	- Endau R	ompin						3			

Barren S. Harris

A POPULATION GENETICS STUDY ON THE MALAYSIAN WILD STOCKS

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

79

and a state fun

pop ID	MR	PRK	SDL	KDH	SBH	SRW	LNG	KLT	PHG	TRG	ER
MR	0.0000	444	197	593	2389	1989	139	652	281	544	210
PRK	0.0274	0.0000	638	149	2455	2025	345	341	401	453	608
SDL	0.1641	0.1418	0.0000	787	2583	2185	369	660	345	492	92
KDH	0.0764	0.0865	0.1228	0.0000	2604	2204	494	351	550	463	- 757
SBH	0.0960	0.0821	0.1504	0.0691	0.0000	2000	2290	2674	2383	2655	2553
SRW	0.0369	0.0515	0.1098	0.0758	0.0492	0.0000	1890	2274	1983	2255	2153
LNG	0.0615	0.0803	0.0692	0.0436	0.0847	0.0235	0.0000	564	231	503	321
KLT	0.0285	0.0399	0.1624	0.0704	0.0274	0.0059	0.0353	0.0000	440	168	568
PHG	0.0500	0.0717	0.0756	0.0947	0.0949	0.0217	0.0540	0.0669	0.0000	272	253
TRG	0.0758	0.0655	0.0737	0.0227	0.0165	0.0398	0.0348	0.0212	0.0645	0.0000	401
ER	0.1008	0.1225	0.0758	0.0457	0.0670	0.0571	0.0553	0.1107	0.0502	0.0233	0.0000
MR	– Muar	briak.	IN POST	0 0000							
PRK	- Perak										
SDL	– Sedili					10 10 0					
KDH	– Kedah										
SBH	- Sabah										
SRW	- Sarawak					San William				× 1310	
LNG	 Linggi 										
KLT	– Kelantan						BUTCHTURE LE			2011 C	
PHG	- Pahang										
TRG	- Terengga	anu									

TABLE 5 Matrix of genetic and geographical distances. Above diagnonal is geographical distance (km), below diagonal is genetic

A POPULATION GENETICS STUDY ON THE MALAYSIAN WILD STOCKS

important traits of this population such as growth, disease resistance, and others should be evaluated. Incorporating information on genetic information would enable efficient exploitation of these resources for aquaculture and genetic improvement programs.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank the Director of Research, Department of Fisheries, Malaysia, Mr. Ismail Awang Kechik for financial support (Grant no: 21-22501-006) and the continued encouragement throughout the research project.

REFERENCES

- ARCHIE, J.W. (1985). Statistical analysis of heterozygosity data independent sample comparison. *Evolution*, 39, 623-637.
- BHASSU S., HASSAN R. and YUSOFF K. et al. (2005). Single locus microsatellite development for the Malaysian giant fresh prawns, Macrobrachium rosenbergii. Pertanika Journal of Trop. Agric. Sci., 28(2), 87-94.
- SUBHA BHASSU, ROSLY HASSAN, M.Y. CHEW, SEE, L.M., Z. JAMARI and TAN, S.G. (2007). Assessing genetic relatedness among eleven populations of Malaysian giant freshwater prawns, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii* using LPRAPD and RAMs markers. Inprint in Malaysian Fisheries Journal, Jun Issue.
- CAVALLI-SFORZA, L.L. and EDWARDS, A.W.F. (1967). Phylogenetic analysis: Models and estimation procedure. *Evolution*, 21, 550-570.
- CHAND V., DE BRUYN, M. and MATHER, P.B. (2005). Microsatellite loci in the eastern form of the giant freshwater prawn (*M. rosenbergii*). *Molecular Ecology Note*, 5, 308-310.
- DE BRUYN, M., WILSON, J.A. and MATHER, P.B. (2004). Huxley's line demarcates extensive genetic divergence between eastern and western forms of the giant freshwater prawn, *Macrobrachium rosenbergii. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution, 30,* 251-257.
- FITZSIMMONS, N.N., MORITZ, C. and MOORE, S.S. (1995). Conservation and dynamics of microsatellite loci over 300 million years of marine turtle evolution. *Molecular Biology and Evolution*, 12, 432-440.

- GOLDSTEIN, D.B. and SCHL^{*}TTERER, C. (1999). Microsatellites: Evolution and applications. In Oxford University Press. pp 1-9.
- JARNE, P. and LAGODE, P.J.L. (1996). Microsatellite, from molecules to populations and back. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution*, 11, 424-429.
- KUMAGAI, K., BARINOVA, A.A., NAKAJIMA, M. and TANIGUCHI, N. (2004). Genetic diversity between Japanese and Chinese threeline grunt (*Parapristipoma trilineatum*) examine by microsatellite DNA markers. *Mar. Biotechnol.*, 6, 221-228.
- MANLY, B.F.J. (1994). RT: A program for randomisation testing. Version 1.02c, July 1994. Centre for Application of Statistics and Mathematics, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand.
- MATHER, P.B. and DE BRUYN, M. (2003). Genetic diversity in wild stocks of the giant freshwater prawn (Macrobrachium rosenbergii): Implications for aquaculture and conservation. NAGA, WorldFish Center Quarterly, 26, 4.
- MEI, T.Z., ERIC, S.H.T. and ALEX, H.T.Y. (2003). Isolation and cross species amplification of microsatellite loci in the freshwater minnow Zacco pachycephalus (Teleostei: Cyprinidae) for diversity and conservation genetic analysis. Molecular Ecology Notes, 3, 567-569.
- MILLER, M.P. (1997). Tools for Population Genetic Analyses (TFPGA) 1.3: A Window program for the analysis of allozyme and molecular population genetic data. Arizona: Northern Arizona University.
- MOORE, S.S., SARGENAT, L.L., KING, T.J. et al. (1991). The conservation of dinucleotide microsatellite among mammalian genomes allows the use of heterologous PCR primer pairs in closely related species. Genomics, 10, 654-660.
- OHNO, S. (1970). Evolution by Gene Duplication. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- RAYMOND, M. and ROUSSET, F. (1995). GENEPOP (ver 1.2): a population genetics software for exact test and ecumenisism. J. Heredity, 86, 248-249.

L.M. SEE, S. BHASSU, R. HASSAN, S.S. SIRAJ, S.Y. TAN AND S.G. TAN

- ROHLF, F.J. (1993). NTSYS-pc. Numerical Taxonomy and Multivariate Analysis System, Version 1.60. New York: Exeter Software.
- SCHLOTTERER, C., AMOS, B. and TAUTZ, D. (1991). Conservation of polymorphic simple sequence in cetacean species. *Nature*, 354, 63-65.

implications for anti- and and

WEBER, J.L. (1990). Informativeness of human 9dC-dA)n -(dG-dT)n polymorphisms. Genomics, 7, 524-530.

fortestion a cold munic efficient explain

heteroxygonity divis "dependent

Merradellie loci in the extern form of the

PERTANIKA J. TROP. AGRIC. SCI. VOL. 30 NO. 1, 2007

Pertanika

Our goal is to bring high quality research to the widest possible audience

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

(Manuscript Preparation & Submission Guidelines) Revised May 2007

We aim for excellence, sustained by a responsible and professional approach to journal publishing. We value and support our authors in the research community.

Please read the guidelines and follow these instructions carefully; doing so will ensure that the publication of your manuscript is as rapid and efficient as possible. The Editorial Board reserves the right to return manuscripts that are not prepared in accordance with these guidelines.

Guidelines for Authors

Publication policies

Pertanika policy prohibits an author from submitting the same manuscript for concurrent consideration by two or more publications. It prohibits as well publication of any manuscript that has already been published either in whole or substantial part elsewhere.

Editorial process

Authors are notified on receipt of a manuscript and upon the editorial decision regarding publication.

Manuscript review: Manuscripts deemed suitable for publication are sent to the Editorial Advisory Board members and/or other reviewers. We encourage authors to suggest the names of possible reviewers. Notification of the editorial decision is usually provided within to six weeks from the receipt of manuscript. Publication of solicited manuscripts is not guaranteed. In most cases, manuscripts are accepted conditionally, pending an author's revision of the material.

Author approval: Authors are responsible for all statements in articles, including changes made by editors. The liaison author must be available for consultation with an editor of The Journal to answer questions during the editorial process and to approve the edited copy. Authors receive edited typescript (not galley proofs) for final approval. Changes cannot be made to the copy after the edited version has been approved.

Please direct all inquiries, manuscripts, and related correspondence to:

Executive Editor Research Management Centre (RMC) 4th Floor, Administration Building Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor Malaysia Phone: + (603) 8946 6192 Fax: + (603) 8947 2075 ndeeps@admin.upm.edu.my

Manuscript preparation

Pertanika accepts submission of mainly four types of manuscripts. Each manuscript is classified as **regular** or **original** articles, **short communications**, **reviews**, and proposals for **special issues**. Articles must be in **English** and they must be competently written and argued in clear and concise grammatical English. Acceptable English usage and syntax are expected. Do not use slang, jargon, or obscure abbreviations or phrasing. Metric measurement is preferred; equivalent English measurement may be included in parentheses. Always provide the complete form of an acronym/abbreviation the first time it is presented in the text. Contributors are strongly recommended to have the manuscript checked by a colleague with ample experience in writing English measurement or an english language editor. Lingually hopeless manuscripts will be rejected straightaway (e.g., when the language is so poor that one cannot be sure of what the authors really mean). This process, taken by authors before submission, will greatly facilitate reviewing, and thus publication if the content is acceptable.

The instructions for authors must be followed. Manuscripts not adhering to the instructions will be returned for revision without review. Authors should prepare manuscripts according to the guidelines of Pertanika.

1. Regular article

Definition: Full-length original empirical investigations, consisting of introduction, materials and methods, results and discussion, conclusions. Original work must provide references and an explanation on research findings that contain new and significant findings.

Size: Should not exceed 5000 words or 8-10 printed pages (excluding the abstract, references, tables and/or figures). One printed page is roughly equivalent to 3 type-written pages.

2. Short communications

Definition: Significant new information to readers of the Journal in a short but complete form. It is suitable for the publication of technical advance, bioinformatics or insightful findings of science and engineering development and function.

Size: Should not exceed 2000 words or 4 printed pages, is intended for rapid publication. They are not intended for publishing preliminary results or to be a reduced version of Regular Papers or Rapid Papers.

3. Review article

Definition: Critical evaluation of materials about current research that had already been published by organizing, integrating, and evaluating previously published materials. Re-analyses as meta-analysis and systemic reviews are encouraged. Review articles should aim to provide systemic overviews, evaluations and interpretations of research in a given field.

Size: Should not exceed 4000 words or 7-8 printed pages.

4. Special issues

Definition: Usually papers from research presented at a conference, seminar, congress or a symposium.

Size: Should not exceed 5000 words or 8-10 printed pages.

5. Others

Definition: Brief reports, case studies, comments, Letters to the Editor, and replies on previously published articles may be considered.

Size: Should not exceed 2000 words or up to 4 printed pages.

With few exceptions, original manuscripts should not exceed the recommended length of 6 printed pages (about 18 typed pages, double-spaced and in 12-point font, tables and figures included). Printing is expensive, and, for the Journal, postage doubles when an issue exceeds 80 pages. You can understand then that there is little room for flexibility.

Long articles reduce the Journal's possibility to accept other high-quality contributions because of its 80-page restriction. We would like to publish as many good studies as possible, not only a few lengthy ones. (And, who reads overly long articles anyway?) Therefore, in our competition, short and concise manuscripts have a definite advantage.

Format

0

0

The paper should be formatted in one column format with the figures at the end. A maximum of eight keywords should be indicated below the abstract to describe the contents of the manuscript. Leave a blank line between each paragraph and between each entry in the list of bibliographic references. Tables should preferably be placed in the same electronic file as the text. Authors should consult a recent issue of the Journal for table layout. There is no need to spend time formatting your article so that the printout is visually attractive (e.g. by making headings bold or creating a page layout with figures), as most formatting instructions will be removed upon processing.

Manuscripts should be typewritten, typed on one side of the ISO A4 paper with at least 4cm margins and double spacing throughout. Every page of the manuscript, including the title page, references, tables, etc. should be numbered. However, no reference should be made to page numbers in the text; if necessary, one may refer to sections. Underline words that should be in italics, and do not underline any other words.

Authors are advised to use Times New Roman 12-point font. Be especially careful when you are inserting special characters, as those inserted in different fonts may be replaced by different characters when converted to PDF files. It is well known that 'µ' will be replaced by other characters when fonts such as 'Symbol' or 'Mincho' are used.

We recommend that authors prepare the text as a Microsoft Word file.

- 1. Manuscripts in general should be organised in the following order:
 - Page 1: Running title. Not to exceed 50 characters, counting letters and spaces.
 - Corresponding author. Street address, telephone number (including extension), fax number and e-mail address for editorial correspondence.

Subject areas. Most relevant to the study. Select one or two subject areas from (refer to Referral Form A-attachment).

Number of black and white figures, colour figures and tables. Figures submitted in color will be printed in colour at the authors' expense. See "6. Figures & Photographs" for details of cost.

- *Authors of Short Communications should state the total number of words (including the Abstract)
- O Page 2: Authors. Full names, institutions and addresses
 - Abbreviations. Define alphabetically, other than abbreviations that can be used without definition. Words or phrases that are abbreviated in the introduction and following text should be written out in full the first time that they appear in the text, with each abbreviated form in parenthesis.
 - Footnotes. Current addresses of authors if different from heading.

Page 3: Abstract. Less than 250 words for a Regular Paper, and up to 100 words for a Short Communication. For papers submitted to Pertanika Journal of Tropical Agricultural Science (JTAS) and Pertanika Journal of Science and Technology (JST), submissions should be made in English. Pertanika Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities (JSSH) accepts submissions in both English and Bahasa Melayu. However, if the paper is submitted in Bahasa Melayu, an abstract in English should be provided by the author submitting the paper. Keywords. Not more than eight in alphabetical order. Include the common name or scientific name, or both, of plant

materials, etc.

- O Page 4 and subsequent pages: Text Acknowledgments References Tables Legends to figures Figures.
- Authors' addresses. Multiple authors with different addresses must indicate their respective addresses separately by superscript numbers:

George Swan¹ and Nayan Kanwal²

¹Department of Biology, Faculty of Science, Duke University, Durham, North Carolina, USA.

- ²Research Management Centre, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia.
- 3. Text. Regular Papers should be prepared with the headings Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion, Conclusions in this order. Short Communications should be prepared according to "9. Short Communications." below.
- 4. Tables. All tables should be prepared in a form consistent with recent issues of Pertanika and should be numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. Explanatory material should be given in the table legends and footnotes. Each table should be prepared on a separate page. (Note that when a manuscript is accepted for publication, tables must be submitted as data .doc, .rtf, Excel or PowerPoint file- because tables submitted as image data cannot be edited for publication.)
- Equations and Formulae. These must be set up clearly and should be typed triple spaced. Numbers identifying equations should be in square brackets and placed on the right margin of the text.
- 6. Figures & Photographs. Submit an original figure or photograph. Line drawings must be clear, with high black and white contrast. Each figure or photograph should be prepared on a separate sheet and numbered consecutively with Arabic numerals. Appropriate sized numbers, letters and symbols should be used, no smaller than 2 mm in size after reduction to single column width (85 mm), 1.5-column width (120 mm) or full 2-column width (175 mm). Failure to comply with these specifications will require new figures and delay in publication. For electronic figures, create your figures using applications that are capable of

preparing high resolution TIFF files acceptable for publication. In general, we require 300 dpi or higher resolution for coloured and half-tone artwork and 1200 dpi or higher for line drawings. For review, you may attach low-resolution figures, which are still clear enough for reviewing, to keep the file of the manuscript under 5 MB. Illustrations will be produced at extra cost in colour at the discretion of the Publisher; the author will be charged Malaysian Ringgit 50 for each colour page.

 References. Literature citations in the text should be made by name(s) of author(s) and year. For references with more than two authors, the name of the first author followed by 'et al.' should be used.

Swan and Kanwal (2007) reported that ...

The results have been interpreted (Kanwal et al. 2006).

- O References should be listed in alphabetical order, by the authors' last names. For the same author, or for the same set of authors, references should be arranged chronologically. If there is more than one publication in the same year for the same author(s), the letters 'a', 'b', etc., should be added to the year.
- O When the authors are more than 11, list 5 authors and then et al.
- O Do not use indentations in typing References. Use one line of space to separate each reference. For example:
 - Jalaludin, S. (1997a). Metabolizable energy of some local feeding stuff. Tumbuh, 1, 21-24.
 - Jalaludin, S. (1997b). The use of different vegetable oil in chicken ration. Mal. Agriculturist, 11, 29-31.
 - Tan, S.G., Omar, M.Y., Mahani, K.W., Rahani, M., Selvaraj, O.S. (1994). Biochemical genetic studies on wild populations of three species of green leafhoppers *Nephotettix* from Peninsular Malaysia. *Biochemical Genetics*, 32, 415 - 422.
- O In case of citing an author(s) who has published more than one paper in the same year, the papers should be distinguished by addition of a small letter as shown above, e.g. Jalaludin (1997a); Jalaludin (1997b).
- O Unpublished data and personal communications should not be cited as literature citations, but given in the text in parentheses. 'In press' articles that have been accepted for publication may be cited in References. Include in the citation the journal in which the 'in press' article will appear and the publication date, if a date is available.

8. Examples of other reference citations:

Monographs: Turner, H.N. and Yong, S.S.Y. (2006). Quantitative Genetics in Sheep Breeding. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Chapter in Book: Kanwal, N.D.S. (1992). Role of plantation crops in Papua New Guinea economy. In Angela R. McLean (Eds.), Introduction of livestock in the Enga province PNG (p. 221-250). United Kingdom: Oxford Press.

Proceedings: Kanwal, N.D.S. (2001). Assessing the visual impact of degraded land management with landscape design software. In N.D.S. Kanwal and P. Lecoustre (Eds.), International forum for Urban Landscape Technologies (p. 117-127). Lullier, Geneva, Switzerland: CIRAD Press.

9. Short Communications should include Introduction, Materials and Methods, Results and Discussion, Conclusions in this order. Headings should only be inserted for Materials and Methods. The abstract should be up to 100 words, as stated above. Short Communications must be 5 printed pages or less, including all references, figures and tables. References should be less than 30. A 5 page paper is usually approximately 3000 words plus four figures or tables (if each figure or table is less than 1/4 page).

*Authors should state the total number of words (including the Abstract) in the cover letter. Manuscripts that do not fulfill these criteria will be rejected as Short Communications without review.

STYLE OF THE MANUSCRIPT

Manuscripts should follow the style of the latest version of the Publication Manual of the American Psychological Association (APA). The journal uses British spelling and authors should therefore follow the latest edition of the Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary.

SUBMISSION OF MANUSCRIPTS

All articles submitted to the journal must comply with these instructions. Failure to do so will result in return of the manuscript and possible delay in publication.

The original manuscript and one copy, four copies of photographic figures, as well as a disk with the electronic copy (including text and figures) and a declaration form and referral form A, together with a cover letter need to be enclosed. They are available from the Pertanika's home page or from the Executive Editor's office. Please do not submit manuscripts directly to the editor-in-chief or to the UPM Press. All manuscripts should be submitted through the executive editor's office to be properly acknowledged and rapidly processed:

Dr. Nayan Kanwal Executive Editor Research Management Centre (RMC) 4th Floor, Administration Building Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang, Selangor, Malaysia email: ndeeps@admin.upm.edu.my tel: +603-8946 6192 fax: +603 8947 2075.

Laser quality print is essential. Authors should retain copies of submitted manuscripts and correspondence, as materials can not be returned.

Cover letter

All submissions must be accompanied by a cover letter detailing what you are submitting. Papers are accepted for publication in the journal on the understanding that the article is original and the content has not been published or submitted for publication elsewhere. This must be stated in the cover letter.

The cover letter must also contain an acknowledgement that all authors have contributed significantly, and that all authors are in agreement with the content of the manuscript.

The cover letter of the paper should contain (i) the title; (ii) the full names of the authors; (iii) the addresses of the institutions at which the work was carried out together with (iv) the full postal and email address, plus facsimile and telephone numbers of the author to whom correspondence about the manuscript should be sent. The present address of any author, if different from that where the work was carried out, should be supplied in a footnote.

As articles are double-blind reviewed, material that might identify authorship of the paper should be placed on a cover sheet.

Note When your manuscript is received at Pertanika it is considered to be in its final form. Therefore, you need to check your manuscript carefully before submitting it to the executive editor (see also English language editing below).

Electronic copy

For preparation of manuscripts on disk, articles prepared using any one of the more popular word-processing packages are acceptable. Submissions should be made on a double-density or high-density 3.5" disk but a CD or DVD is preferable. The format, word-processor format, file name(s) and the title and authors of the article must be indicated on the disk/CD. The disk must always be accompanied by a hard-copy version of the article, and the content of the two must be identical. The disk text must be the same as that of the final refereed, revised manuscript. Disks formatted for IBM PC compatibles are preferred, though those formatted for Apple Macintosh are acceptable. The article must be saved in the native format of the word processor used, e.g. Microsoft Word (office version), etc. Although most popular word processor file formats are acceptable, we cannot guarantee the usability of all formats. If the electronic copy proves to be unusable, we will publish your article from the hard copy. Please do not send ASCII files, as relevant data may be lost. Leave a blank line between each paragraph and between each not be blower of table layout.

Peer review

In the peer-review process, three referees independently evaluate the scientific quality of the submitted manuscripts. The Journal uses a double-blind peerreview system. Authors are encouraged to indicate in referral form A the names of three potential reviewers, but the editors will make the final choice. The editors are not, however, bound by these suggestions.

Manuscripts should be written so that they are intelligible to the professional reader who is not a specialist in the particular field. They should be written in a clear, concise, direct style. Where contributions are judged as acceptable for publication on the basis of content, the Editor or the Publisher reserves the right to modify the typescripts to eliminate ambiguity and repetition and improve communication between author and reader. If extensive alterations are required, the manuscript will be returned to the author for revision.

The editorial review process

What happens to a manuscript once it is submitted to Pertanika? Typically, there are seven steps to the editorial review process:

- The executive editor and the editorial board examine the paper to determine whether it is appropriate for the journal and should be reviewed. If not
 appropriate, the manuscript is rejected outright.
- 2. The executive editor sends the article-identifying information having been removed to three, reviewers. Typically, one of these is from the Journal's editorial board. Others are specialists in the subject matter represented by the article. The executive editor asks them to complete the review in three weeks and encloses two forms: (a) referral form B and (b) reviewer's comment form. Comments to authors are about the appropriateness and adequacy of the theoretical or conceptual framework, literature review, method, results and discussion, and conclusions. Reviewers often include suggestions for strengthening of the manuscript. Comments to the editor are in the nature of the significance of the work and its potential contribution to the literature.
- 3. The executive editor, in consultation with the editor-in-chief, examines the reviews and decides whether to reject the manuscript, invite the author(s) to revise and resubmit the manuscript, or seek additional reviews. Final acceptance or rejection rests with the Editorial Board, who reserves the right to refuse any material for publication. In rare instances, the manuscript is accepted with almost no revision. Almost without exception, reviewers' comments (to the author) are forwarded to the author. If a revision is indicated, the editor provides guidelines for attending to the reviewers' suggestions and perhaps additional advice about revising the manuscript.
- 4. The authors decide whether and how to address the reviewers' comments and criticisms and the editor's concerns. The authors submit a revised version of the paper to the executive editor along with specific information describing how they have answered' the concerns of the reviewers and the editor.
- 5. The executive editor sends the revised paper out for review. Typically, at least one of the original reviewers will be asked to examine the article.
- When the reviewers have completed their work, the executive editor and the editor-in-chief examine their comments and decide whether the paper is ready to be published, needs another round of revisions, or should be rejected.
- 7. If the decision is to accept, the paper is in press and the article should appear in print in approximately three to four months. The Publisher ensures that the paper adheres to the correct style (in-text citations, the reference list, and tables are typical areas of concern, clarity, and grammar). The authors are asked to respond to any queries by the Publisher. Following these corrections, page proofs are mailed to the corresponding authors for their final approval. At this point, only essential changes are accepted. Finally, the article appears in the pages of the Journal and is posted on-line.

English language editing

Authors are responsible for the linguistic accuracy of their manuscripts. Authors not fully conversant with the English language should seek advice from subject specialists with a sound knowledge of English. The cost will be borne by the author, and a copy of the certificate issued by the service should be attached to the cover letter.

Author material archive policy

Authors who require the return of any submitted material that is rejected for publication in the journal should indicate on the cover letter. If no indication is given, that author's material should be returned, the Editorial Office will dispose of all hardcopy and electronic material.

Copyright

Authors publishing the Journal will be asked to sign a declaration form. In signing the form, it is assumed that authors have obtained permission to use any copyrighted or previously published material. All authors must read and agree to the conditions outlined in the form, and must sign the form or agree that the corresponding author can sign on their behalf. Articles cannot be published until a signed form has been received.

Lag time

The elapsed time from submission to publication for the articles averages 6-8 months. A decision of acceptance of a manuscript is reached in 1 to 3 months (average 7 weeks).

Back issues

Single issues from current and recent volumes are available at the current single issue price from UPM Press. Earlier issues may also be obtained from UPM Press at a special discounted price. Please contact UPM Press at penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my or you may write for further details at the following address:

UPM Press Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM, Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Malaysia.

Pertanika Journal of TROPICAL AGRICULTURAL SCIENCE VOLUME 30 NO. 1 • FEBRUARY 2007

Contents

The Distribution of the Heavy Metals (Cu, Pb and Zn) in the Soft and Hard Tissues of the Green-Lipped Mussel <i>Perna viridis</i> (Linnaeus) Collected from Pasir Panjang, Peninsular Malaysia - <i>Yap</i> , <i>C.K.</i> , <i>Ismail</i> , <i>A.</i> , <i>Tan</i> , <i>S.G. and Rahim Ismail</i> , <i>A</i> .	1
Ectoparasites of <i>Rattus</i> sp from Petaling Jaya, Selangor, Malaysia - Hafidzi M.N., Zakry F.A.Z. and Saadiah A.	11
Multiple Satellite Detection of Hotspots in Peninsular Malaysia during February and March of 2002 - Mastura Mahmud	17
Preliminary Analysis of Quantitative Trait Loci Associated with Oil Quality in an Interspecific Cross of Oil Palm - Rajinder Singh, Tan Soon Guan, Jothi Panandam, Mukesh Sharma and Cheah Suan Choo	31
Influence of Wet and Dry Seasons on the Breeding of Barn Owl and Its Relation to Rat Damage - <i>Hafidzi M.N., M. Na'im and Akbar, Z.</i>	45
Leaf Area Index Model for Oil Palm FFB Yield Prediction - W.I. Wan Ishak and M.A. Awal	51
Trichoderma-induced Suppressive Soil for the Control of Fusarium Wilt of Tomato - Rozlianah, F.S., Sariah, M. and Sijam, K.	57
Flexural Properties of Laminated Veneer Lumber Manufactured from Oil Palm Veneers - H'ng Paik San, Paridah Md. Tahir and Gan Cheng Wen	65
A Population Genetics Study on the Malaysian Wild Stocks, M. rosenbergii Using Cross Amplified Microsatellite Primers - L.M. See,	71



Research Management Centre (RMC)UPM Press4th Floor, Administration BuildingUniversiti PutUniversiti Putra Malaysia43400 UPM Serdang43400 UPM SerdangSelangor Dar

http://www.rmc.upm.edu.my E-mail : <u>pertanikat@rmc.upm.edu.my</u> Tel : +603 8946 6185/ 6192 Fax : +603 8947 2075 UPM Press Universiti Putra Malaysia 43400 UPM Serdang Selangor Darul Ehsan Malaysia

http://penerbit.upm.edu.my E-mail : <u>penerbit@putra.upm.edu.my</u> Tel : +603 8946 8855/8854 Fax : +603 8941 6172

